# THE FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

### ARTIN AND DEHN TWIST SUBGROUPS OF THE MAPPING CLASS GROUP

By

JAMIL MORTADA

A Dissertation submitted to the Department of Mathematics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Degree Awarded: Spring Semester, 2011

The members of the committee approve the dissertation of JAMIL MORTADA defended on March 28, 2011.

> Sergio Fenley Professor Directing Dissertation

Eriko Hironaka Professor Co-Directing Dissertation

Jorge Piekarewicz University Representative

Philip Bowers Committee Member

Wolfgang Heil Committee Member

Eric Klassen Committee Member

Approved:

Philip Bowers, Chair, Department of Mathematics

Joseph Travis, Dean, College of Arts and Sciences

The Graduate School has verified and approved the above-named committee members.

To my parents

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my advisor Sergio Fenley. His patience and guidance over the course of many months have been invaluable to me. I have learned a lot from him and have enjoyed our mathematical discussions immensely.

My co-advisor Eriko Hironaka has been wonderful to me over the last few years. I am greatly indebted to her. She has been very influential over the course of my graduate career. I would like to thank her for being so gracious. Her many insights and sound advice have helped me a lot.

I am greatly indebted to professor Wolfgang Heil. His passion and enthusiasm about topology have inspired me to pursue the subject. I am thankful to him for being so kind and welcoming. I am also grateful for his topological insight which has been instrumental in this dissertation.

I would like thank professor Eric Klassen for his outstanding help during my advisor's absence. It has been a pleasure discussing mathematics with him, and I am grateful for every opportunity.

Professor Philip Bowers has been very approachable and understanding. Along with Dr Klassen, and my colleagues Aaron Valdivia and Kyle Armstrong, I would like to thank him for sitting in on my Artin groups seminar.

Professor Dan Margalit has been an inspiration to me. He has been very generous with his time and resources. I am greatly indebted to him. I would like to thank professors Derek Holt, Chris Leininger, Luis Paris, and Richard Kent IV for taking the time to read and respond to my emails. I am also grateful to my undergraduate research advisor David T. Gay for the opportunity to work with him. It has been a wonderful experience. I would also like thank my colleagues Ahmet Emin Tatar, Ivo Calderin, Yongjae Cha, Aaron Valdivia, and Kyle Armstrong for their assistance with LATEX.

I am hugely indebted to my family and friends for their love and support. I am especially grateful to my amazing parents Wael and Sana who have sacrificed a lot for me, and to my sister Maha as well as my brothers Jad and Maher for being such amazing siblings.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Li	st of I	Figures	vii
Ał	ostrac	t	viii
1	Maj	pping Class Groups	1
	1.1	Definition	1
	1.2	Simple closed curves and intersection numbers	2
	1.3	Dehn twists and their properties	3
	1.4	Alexander's trick and Dehn twist relations	8
	1.5	Geometric subgroups of $Mod(S)$	11
	1.6	The center of $Mod(S)$	13
<b>2</b>	Bra	id groups	<b>14</b>
	2.1	The classical braid groups $\mathcal{B}_n$	14
	2.2	The center of $\mathcal{B}_n$	16
	2.3	Annular braid groups	17
3	Art	in Groups	<b>22</b>
	3.1	Artin monoids and Artin groups	22
	3.2	LCM-Homomorphisms and foldings	25
	3.3	LCM-homomorphisms from foldings	27
	3.4	Examples of LCM-homomorphisms induced from foldings	30
4	Sur	faces associated with Coxeter graphs and embedded graphs	38
	4.1	Chord diagrams, curve graphs, and embedded graphs	38

	4.2	Surfaces determined by chord diagrams corresponding to $A_n$ and $D_n$	40
	4.3	Surface associated with $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$	45
5	Em	bedding Artin groups into $Mod(S)$	55
	5.1	Geometric homomorphisms	55
	5.2	Least common multiple lemma	56
	5.3	Embedding $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$ into $Mod(S)$	57
	5.4	Embedding $\mathcal{A}(H_3)$ into $Mod(S)$	60
	5.5	$\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ as a subgroup of $Mod(S)$	61
6	Art	in relations in $Mod(S)$	74
	6.1	Artin relations of even length	74
	6.2	Artin relations of odd length	80
	6.3	Artin relations from foldings	89
7	Sub	for groups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists	93
7	<b>Sub</b> 7.1	ogroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<b>93</b> 93
7	<b>Sub</b> 7.1 7.2	Operates       Operates         Introduction       Introduction         Subgroups of Mod(S) generated by two Dehn twists       Introduction	<b>93</b> 93 95
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3	ogroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<b>93</b> 93 95 96
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ogroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<b>93</b> 93 95 96 98
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	ogroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> </ul>
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	ogroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> <li>100</li> </ul>
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7	bgroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> <li>100</li> <li>102</li> </ul>
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8	bgroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> <li>100</li> <li>102</li> <li>108</li> </ul>
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8	Ogroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twistsIntroductionSubgroups of Mod(S) generated by two Dehn twistsThe case $(0,0,0)$ The case $(1,0,0)$ The case $(1,0,0)$ The case $(2,0,0)$ The case $(1,0,1)$ The case $(1,1,1)$ The case $(2,1,0)$ The case $(2,1,0)$	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> <li>100</li> <li>102</li> <li>108</li> <li>108</li> </ul>
7	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8	Degroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists         Introduction	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> <li>100</li> <li>102</li> <li>108</li> <li>108</li> <li>111</li> </ul>
<b>7</b> Bi	Sub 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8	<b>Degroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists</b> Introduction         Subgroups of Mod(S) generated by two Dehn twists         The case (0,0,0)         The case (1,0,0)         The case (2,0,0)         The case (1,0,1)         The case (1,0,1)         The case (1,1,1)         The case (2,1,0)         7.8.1       (2±2,1,0)         7.8.2       (2_0,1,0)	<ul> <li>93</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> <li>98</li> <li>99</li> <li>100</li> <li>102</li> <li>108</li> <li>101</li> <li>111</li> <li>118</li> </ul>

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	The effect of $T: A \to A$ on the arc $a$	3
1.2	The effect of the (left) Dehn twist $T_a$ on the simple closed curve $b$	4
1.3	According to the lantern relation, $T_x T_y T_z \stackrel{(*)}{=} T_{b_1} T_{b_2} T_{b_3} T_{b_4}$ in $Mod(S_{0,4})$ . $S_{0,4}$ is homeomorphic to $\mathbb{D}_{0,3}$ , the closed disk with three boundaries. The middle picture shows $x, y, z$ , and $b_i, i = 1, 2, 3, 4$ in $\mathbb{D}_{0,3}$ . Since the arcs $c_1, c_2$ , and $c_3$ cut $\mathbb{D}_{0,3}$ into a disk, it suffices (by Alexander's trick) to show that (*) holds on these arcs in order	
	to prove theorem 1.4.3	9
1.4	The curves $a_1, \dots, a_n$ form an <i>n</i> -chain	10
1.5	N is a cylinder exterior to $F$	12
2.1	A geometric braid on 3 strands	15
2.2	$\gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i$ when $ i - j  \ge 2$ (left) and $\gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i = \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1}$ (right)	15
2.3	The geometric 4-braid $(\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3)^4$ , which generates $Z(\mathcal{B}_4)$	16
2.4	This picture illustrates the generators $\sigma_i$ (left) and $\tau$ (right) of the annular braid group $CB_n$ . In $CB_n$ , the defining relations are $\sigma_i\sigma_{i+1}\sigma_i = \sigma_{i+1}\sigma_i\sigma_{i+1}$ modulo $n$ , $i = 0, \dots, n-1, [\sigma_i, \sigma_j] = 1$ for $ i - j  \neq 1, n-1$ , and $\tau \sigma_i \tau^{-1} = \sigma_{i+1}$ modulo $n$ .	18
2.5	The generator $a_i$ of $D_{n+1}$ . As seen in the picture, the braid $a_i$ starts at the first position, goes behind strands 2 through $i - 1$ , crosses over then under strand $i$ , and	

2.6	Mapping $a_i \in D_{n+1}$ to $\Phi(a_i) \in CB_n$ .	21
4.1	Surface defined by a chord diagram	39
4.2	The cases $n = 2, 3$ . $ \partial S_{A_2}  = 1$ and $ \partial S_{A_3}  = 2$ . Distinct boundary components are shown in different colors.	41
4.3	Constructing $S_{A_{n+1}}$ from $S_{A_n}$ by attaching a band	42
4.4	Constructing $S_{A_{n+2}}$ from $S_{A_{n+1}}$ by attaching a band	42
4.5	$S_{A_n}$ deformation retracts onto its embedded graph. As such, their Euler characteristics are equal.	43
4.6	Constructing $S_{D_n}$ from $S_{A_{n-1}}$ by attaching a band	43
4.7	Constructing $S_{D_{n+1}}$ from $S_{D_n}$ by attaching a band	44
4.8	The annuli $A_{s_{i-1}}$ and $A_{s_{i+1}}$ are glued to the annulus $A_{s_i}$ at disjoint squares	46
4.9	This picture illustrates the edges of $\mathcal{EG}$ around the vertex $v_i$ when $v_i$ has index +1 (left) and -1 (right). It also shows how to label the boundary segments around the simple closed curves $a_i$ and $a_{i+1}$ . Moreover, the proof of lemma 4.3.2 can be read out from this figure.	47
4.10	Collections of Type I and Type II	49
5.1	This picture illustrates theorem 5.3.1 when $n = 4$ . By theorem 4.2.1, $S_{A_7}$ is homeo- morphic to $S_{3,2}$ . The subgroup of $Mod(S_{3,2})$ generated by $T'_1T''_1$ , $T'_2T''_2$ , $T_1T_3$ and $T_2$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{A}(B_4)$ .	58
5.2	This picture illustrates theorem 5.3.2 when $n = 4$ . By theorem 4.2.2, $S_{D_5}$ is home- omorphic to $S_{2,2}$ . The subgroup of $Mod(S_{2,2})$ generated by $T'_1$ , $T'_2$ , $T_2$ , and $T_1T_3$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{A}(B_4)$ .	59

5.3	This picture illustrates theorem 5.4.1. By theorem 4.2.2, $S_{D_6}$ has topological type	
	$S_{2,3}$ . The subgroup of $Mod(S_{2,3})$ generated by $T_1T_3$ , $T_2T_4$ , and $T_5T_6$ is isomorphic to	
	$\mathcal{A}(H_3)$	60
5.4	$a_j$ is a generator of $D_{n+1}$ . In terms of the standard generators of $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ , $a_j$	
	$\gamma_1^{-1}\gamma_2^{-1}\cdots\gamma_{j-2}^{-1}\gamma_{j-1}^2\gamma_{j-1}^2\gamma_{j-2}\cdots\gamma_2\gamma_1.$	62
5.5	The homeomorphism $f: \partial N_a \to \partial N'_a$ maps matching segments to matching segments	
	and intersecting segments to intersecting segments. This allows us to extend $f$ to a	
	homeomorphism $\tilde{f}$ on a regular neighborhood of $\partial N_a$	65
5.6	$N_a$ is of type I	69
5.7	$N_a'$ is of type II	70
5.8	The collection $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$ $(n \text{ odd})$ has curve graph $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . The $a_i$ are shown in	
	the surface $N_a$ which is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ .	
	According to theorem 5.5.4, the subgroup $G$ of $Mod(N_a)$ generated by the Dehn twists	
	$T_i$ along $a_i$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .	72
5.9	The collection $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$ ( <i>n</i> even) has curve graph $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . The $a_i$ are shown in	
	the surface which is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ . By	
	theorem 5.5.4, $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .	73
6.1	The curves $a_0, \dots, a_k$ form a chain of length $k + 1$ . If $x = T_0$ and $y = T_1 \dots T_k$ , then	
	prod(x, y; 2k + 4) = prod(y, x; 2k + 4).	75
6.2	The curves $a_1, \dots, a_k, b_1, \dots, b_k$ form a chain of length $2k, k \ge 1$ . If $x =$	
	$A_1 \cdots A_k$ and $y = B_1 \cdots B_k$ , then $prod(x, y; 2k + 1) = prod(y, x; 2k + 1)$	81
6.3	If $x = T_1T_3T_4$ and $y = T_2$ , it follows from theorem 6.3.2 that $(xy)^3 = (yx)^3$ in	
	$Mod(S_{1,3})$ . By capping off the two boundary components, one gets the relation	
	$(T_1^3 T_2)^3 = (T_2 T_1^3)^3$ in $Mod(S_{1,1})$ .	91

7.1	Capping off $\partial S_{1,2}$ with disks or with an exterior cylinder	101
7.2	The simple closed curves $a_i$ , $i = 1, 2, 3$ satisfy the intersection triple $(1, 1, 1)$ in $\tilde{S}$ . The surface $\tilde{S}$ , which is a closed regular neighborhood of $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ is homeomorphic to $S_{1,3}$ . Note that we numbered the boundary components to keep track of which one we cap off when studying the homomorphism $i_* : Mod(\tilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$ . It is easy to check that 3 is the distinguished boundary.	104
7.3	The surfaces obtained from $\tilde{S}$ by capping off one, two and three boundary components with disks. The red curves in (a), (b), and (c) are denoted by $a_4$ . They are introduced in each case to determine the structure of $G$ .	105
7.4	The surface $N_{\epsilon}$ formed by a closed regular neighborhood of $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ , where the $a_i$ satisfy $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$ .	109
7.5	The positions of $a_1, a_2$ , and $a_3$ in $N_{\epsilon}$	110
7.6	The curves $a_2, a_3, a_4$ , and $a_5$ form a chain in $N_{\epsilon}$ .	111
7.7	$N_\epsilon$ is a closed regular neighborhood of $a_1\cup a_2\cup a_3,$ where the $a_i$ satisfy $(2_0,1,0).$	112
7.8	This picture depicts the surface $N_{\epsilon}$ which is a closed regular neighborhood of $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$	3.113

## ABSTRACT

This dissertation investigates two types of subgroups in the mapping class group of an orientable surface. The first type of subgroups are isomorphic images of Artin groups. The second type of subgroups is one which is generated by three Dehn twists along simple closed curves with small geometric intersections.

Let S be a compact orientable surface. The mapping class group, Mod(S), of S is the group of isotopy classes of orientation preserving homeomorphisms of S fixing the boundary pointwise. Mod(S) is a very rich and complex object. In this dissertation, we make progress toward understanding the structure of the above mentioned subgroups of Mod(S).

We tackle three problems. The first problem focuses on finding embeddings of Artin groups into Mod(S). The second problem involves finding Artin relations of every length in Mod(S). And the third problem deals with understanding subgroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists along curves with small geometric intersections.

While it is easy to find nontrivial homomorphisms of Artin groups into Mod(S), the question of whether such homomorphisms are injective is quite hard. In this dissertation, we find embeddings of the Artin groups  $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$ ,  $\mathcal{A}(H_3)$ ,  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(n))$ , and most notably  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ into Mod(S). Further, we prove that if a collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  of simple closed curves in S has curve graph (see definition 4.1.2)  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$  and  $N_{\epsilon}$  is a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ , then the subgroup of  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$  generated by the (left) Dehn twists  $T_i$  along  $a_i$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  almost all the time.

In the second problem, we study Artin relations in the mapping class group. If  $l \ge 2$  is an integer, then a and b satisfy the Artin relation of length l if  $aba \cdots = bab \cdots$ , where

each side of the equality has l terms. We give explicit elements of Mod(S) satisfying Artin relations of every integer length  $l \geq 2$ . By direct computations, we find elements x and yin Mod(S) satisfying Artin relations of every even length  $\geq 8$  and every odd length  $\geq 3$ . Then using the theory of Artin groups, we give two methods for finding Artin relations in Mod(S). The first yields Artin relations of every length  $\geq 3$ , while the second provides Artin relations of every even length  $\geq 6$ . In the last two cases, we also show that x and ygenerate the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(l))$ , where l is the length of the Artin relation satisfied by xand y.

The third problem is concerned with understanding subgroups in Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists along curves with small geometric intersections. Let  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  be distinct isotopy classes of essential simple closed curves in an orientable surface S. Assume that  $i(a_j, a_k) \in \{0, 1, 2\}$  for all j, k. Denote by  $T_i$  the (left) Dehn twist along  $a_i$ , and let G represent the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ . Set  $(x_{12}, x_{13}, x_{23}) =$  $(i(a_1, a_2), i(a_1, a_3), i(a_2, a_3))$ . We find explicit presentations for G when  $(x_{12}, x_{13}, x_{23}) =$ (0, 0, 0), (1, 0, 0), (2, 0, 0), (1, 0, 1), and (1, 1, 1). For the triple (2, 1, 0), there are two cases to consider (see subsections 7.8.1 and 7.8.2). In both cases, we are not able to find an explicit presentation for G. Nevertheless, we prove that G is a subgroup of some Artin group  $\mathcal{A}$ . Moreover, using the computer algebra software Magma, we show that G is finitely presented and is isomorphic to a subgroup of infinite index in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Although we have obtained similar partial results for the triples (2, 2, 0), (2, 1, 0), (2, 1, 1), (2, 2, 0), and (2, 2, 2), we do not include them in this dissertation.

While the three problems discussed above are seemingly disconnected, they are in fact intimately related. They reflect a beautiful interplay between Artin groups and mapping class groups.

### CHAPTER 1

# MAPPING CLASS GROUPS

#### 1.1 Definition

Throughout this dissertation, we assume that  $S = S_{g,b}$  is a connected, compact, orientable surface with genus  $0 \le g < \infty$  and  $0 \le b < \infty$  boundary components. On rare occasions, we will also assume that the surface has p punctures or marked points in its interior. In these cases,  $S = S_{g,b,p}$ . Unless explicitly stated, all surfaces will be assumed without punctures.

Denote by  $Homeo^+(S)$  the group of orientation preserving homeomorphisms of S which are the identity on the boundary  $\partial S$ . Let  $Homeo_0(S)$  be the subgroup of  $Homeo^+(S)$ consisting of all homeomorphisms which are isotopic to the identity, relative to  $\partial S$ . Clearly,  $Homeo_0(S)$  is a normal subgroup of  $Homeo^+(S)$ .

**Definition 1.1.1.** The mapping class group of S, denoted by Mod(S), is defined to be the group of isotopy classes of orientation preserving homeomorphisms of S which fix the boundary pointwise. In other words, Mod(S) is the group of orientation preserving homeomorphisms of S which are the identity on  $\partial S$  modulo homeomorphisms which are isotopic to the identity by an isotopy which fixes  $\partial S$  pointwise. If S has punctures, then we also stipulate that the homeomorphisms preserve the puncture set, and are taken modulo isotopies leaving the puncture set invariant.

$$Mod(S) = Homeo^+(S)/Homeo_0(S)$$

It should be noted that the mapping class group of S has other equivalent definitions. For example, one may define Mod(S) to be the group of isotopy classes of orientation preserving diffeomorphisms of S which fix the boundary pointwise. Alternatively, one may replace isotopies with homotopies in the definitions above. For more information about this, see theorems 1.9 and 1.10 in [10]. In this dissertation, we will stick to definition 1.1.1 for Mod(S) once and for all.

#### **1.2** Simple closed curves and intersection numbers

Let a be a simple closed curve in an orientable surface S. a is said to be **essential** if it is not nullhomotopic. That is, a cannot be isotoped to a point. Moreover, a is said to be **peripheral** if it is isotopic to a connected component of  $\partial S$ .

Let  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  be simple closed curves in S, and denote their isotopy classes by a and b respectively. The **geometric intersection number** of a and b, denoted by i(a, b), is defined to be the minimal number of intersection points between the representatives of a and b. That is,

$$i(a,b) = min|\alpha' \cap \beta'|$$

where  $\alpha \sim \alpha'$  (ie  $\alpha$  is isotopic to  $\alpha'$ ) and  $\beta \sim \beta'$ .

**Definition 1.2.1.** A collection  $C = \{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  of pairwise nonisotopic simple closed curves in S is said to intersect efficiently if no two elements in C cobound a bigon and no three elements have a common point of intersection. That is,  $i(a_j, a_k) = |a_j \cap a_k|$  for all j, k and  $a_j \cap a_k \cap a_l = \emptyset$  for distinct j, k, l.

Let S be an oriented surface. If we orient the curves  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , another type of intersection can be defined. The **algebraic intersection number** of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , denoted by  $\hat{i}(\alpha, \beta)$ , is defined to be the sum of indices of the intersection points  $\alpha \cap \beta$ , where an intersection point has index +1 if the orientation of  $\alpha$  followed by the orientation of  $\beta$  agrees with the orientation of S, and -1 otherwise.

### 1.3 Dehn twists and their properties

Consider the annulus A in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  parametrized by  $\{(r,\theta): 1\leq r\leq 2\}.$  Define the map  $T:A\to A$  by

$$T(r,\theta) = (r,\theta + 2\pi r)$$

Clearly, T is a homeomorphism. As a matter of fact, T is a diffeomorphism. Since its Jacobian  $\mathcal{J}(r,\theta)$  equals 1, T is orientation preserving. Moreover, it is easy to see that T fixes the boundary  $\partial A$  pointwise. See figure 1.1 for the effect of T on a properly embedded arc.



Figure 1.1: The effect of  $T: A \to A$  on the arc a.

**Definition 1.3.1.** Let  $\alpha$  be a simple closed curve in an orientable surface S. Let N be a regular neighborhood of  $\alpha$ . If  $e : A \to S$  is an orientation preserving embedding with  $e(\mathring{A}) = N$  (there are two such embeddings up to isotopy fixing the boundary  $\partial \overline{N}$ ), then the **Dehn twist along**  $\alpha$  is given by the self homeomorphism  $T_{\alpha}$  of S defined as follows:

$$T_{\alpha} = \begin{cases} 1 & on \ S \ \backslash N, \\ eTe^{-1} & on \ N. \end{cases}$$

It is not hard to check that definition 1.3.1 is independent of the choice of embedding. Also, it should be noted that, in the definition, the homeomorphism  $T_{\alpha}$  depends on the choices of  $\alpha$  and N, whereas the isotopy class of  $T_{\alpha}$  is independent of those choices. The



Figure 1.2: The effect of the (left) Dehn twist  $T_a$  on the simple closed curve b.

isotopy class of  $T_\alpha$  depends only on the isotopy class of  $\alpha.$ 

We remark that one could define  $T : A \to A$  by  $T(r, \theta) = (r, \theta - 2\pi r)$ . This definition gives rise to a right Dehn twist, as opposed to the left Dehn twist when  $T(r, \theta) = (r, \theta + 2\pi r)$ .

Intuitively, the effect of a left Dehn twist can be interpreted as follows. If an arc or curve  $\beta$  intersects a simple closed curve  $\alpha$  transversally, then the Dehn twist  $T_{\alpha}$  affects  $\beta$  by causing it to turn left (with respect to the orientation of the surface) as it approaches  $\alpha$ , turn once around  $\alpha$ , then follow  $\beta$  as before.

**Notation.** Let  $\alpha$  be a simple closed curve in S. Throughout this dissertation, we shall abuse notation and refer to the isotopy class  $[\alpha]$  simply by  $\alpha$ . If  $c = [\alpha]$ , we will also abuse notation and denote the mapping class  $T_c$  by  $T_{\alpha}$ .

Fact 1.3.2. Suppose that a and b are isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S. Then  $T_a = T_b \Leftrightarrow a = b.$ 

Fact 1.3.3. Let  $f \in Mod(S)$  and let a be an isotopy class of simple closed curves in S. Then  $fT_af^{-1} = T_{f(a)}$ .

**Fact 1.3.4.** Suppose  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If a, b, and c are distinct isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S, then

$$\left|i(T_a^k(b),c) - |k|i(a,b)i(a,c)\right| \le i(b,c)$$

**Fact 1.3.5.** If  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and a and b are isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S, then

$$i(T_a^k(b), b) = |k|i(a, b)^2$$

**Fact 1.3.6.** If  $T_a$  is a Dehn twist in Mod(S), then  $T_a$  has infinite order.

*Proof.* The proof follows from fact 1.3.5 and lemma 7.3.2. Alternatively, fact 1.3.6 is an easy consequence of theorem 7.3.3.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 1.3.7.** Suppose that a and b are isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S. Then  $T_aT_b = T_bT_a \Leftrightarrow i(a,b) = 0$ . The left hand side of this equivalence is called the commutativity or disjointness relation.

*Proof.* If  $T_a T_b = T_b T_a$ , then  $T_a T_b T_a^{-1} = T_b$ . By fact 1.3.3, this is equivalent to  $T_{T_a(b)} = T_b$ . By fact 1.3.2,  $T_a(b) = b$ . But this means that  $i(T_a(b), b) = 0$ . Moreover,  $i(T_a(b), b) = i(a, b)^2$  by fact 1.3.5. Hence  $i(a, b)^2 = 0$  and consequently i(a, b) = 0.

Conversely, if i(a, b) = 0, then the support of  $T_a$  may be chosen to be disjoint from b so that  $T_a(b) = b$ . Thus,

$$T_a T_b = T_a T_b T_a^{-1} T_a = T_{T_a(b)} T_a = T_b T_a$$

where the second equality is due to fact 1.3.3.

**Proposition 1.3.8.** Suppose that a and b are distinct isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S. Then  $T_aT_bT_a = T_bT_aT_b \Leftrightarrow i(a,b) = 1$ . The left hand side of this equivalence is called the braid relation.

Proof. The relation  $T_a T_b T_a \stackrel{(1)}{=} T_b T_a T_b$  implies  $T_a T_b T_a T_b^{-1} T_a^{-1} = T_b$ . By fact 1.3.3, this is equivalent to  $T_{T_a T_b(a)} = T_b$ . By fact 1.3.2,  $T_a T_b(a) = b$ , and so  $i(a,b) = i(a, T_a T_b(a))$ . Applying  $T_a^{-1}$  to a and  $T_a T_b(a)$ , we see that  $i(a, T_a T_b(a)) = i(a, T_b(a)) = i(a, b)^2$  where the last equality is due to fact 1.3.5. Hence,  $i(a, b)^2 = i(a, b)$  and so i(a, b) = 0 or 1. If i(a, b) = 0, proposition 1.3.7 implies that  $T_a T_b \stackrel{(2)}{=} T_b T_a$ . But (1) and (2) imply  $T_a = T_b$ . By fact 1.3.2, a = b, which contradicts the assumption that a and b are distinct. Therefore, i(a, b) = 1.

Conversely, i(a, b) = 1 implies that  $T_a T_b(a) = b$ . One can verify this by drawing pictures. Hence,

$$T_{a}T_{b}T_{a} = T_{a}T_{b}T_{a}T_{b}^{-1}T_{a}^{-1}T_{a}T_{b} = T_{T_{a}T_{b}(a)}T_{a}T_{b} = T_{b}T_{a}T_{a}$$

**Proposition 1.3.9.** Let a and b represent isotopy classes of essential simple closed curves in S, and denote by  $T_a$  and  $T_b$  their respective Dehn twists in Mod(S). If  $T_a^p = T_b^q$  for some  $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $p \neq 0$ , then a = b.

*Proof.* Assume that  $a \neq b$ . If i(a, b) > 0, then

$$0 = i(b,b) = i(T_{b}^{q}(b),b) = i(T_{a}^{p}(b),b) = |p|i(a,b)^{2}$$

where the last equality is due to fact 1.3.5. This gives p = 0, which is a contradiction. So i(a,b) = 0.

If i(a, b) = 0 and a is non-peripheral, then lemma 7.3.2 furnishes an isotopy class c such that i(a, c) > 0 and i(b, c) = 0. Then

$$0 = i(c,c) = i(T_h^q(c),c) = i(T_a^p(c),c) = |p|i(a,c)^2$$

implies that p = 0, which is a contradiction.

Finally, suppose that i(a, b) = 0 and a is peripheral. Let  $\hat{S}$  be the closed surface obtained from S by attaching an  $S_{1,1}$  to each connected component of  $\partial S$ . The natural homomorphism  $i_* : Mod(S) \to Mod(\hat{S})$  which extends by the identity on  $\hat{S} \setminus S$  is welldefined. As such,  $T_a^p = T_b^q$  in  $Mod(\hat{S})$ . Moreover, a and b are still essential in  $\hat{S}$ , and lemma 7.3.1 implies that  $a \neq b$  in  $\hat{S}$ . By lemma 7.3.2, there exists an isotopy class c in  $\hat{S}$ such that i(a, c) > 0 and i(b, c) = 0. As shown above, this implies that p = 0, which is a contradiction. So a = b in  $\hat{S}$ . By lemma 7.3.1, a = b in S.

**Corollary 1.3.10.** If  $a \neq b$  and  $T_a^p = T_b^q$  for some  $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then p = q = 0.

*Proof.* Proposition 1.3.9 implies p = 0, and so  $1 = T_b^q$ . Now, fact 1.3.6 implies q = 0.

**Theorem 1.3.11** (Ishida.). If  $i(a, b) \ge 2$ , then there is no relation between  $T_a$  and  $T_b$ . That is,  $T_a$  and  $T_b$  generate a free group of rank two.

**Lemma 1.3.12.** If  $i(a,b) \ge 2$ , then  $i(a,c) > i(b,c) \Rightarrow i(a,T_a^n(c)) < i(b,T_a^n(c))$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}.$ 

Proof. By fact 1.3.4, it follows that

$$\begin{split} i(b,T_{a}^{n}(c)) &\geq & |n|i(a,b)i(a,c) - i(b,c) \\ &> & 2i(a,c) - i(a,c) \\ &= & i(a,c) \\ &= & i(a,T_{a}^{n}(c)) \end{split}$$

•	_	-	_	

Proof of Theorem 1.3.11. If  $w \in \langle T_a, T_b \rangle$ , then  $w = T_b^{m_k} T_a^{n_k} \cdots T_b^{m_1} T_a^{n_1}$ , where  $m_j, n_j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Assume  $w = T_b^{m_k} T_a^{n_k} \cdots T_b^{m_1} T_a^{n_1} = 1$ , and note that

1. If 
$$T_a^{n_k} T_b^{m_{k-1}} T_a^{n_{k-1}} \cdots T_b^{m_1} = 1$$
, then  $T_b^{m_{k-1}} T_a^{n_{k-1}} \cdots T_b^{m_1} T_a^{n_k} = 1$ .

2. If 
$$T_b^{m_k} T_a^{n_k} T_b^{m_{k-1}} \cdots T_a^{n_2} T_b^{m_1} = 1$$
, then  $T_b^{m_1+m_k} T_a^{n_k} T_b^{m_{k-1}} \cdots T_a^{n_2} = 1$ .

3. If 
$$T_a^{n_k} T_b^{m_{k-1}} T_a^{n_{k-1}} \cdots T_b^{m_1} T_a^{n_1} = 1$$
, then  $T_b^{m_{k-1}} T_a^{n_{k-1}} \cdots T_b^{m_1} T_a^{n_1 + n_k} = 1$ .

Hence, up to conjugation, we can assume that all the  $m_j$  and all the  $n_j$  are nonzero in w. Since  $i(a, a) < i(b, a), i(a, T_a^{n_1}(a)) < i(b, T_a^{n_1}(a))$ . By repeated applications of lemma 1.3.12, we have:

The last inequality implies i(a, a) > i(b, a), which is a contradiction.

We remark that an alternative proof of theorem 1.3.11 can be found in [11].

#### **1.4** Alexander's trick and Dehn twist relations

Alexander's trick states that the mapping class group of the closed disk is trivial. It is a very useful tool which is used in verifying Dehn twist relations in Mod(S) (See, for example, the lantern and chain relations below). Alexander's trick is also used to derive the so called Alexander's method which determines whether two elements f and g in  $Homeo^+(S)$ represent the same mapping class in Mod(S). This is done by studying the actions of f and g on a system of simple closed curves and simple (properly embedded) arcs that cut S into a disjoint union of open disks, and then applying Alexander's trick. For more information about the proofs, see [10].

**Theorem 1.4.1** (Alexander's Trick.). The mapping class group of the closed disk is trivial.

**Theorem 1.4.2** (Alexander's Method.). Suppose S is a compact orientable surface. Let  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  be a collection of essential, pairwise nonisotopic, oriented simple closed curves and proper arcs in S such that:

- $a_1, \dots, a_n$  fill the surface S. ie. S cut along  $\cup a_i$  is a disjoint union of open disks.
- $a_i$  and  $a_j$  are in minimal position for all  $i \neq j$ . i.e. they do not cobound a bigon.



Figure 1.3: According to the lantern relation,  $T_x T_y T_z \stackrel{(*)}{=} T_{b_1} T_{b_2} T_{b_3} T_{b_4}$  in  $Mod(S_{0,4})$ .  $S_{0,4}$  is homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{D}_{0,3}$ , the closed disk with three boundaries. The middle picture shows x, y, z, and  $b_i, i = 1, 2, 3, 4$  in  $\mathbb{D}_{0,3}$ . Since the arcs  $c_1, c_2$ , and  $c_3$  cut  $\mathbb{D}_{0,3}$  into a disk, it suffices (by Alexander's trick) to show that (\*) holds on these arcs in order to prove theorem 1.4.3.

No three members of the collection intersect pairwise. ie. at least one of a<sub>i</sub> ∩ a<sub>j</sub>, a<sub>i</sub> ∩ a<sub>k</sub>, and a<sub>j</sub> ∩ a<sub>k</sub> is empty when i, j, and k are distinct.

Let  $\phi : S \to S$  be an orientation preserving homeomorphism which fixes  $\partial S$  pointwise. Suppose  $\sigma$  is a permutation of  $\{1, \dots, n\}$  such that  $\phi(a_i)$  is isotopic to  $a_{\sigma(i)}$  relative to  $\partial S$ for each *i*. Then  $\phi(\cup a_i)$  is isotopic to  $\cup a_i$  relative to  $\partial S$ . Call this isotopy *F*. If we think of  $\cup a_i$  as a graph  $\Gamma$  in *S* whose vertices are intersection points and arc endpoints, then the composition  $F \circ \phi$  gives an automorphism  $\phi_*$  of  $\Gamma$ . If  $\phi_*$  fixes each vertex and edge of  $\Gamma$ , with orientations, then  $\phi$  is isotopic to the identity. Otherwise,  $\phi$  is isotopic to a nontrivial finite order homeomorphism.

**Theorem 1.4.3** (The Lantern Relation). Suppose that  $S = S_{0,4}$ , the sphere with four boundary components, and consider the configuration of simple closed curves shown in Figure 1.3. Then, the following relation holds in Mod(S):

$$T_x T_y T_z = T_{b_1} T_{b_2} T_{b_3} T_{b_4}$$

It should be noted that this relation is written using functional notation (ie elements on the right are applied first), and the left Dehn twist convention is used.



Figure 1.4: The curves  $a_1, \dots, a_n$  form an *n*-chain.

Sketch of Proof. Since cutting S along the arcs  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$ , and  $c_3$  reduces it to a disk (see figure 1.3), it suffices, by Alexander's trick, to show that the relation holds on  $c_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3. This can be checked by drawing pictures.

**Definition 1.4.4.** A collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_l\}$  of pairwise non-isotopic simple closed curves in S forms a chain of length l (l-chain for short) if  $i(a_j, a_{j+1}) = 1$  for  $j = 1, \dots, l-1$  and  $i(a_j, a_k) = 0$  for  $|j - k| \ge 2$ .

**Theorem 1.4.5** (The Chain Relation.). Suppose that a collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_l\}$  of simple closed curves forms an *l*-chain in an orientable surface S.

- If l is even, then the boundary of a closed regular neighborhood  $N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup \cdots \cup a_l)$  consists of one simple closed curve d, and  $(T_1T_2\cdots T_l)^{2l+2} = T_d$ .
- If l is odd, then the boundary of a closed regular neighborhood  $N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup \cdots \cup a_l)$  consists of two simple closed curves  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ , and  $(T_1T_2 \cdots T_l)^{l+1} = T_{c_1}T_{c_2}$ .

Sketch of Proof. Let  $N_{\epsilon}$  be a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{l} a_i$ . The inclusion  $i : N_{\epsilon} \hookrightarrow$ S induces a homomorphism  $i_* : Mod(N_{\epsilon}) \to Mod(S)$  defined by extending by the identity on the compliment (see section 1.5). It follows from the definition of a Dehn a twist and the fact that  $i_*$  is a homomorphism that any relation between the  $T_i$  in  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$  must hold between the  $T_i$  in Mod(S). In particular, it suffices to prove the chain relation in  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$ . To do that, choose a system of arcs and curves that cut  $N_{\epsilon}$  into disjoint open disks, then show that the relation holds on this chosen system. By Alexander's method, the theorem follows.

### 1.5 Geometric subgroups of Mod(S)

Suppose  $S = S_{g,b,p}$  is a connected orientable surface with genus  $0 \le g < \infty, 0 \le b < \infty$ boundary components, and  $0 \le p < \infty$  punctures. Let  $P = \{x_1, \dots, x_p\}$  be a set of punctures or marked points in S. Let F be a **subsurface** of S. That is, F is a closed subset of S such that  $\partial F$  is contained in the interior of S, and  $\partial F$  is disjoint from the set of punctures. A subsurface  $F \subset S$  is said to be **essential** if no component of  $\overline{S \setminus F}$  is a disk disjoint from P. In other words, F does not split off a disk. The inclusion map  $i: (F, F \cap P) \to (S, P)$  induces a natural homomorphism

$$i_*: Mod((F, F \cap P) \to Mod(S, P)$$
  
 $[h] \mapsto i_*([h])$ 

defined by extending by the identity on the compliment. That is, if [h] is the mapping class of the homeomorphism  $h: (F, F \cap P) \to (F, F \cap P)$ , then  $i_*([h])$  is the mapping class represented by extending h to S, by the identity of  $S \setminus F$ .  $Im(i_*)$  is called a **geometric subgroup** of Mod(S).

**Definition 1.5.1.** Let  $(F, F \cap P)$  be a subsurface of (S, P). A component N of  $\overline{S \setminus F}$  is said to be a cylinder exterior to F if N is disjoint from P and both components of  $\partial N$  are also components of  $\partial F$  (see figure 1.5).

**Theorem 1.5.2** (Rolfsen-Paris). Suppose that  $F \subset S$  is an essential subsurface, and consider the natural homomorphism

$$i_*: Mod((F, F \cap P) \to Mod(S, P)$$

- If  $(F, F \cap P)$  is a disk with  $|F \cap P| \leq 1$ , then  $i_*$  is injective by theorem 1.4.1.
- If  $(F, F \cap P)$  is an annulus disjoint from P and  $(F, F \cap P)$  splits off a disk with one puncture, then  $ker(i_*) = Mod(F, F \cap P)$ . Otherwise,  $i_*$  is injective. (Note that  $(F, F \cap P)$ cannot split off a disk because it is essential in (S, P)).



Figure 1.5: N is a cylinder exterior to F.

• If  $(F, F \cap P)$  is not as in the above two cases, let  $a_1, \dots, a_r$  denote the boundary components of  $(F, F \cap P)$  which split off once punctured disks, and let  $b_j, b'_j, j = 1, \dots, s$ be the boundary component pairs which cobound exterior cylinders  $A_j$ . Then  $ker(i_*)$  is generated by  $\{T_{a_1}, \dots, T_{a_r}, T_{b_1}T_{b'_1}^{-1}, \dots, T_{b_s}T_{b'_s}^{-1}\}$ , and is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$ .

**Corollary 1.5.3.** Let  $F \subset S$  be any subsurface and consider the natural homomorphism

$$i_*: Mod((F, F \cap P) \to Mod(S, P))$$

- If  $(F, F \cap P)$  is a disk with one or no punctures, then  $i_*$  is injective.
- If  $(F, F \cap P)$  is an annulus disjoint from P, then  $i_*$  is injective iff no component of  $\overline{S \setminus F}$  is a disk with less than two punctures.
- If  $(F, F \cap P)$  is neither of the subsurfaces above, then  $i_*$  is injective iff no component of  $\overline{S \setminus F}$  is a cylinder exterior to F or a disk with less than two punctures.

#### 1.6 The center of Mod(S)

In this section, we state a theorem about the center of the mapping class group of an orientable surface. For more information, we refer the reader to [23] and [10]. Recall that the center of a group G is the subgroup given by  $Z(G) = \{x \in G \mid gx = xg \forall g \in G\}.$ 

**Theorem 1.6.1.** Let  $S = S_{g,b,p}$  be an orientable surface of genus g with b boundary components and p punctures.

- (1) If  $S = S_{0,0,p}$  with p = 0, 1, then  $ZMod(S) = Mod(S) = \{1\}$ .
- (2) If  $S = S_{0,0,2}$ , then  $ZMod(S) = Mod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ .
- (3) If  $S = S_{0,0,3}$ , then  $Mod(S) \cong \Sigma_3$ . Hence,  $ZMod(S) = \{1\}$ .
- (4) If  $S = S_{0,1,p}$  with p = 0, 1, then  $ZMod(S) = Mod(S) = \{1\}$ .
- (5) If  $S = S_{0,1,2}$ , then  $ZMod(S) = Mod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ .
- (6) If  $S = S_{0,2,0}$ , then  $ZMod(S) = Mod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ .
- (7) If  $S = S_{0,3,0}$ , then  $ZMod(S) = Mod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}^3$ .
- (8) If  $S = S_{1,0,0}$ , then  $Mod(S) \cong SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Hence,  $ZMod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ .
- (9) If  $S = S_{1,0,1}$ , then  $Mod(S) \cong SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Hence,  $ZMod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ .
- (10) If  $S = S_{1,0,2}$ , then  $ZMod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ .
- (11) If  $S = S_{1,1,0}$ , then  $ZMod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ .
- (12) If  $S = S_{2,0,0}$ , then  $ZMod(S) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ .

Now suppose that S is different from the surfaces in (1) - (12). That is, S is not of the following: The sphere with less than four punctures, the disk with less than three punctures, the annulus with no punctures, the torus with less than three punctures, the torus with one boundary component and no punctures, and the closed genus two surface with no punctures. Denote by  $a_1, \dots, a_b$  the isotopy classes of all the peripheral curves in S and by  $T_i$  the Dehn twist along  $a_i$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, b$ . Then the center ZMod(S) of Mod(S) is the subgroup generated by  $T_1, \dots, T_b$  and is isomorphic to the free abelian group  $\mathbb{Z}^b$ . In particular, if  $S = S_{g,0,p}$  with  $g \geq 3$  and  $p \geq 0$ , then ZMod(S) is trivial.

## CHAPTER 2

## **BRAID GROUPS**

### 2.1 The classical braid groups $\mathcal{B}_n$

We think of a classical braid  $\beta$  on n strands (n-braid for short) as a continuous family of n disjoint embedded paths  $f_i : I \to \mathbb{R}^2 \times I$  (called strands) in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , starting at the points  $\{(j, 0, 1)\}_{j=1}^{n+1}$  and ending at  $\{(\sigma(j), 0, 0)\}_{j=1}^{n+1}$ , where  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$ . Each strand is a monotonically decreasing function in the coordinate z. So the paths of  $\beta$  run monotonically down the zaxis, while possibly twisting around each other. This definition gives rise to the so called geometric or physical braid (See Figure 2.1).

Two n-braids  $\beta$  and  $\beta'$  are said to be equivalent, if one can be deformed to the other by a braid isotopy. In other words, there is a continuous family  $F_t : \mathbb{R}^2 \times I \to \mathbb{R}^2 \times I$  which is the identity on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \{0\}$  and  $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \{1\}$  for all  $i \in I$  (ie  $F_t$  fixes the endpoints),  $F_t(\beta)$  is an n-braid for all  $t \in I$ , and  $F_0(\beta) = \beta$  and  $F_1(\beta) = \beta'$ . The set of isotopy classes of n-braids forms a group under braid concatenation or stacking. Given two n-braids  $\beta$  and  $\beta'$ , we stack  $\beta$  on top of  $\beta'$  and rescale t to obtain the product braid  $\beta . \beta' : I \to \mathbb{R}^2 \times I$ . The classical braid group of n strands is denoted by  $\mathcal{B}_n$ .

Consider a n-braid  $\beta$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Project  $\beta$  onto the xz-plane. This projection may be performed so that, as one moves down the z-axis, only one crossing is encountered at a time. The resulting two dimensional picture of this projection is called a braid diagram for  $\beta$ . In a braid diagram, what appears to be a disconnected strand at a crossing is meant to



Figure 2.1: A geometric braid on 3 strands.

be a strand which comes from behind the connected strand (See Figure 2.2).

The group  $\mathcal{B}_n$  is generated by n-1 braids  $\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_{n-1}$ , where  $\gamma_i$  represents the  $i^{th}$  strand crossed over the  $(i+1)^{st}$ . The generators  $\gamma_i$  satisfy two types of relations, namely  $\gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i$  whenever  $|i-j| \geq 2$  and  $\gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i = \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1}$  for  $i = 1, \dots, n-2$ . These relations are illustrated in Figure 2.2. This gives a presentation for  $\mathcal{B}_n$ :

$$\mathcal{B}_n = \langle \gamma_1, \cdots, \gamma_n \mid \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i = \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1}, \gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i \ if \ |i-j| \ge 2 \rangle$$



Figure 2.2:  $\gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i$  when  $|i - j| \ge 2$  (left) and  $\gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i = \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1}$  (right).

We end this section with a fact that shall be used in sections 5.5 and 7.8. This fact states that  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$  is isomorphic to the finite type Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(A_n)$ , defined in chapter 3. The isomorphism is given explicitly in theorem 5.5.1.



Figure 2.3: The geometric 4-braid  $(\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3)^4$ , which generates  $Z(\mathcal{B}_4)$ .

### **2.2** The center of $\mathcal{B}_n$

We state a theorem about the center of the braid group  $\mathcal{B}_n$  on n strands. For the proof, we refer the reader to [18] or [4].

**Theorem 2.2.1.** If  $n \ge 3$ , then the center  $Z(\mathcal{B}_n)$  of  $\mathcal{B}_n$  is infinite cyclic generated by  $x = (\gamma_1 \gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_{n-1})^n$ .

Geometrically, the generator of  $Z(\mathcal{B}_n)$  can be obtained from the trivial n-braid by fixing the top and rotating the bottom by  $2\pi$ . Figure 2.3 illustrates  $(\gamma_1 \gamma_2 \gamma_3)^4$ , the generator of  $Z(\mathcal{B}_4)$ .

To see why x commutes with every element in  $\mathcal{B}_n$ , pick an arbitrary n-braid y and consider  $xyx^{-1}$ . By twisting y (in  $xyx^{-1}$ ) by  $-2\pi$ , one can check that the resulting n-braid is isotopic to y.

#### 2.3 Annular braid groups

Annular braids are defined in analogy with classical braids. An annular n-braid is a continuous collection of n disjoint embedded paths in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , starting at equally spaced points on the unit circle in the plane z = 1 and ending at analogous points on the unit circle in the xy-plane. The paths run down monotonically with respect to the z-axis, while possibly twisting around one another. However, we require that an annular braid never intersect the z-axis. Thus, annular braids live in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  minus the z-axis.

Two annular n-braids  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha'$  are said to be equivalent, if we can deform one to the other by a braid isotopy. That is, there exists a continuous family  $G_t : \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\} \times I \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\} \times I$ such that, for all  $t \in I$ ,  $G_t$  fixes the endpoints and  $\alpha_t = G_t(\alpha)$  is an annular n-braid. Moreover,  $\alpha_0 = \alpha$  and  $\alpha_1 = \alpha'$ . The set of isotopy classes of annular n-braids forms a group under the stacking operation. This group is denoted by  $CB_n$ . It was shown by Crisp [7] that  $CB_n$  is isomorphic to the finite type Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$ , defined in chapter 3.

For an annular braid, rather than projecting onto a plane, we thicken the z-axis to form a cylinder, project the strands onto the cylinder's surface, and view the projection from outside. The group  $CB_n$  has generators  $\sigma_0, \sigma_1, \sigma_2, \cdots, \sigma_{n-1}$ , and  $\tau$ , where  $\sigma_i, i = 0, \cdots, n-1$ represents crossing the  $i^{th}$  strand over the  $(i + 1)^{st}$  modulo n. In particular,  $\sigma_0$  represents crossing the  $n^{th}$  (or zeroth modulo n) strand over the first. The generator  $\tau$  is shown in Figure 2.4.

**Theorem 2.3.1** (Kent-Peifer). The annular braid group on n strands,  $CB_n$  has presentation:

$$\mathcal{P} = \langle \sigma_0, \cdots, \sigma_{n-1}, \tau | \sigma_i \sigma_{i+1} \sigma_i = \sigma_{i+1} \sigma_i \sigma_{i+1} \mod(n) \text{ for } i = 0, 1, \cdots, n-1$$
$$\sigma_i \sigma_j = \sigma_j \sigma_i \text{ for } |i-j| \neq 1, n-1, \ \tau \sigma_i \tau^{-1} = \sigma_{(i+1) \mod(n)} \rangle$$

In the presentation  $\mathcal{P}$ , set  $H = \langle \tau \rangle$  and denote by N the normal subgroup of  $CB_n$ generated by  $\{\sigma_0, \sigma_1, \cdots, \sigma_{n-1}\}$ . It is clear from the presentation  $\mathcal{P}$  that conjugating



Figure 2.4: This picture illustrates the generators  $\sigma_i$  (left) and  $\tau$  (right) of the annular braid group  $CB_n$ . In  $CB_n$ , the defining relations are  $\sigma_i\sigma_{i+1}\sigma_i = \sigma_{i+1}\sigma_i\sigma_{i+1}$  modulo n,  $i = 0, \dots, n-1, [\sigma_i, \sigma_j] = 1$  for  $|i-j| \neq 1, n-1$ , and  $\tau\sigma_i\tau^{-1} = \sigma_{i+1}$  modulo n.

 $\{\sigma_0, \sigma_1, \cdots, \sigma_{n-1}\}$  by  $\tau$  induces an automorphism of N. This gives a homomorphism  $\phi : H \to Aut(N)$ , where  $\phi(\tau)(\sigma_i) = \tau \sigma_i \tau^{-1} = \sigma_{(i+1)mod(n)}, i = 0, \cdots, n-1$ . As such,  $CB_n$  is isomorphic to the semidirect product  $N \rtimes_{\phi} H$ . It follows from the structure of  $CB_n$ and its presentation  $\mathcal{P}$  that N is isomorphic to the affine Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  (see chapter 3). Therefore,  $CB_n \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1}) \rtimes \langle \tau \rangle$ .

Consider  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ , the classical braid group on n + 1 strands. Let  $D_{n+1}$  be the set of all classical (n + 1)-braids, where the endpoint of the first strand does not get permuted. In other words, the first strand begins and ends at the first position.  $D_{n+1}$  is a finite index subgroup of  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ , which was studied by Chow [6]. To see why  $[\mathcal{B}_{n+1} : D_{n+1}] < \infty$ , recall that the pure braid group  $\mathcal{PB}_{n+1}$  consists of all (n+1)-braids where the  $i^{th}$  strand ends up at the  $i^{th}$  position for all  $i = 1, \dots, n+1$ . Algebraically,  $\mathcal{PB}_{n+1}$  is the kernel of the epimorphism  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1} \to \Sigma_{n+1}$  given by  $\gamma_i \mapsto (i i + 1)$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{PB}_{n+1}$  is a subgroup of index (n+1)! in  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ . Since  $\mathcal{PB}_{n+1}$  is a subgroup of  $D_{n+1}, D_{n+1}$  has finite index in  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ . Chow's



Figure 2.5: The generator  $a_i$  of  $D_{n+1}$ . As seen in the picture, the braid  $a_i$  starts at the first position, goes behind strands 2 through i - 1, crosses over then under strand i, and then goes back to the first position from behind strands i - 1 through 2.

presentation of  $D_{n+1}$  is:

$$\mathcal{D} = \langle \gamma_2, \gamma_3, \cdots, \gamma_n, a_2, a_3, \cdots, a_{n+1} | \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i = \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} ,$$
  
$$\gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i \text{ for } |i-j| \ge 2, \quad \gamma_i a_k \gamma_i^{-1} = a_k \text{ for } k \ne i, i+1$$
  
$$\gamma_i a_i \gamma_i^{-1} = a_{i+1}, \quad \gamma_i a_{i+1} \gamma_i^{-1} = a_{i+1}^{-1} a_i a_{i+1} \rangle$$

In the presentation  $\mathcal{D}$ ,  $\gamma_i$  represents the standard generator of  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ , where the  $i^{th}$  strand is crossed over the  $(i + 1)^{st}$ . Note, however, that the index *i* begins at 2, and thus none of the crossings include the first strand. The generators  $a_i$  are the ones involving the first strand. More precisely,  $a_i$  is the braid corresponding to the first strand going behind the  $2^{nd}$  through the  $(i - 1)^{st}$  strands, crossing over then under the  $i^{th}$  strand, then returning back to the first position from behind the  $(i - 1)^{st}$  strand through the  $2^{nd}$ . See Figure 2.5 for illustration.

#### **Theorem 2.3.2** (Kent-Peifer). The groups $CB_n$ and $D_{n+1}$ are isomorphic.

*Proof.* Let  $y \in D_{n+1}$ . Then y is a classical (n+1)-braid with the stipulation that endpoint of the first strand does not get permuted. Thicken the first strand of y to form a cylinder,

then pull it tight. Now wrap the remaining strands of y once around the cylinder's surface. After the wrapping occurs, the positions of strands 2 through n + 1 reverse order. In other words, strand 2 becomes strand n - 1 on the cylinder, strand 3 becomes strand  $n - 2, \dots$ , and strand n + 1 becomes strand 0 (See Figure 2.6). While wrapping, strands are neither allowed to pass through one another nor through the cylinder. The result of this process is an annular n-braid. Define  $\Phi: D_{n+1} \to CB_n$  by

$$\gamma_i \mapsto \sigma_{n-i} \text{ for } i = 2, \cdots, n$$
$$a_2 \mapsto (\sigma_{n-2}\sigma_{n-3}\cdots\sigma_0\tau)^{-1}$$
$$a_j \mapsto (\sigma_{(n+1)-j}\cdots\sigma_{n-2})(\sigma_{n-2}\sigma_{n-3}\cdots\sigma_0\tau)^{-1}(\sigma_{(n+1)-j}\cdots\sigma_{n-2})^{-1}$$
for  $j = 3, \cdots, n+1$ 

Let  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  be elements of  $D_{n+1}$ . Wrapping  $\alpha_1 . \alpha_2$  around its thickened first strand yields the same annular braid as when  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  are each wrapped around their thickened first strands, then concatenated in  $CB_n$ . Thus,  $\Phi$  is a homomorphism. It can be checked that  $\tau$  is the image of  $(a_2\gamma_2\cdots\gamma_n)^{-1}$  and  $\sigma_{n-1}$  is the image of  $(a_2\gamma_2\cdots\gamma_n)\gamma_n(a_2\gamma_2\cdots\gamma_n)^{-1}$ . So  $\Phi$  is surjective. If  $\alpha \in ker(\Phi)$ , then  $\Phi(\alpha)$  can be deformed into the trivial annular n-braid. Performing an analogous deformation on  $\alpha$  yields the trivial (n+1)-braid. That is, suppose, for example,  $\Phi(\alpha)$  is deformed to the trivial annular braid by pulling its  $2^{nd}$  strand from behind the  $3^{rd}$  strand (thus eliminating two crossings). Then the analogous deformation on  $\alpha$  would be pulling the  $(n-1)^{st}$  strand from above the  $(n-2)^{nd}$ . Therefore,  $\Phi$  is injective, and consequently an isomorphism.

#### **Theorem 2.3.3** (Kent-Peifer). The presentation $\mathcal{D}$ of $D_{n+1}$ is equivalent to $\mathcal{P}$

We refer the reader to [19] for the proof of theorem 2.3.3. It is easy to see that theorem 2.3.1 is an immediate consequence of theorems 2.3.2 and 2.3.3.

In light of the results in this section, we emphasize the following observation:

$$\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1}) \cong N < CB_n \cong D_{n+1} < \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$$



Figure 2.6: Mapping  $a_i \in D_{n+1}$  to  $\Phi(a_i) \in CB_n$ .

where N is the normal subgroup of  $CB_n$  generated by  $\sigma_0, \dots, \sigma_{n-1}$  (see theorem 2.3.1) and  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  is the affine Artin group of type  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$  defined in chapter 3.

In section 5.5, we will use this observation along with theorem 5.1.2 to give and embedding of  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  into Mod(S).

### CHAPTER 3

### **ARTIN GROUPS**

### 3.1 Artin monoids and Artin groups

A Coxeter system of rank n is a pair (W, S) consisting of a finite set S of order n and a group W with presentation

$$\langle S \mid (st)^{m_{st}} = 1, \text{ for } s, t \in S \text{ such that } m_{st} \neq \infty \rangle$$

where  $m_{ss} = 1$  and  $m_{st} = m_{ts} \in \{2, 3, \dots, \infty\}$  for  $s \neq t$ .  $m_{st} = \infty$  means that there is no relation between s and t. An equivalent presentation is given by:

$$\langle S \mid s^2 = 1 \ \forall \ s \in S, \ prod(s,t;m_{st}) = prod(t,s;m_{st}) \ such \ that \ m_{st} \neq \infty \rangle$$

where, again,  $m_{ss} = 1$ ,  $m_{st} = m_{ts} \in \{2, 3, \dots, \infty\}$  for  $s \neq t$ , and  $prod(s, t; m_{st}) = sts \cdots$ where the product contains  $m_{st}$  terms.

A Coxeter system is determined by its Coxeter graph  $\Gamma$ . This graph has vertex set Sand includes an edge labeled  $m_{st}$ , between s and t, whenever  $m_{st} \geq 3$ . The label  $m_{st} = 3$ is usually omitted. The graph  $\Gamma$  defines the type of a Coxeter group. We say that W is a Coxeter group of type  $\Gamma$ , and denote it by  $W(\Gamma)$ . Alternatively, a Coxeter system can be uniquely determined by its Coxeter matrix  $M = (m_{ij})_{i,j \in S}$ , where M is an  $n \times n$  symmetric matrix with ones on the main diagonal and entries in  $\{2, \dots, \infty\}$  elsewhere. When W is finite, we refer to it as a Coxeter group of finite type. Otherwise, W is of infinite type.

The Artin group,  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$ , of type  $\Gamma$  has presentation

$$\langle S \mid prod(s,t;m_{st}) = prod(t,s;m_{st}) \text{ such that } m_{st} \neq \infty \rangle$$
 (\*)

It is clear from the presentations that  $W(\Gamma)$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$ . It is the quotient of  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$  by the normal closure of  $\{s^2 | s \in S\}$ . We say that an Artin group has finite type, if its corresponding Coxeter group is finite.

Consider  $F(S)^+$ , the free monoid (semigroup with 1) of positive words in the alphabet of S. The Artin monoid  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  of type  $\Gamma$  is obtained from  $F(S)^+$  by stipulating that  $prod(s,t;m_{st}) = prod(s,t;m_{ts})$  for all  $s,t \in S$  and  $m_{st} \neq \infty$ . The equality = denotes the positive word equivalence in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  (as opposed to the word equivalence in the group  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$ which is denoted by =). In other words,  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  is given by (\*), considered as a monoid presentation.

**Definition 3.1.1.** Let M and N be monoids. A map  $\phi : M \to N$  is said to be a monoid homomorphism if f(xy) = f(x)f(y) for all  $x, y \in M$  and  $f(1_M) = 1_N$ .

We state some useful definitions and results about Artin monoids and Artin groups. The interested reader is referred to [4] for detailed information.

- If  $\Gamma$  is of finite type, then the canonical homomorphism  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$  is injective.
- The Artin monoid  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  is **cancellative**. That is,  $UA_1V = UA_2V$  implies  $A_1 = A_2$ .
- Let  $U, V \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ . We say that U divides V (on the left), and write U|V, if V = UV'for some  $V' \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ .
- An element V is said to be a **common multiple** for a finite subset  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_1, \dots, U_r\}$ of  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  if  $U_i|V$  for each  $i = 1, \dots, r$ . It is shown in [4] that if a common multiple of  $\mathcal{U}$  exists, then there exists a necessarily unique least common multiple of  $\mathcal{U}$ . The least common multiple is a common multiple which divides all the common multiples of  $\mathcal{U}$ , and is denoted by  $[U_1, \dots, U_r]$ . For each pair of elements  $s, t \in S$  with  $m_{st} \neq \infty$ , the least common multiple  $[s, t] = prod(s, t; m_{st})$ . If  $m_{st} = \infty$ , then s and t have no common multiple.
• Every element w of  $F(S)^+$  can be expressed uniquely as a word in the alphabet of S. The number of letters in this word is called the length of w and is denoted by l(w). Define l(1) = 0. It is obvious that l(s) = 1 for all  $s \in S$  and that l(ww') = l(w) + l(w') for all  $w, w' \in F(S)^+$ . Define  $l : \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathbb{N}$  by l(U) equals the length of any word in  $F(S)^+$  representing U. The function l is well-defined because applying  $prod(s, t; m_{st}) =$  $prod(t, s; m_{st})$  to a word  $u \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  does not alter its length. Clearly, U|V implies  $l(U) \leq l(V)$ .

**Lemma 3.1.2** (Brieskorn-Saito). Let (W, S) be a Coxeter system with Coxeter graph  $\Gamma$ . If  $X, Y \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  and  $s, t \in S$  satisfy sX = tY, then  $\exists W \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  such that  $X = prod(t, s; m_{st} - 1)W$  and  $Y = prod(s, t; m_{st} - 1)W$ .

Lemma 3.1.2 is called the **Reduction Lemma**. It will be used repeatedly in lemma 5.2.1.

We end this section with a list of Coxeter graphs that are relevant to this dissertation. In what follows, we shall encounter the Coxeter graphs  $A_n$ ,  $B_n$ ,  $D_n$ ,  $H_3$ ,  $I_2(k)$ , and  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$ shown below. All of those graphs are of finite type, except for  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$ . See [14] for a complete classification of Coxeter groups.

$$A_n = \underbrace{s_1 \quad s_2 \quad s_3}_{s_1 \quad s_2 \quad s_3} \underbrace{\cdots}_{s_{n-2} \quad s_{n-1} \quad s_n}_{s_n} \qquad (n \ge 2)$$

$$B_n = \underbrace{s_1 \quad s_2 \quad s_3 \quad \cdots \quad s_{n-2} \quad s_{n-1} \quad s_n}_{q} \qquad (n \ge 3)$$

$$D_n = \underbrace{s_1 \quad s_2 \quad s_3 \quad \cdots \quad s_{n-3} \quad s_{n-2}}_{S_{n-3} \quad S_{n-2}} (n \ge 4)$$

$$H_{3} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 5\\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \end{array}}_{s_{1}} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 5\\ s_{2} \\ s_{3} \end{array}}_{s_{3}}$$

$$I_{2}(k) = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} k\\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \end{array}}_{s_{2}} \qquad (k \ge 3)$$



### 3.2 LCM-Homomorphisms and foldings

The majority of definitions and results from this section are due to Crisp. The reader is referred to [7] for more information.

**Definition 3.2.1.** An Artin monoid homomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma')$  respects lcms if

- 1.  $\phi(s) \neq 1$  for each generator s, and
- For each pair of generators s,t ∈ S, the pair φ(s), φ(t) have a common multiple only if s and t do. In that case, [φ(s), φ(t)] = φ([s,t]).

**Theorem 3.2.2** (Crisp). A homomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma')$  between Artin monoids which respects lcms is injective.

**Theorem 3.2.3** (Crisp). If  $\phi : \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma')$  is a monomorphism between finite type Artin monoids, then the induced homomorphism  $\phi_A : \mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}(\Gamma')$  between Artin groups is injective.

Let  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  be an Artin monoid with generating set S. If  $T \subseteq S$  has a common multiple, then T has a unique least common multiple. Denote this least common multiple by  $\Delta_T$ .  $\Delta_T$ is also called the fundamental element for T. It was shown in [4] that  $\Delta_T$  exists if and only if the parabolic subgroup  $W_T$  (ie the subgroup of  $W(\Gamma)$  generated by T) is finite. When it exists,  $\Delta_T$  corresponds to the longest element of  $W_T$ .

**Definition 3.2.4.** Let (W, S) and (W', S') be Coxeter systems of types  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  respectively, and assume  $m_{st} \neq \infty$  for all  $s, t \in S$ . Let  $\{T(s) | s \in S\}$  be a collection of mutually disjoint subsets of S' such that 1. for each  $s \in S$ , T(s) is nonempty and  $\Delta_{T(s)}$  exists, and

2. 
$$prod(\Delta_{T(s)}, \Delta_{T(t)}; m_{st}) = prod(\Delta_{T(t)}, \Delta_{T(s)}; m_{ts}) = [\Delta_{T(s)}, \Delta_{T(t)}]$$
 for all  $s, t \in S$ .

Define a homomorphism  $\phi_T : \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma')$  by  $\phi_T(s) = \Delta_{T(s)}$  for  $s \in S$ . Such a homomorphism is called an LCM-homomorphism.

It is clear from condition 2 that  $\phi_T$  is a homomorphism (For each relation R in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ ,  $\phi_T(R)$  is a relation in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma')$ ). Additionally,  $\phi_T$  respects lcms. Indeed, condition 1 of definition 3.2.1 is satisfied because  $T(s) \neq \emptyset$  consists of generators of S'. As such  $\Delta_{T(s)} \neq 1$ . Moreover, the assumption  $m_{st} \neq \infty$  for all s, t guarantees the existence of [s, t] for all s, t. Also, condition 2 of definition 3.2.4 implies the second condition of definition 3.2.1. Since LCM-homomorphisms respect lcms, they are injective by theorem 3.2.2.

Let (W, S) be an irreducible Coxeter system (ie its Coxeter graph  $\Gamma$  is connected), with  $S = \{s_1, s_2, \dots, s_n\}$ . A **Coxeter element** h of W is defined to be a product  $s_{\sigma(1)}s_{\sigma(2)}\cdots s_{\sigma(n)}$ , where  $\sigma \in \Sigma_n$ . It is known that all Coxeter elements are conjugate in W (see p.74 in [14]). Hence, all the Coxeter elements have the same order in W. Consequently, the **Coxeter number** of W is defined to be the order of a Coxeter element. It is well known [14] that the Coxeter graphs  $A_n$ ,  $B_n$ ,  $D_n$ , and  $I_2(n)$  have Coxeter numbers n+1, 2n, 2n-2, and n respectively.

**Definition 3.2.5.** Let  $\epsilon = I_2(m)$  with  $m \ge 3$  and let k be a positive integer. Denote by  $k.\epsilon$  the disjoint union of k copies of  $\epsilon$ . The map  $f_{\epsilon} : k.\epsilon \to \epsilon$  which sends each copy of  $\epsilon$  in  $k.\epsilon$  identically to  $\epsilon$  is called a **k-fold trivial folding**.

**Definition 3.2.6.** Let  $\epsilon = I_2(m)$  with m > 3 and let K be an irreducible finite type Coxeter graph with Coxeter number m. Choose a partition  $K_s \cup K_t$  of the vertex set of K so that there are no edges between the vertices of  $K_s$  and no edges between the vertices of  $K_t$ . The **dihedral folding** of K onto  $\epsilon$  is the unique simplicial map  $f_{\epsilon} : K \to \epsilon$  such that  $f_{\epsilon}(K_s) = s$ and  $f_{\epsilon}(K_t) = t$ . It is well known [14] that all finite type Coxeter graphs are bipartite. As such, one may always choose a partition as in definition 3.2.6. This partition is unique up to relabeling of the two sets  $K_s$  and  $K_t$ .

**Definition 3.2.7.** Let  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  be Coxeter graphs with respective vertex sets S and S'. A folding of  $\Gamma'$  onto  $\Gamma$  is a surjective simplicial map  $f : \Gamma' \to \Gamma$  such that for every edge  $\epsilon = I_2(m)$  with  $m \ge 3$ , the restriction  $f_{\epsilon}$  of f to  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  is either a k-fold trivial folding or a dihedral folding.

**Remark.** Let  $f : \Gamma' \to \Gamma$  be a folding so that, for some edge  $\epsilon = I_2(m)$  with m > 3 in  $\Gamma$ , the restriction  $f_{\epsilon}$  of f to  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  is a dihedral folding and f is trivial otherwise. Since  $f_{\epsilon}$  depends on the choice of labeling the partition of  $f^{-1}(\epsilon) = K$  into  $K_s$  and  $K_t$  as in definition 3.2.6, this could possibly give rise to two distinct foldings of  $\Gamma'$  onto  $\Gamma$ . When distinct, we distinguish these foldings by writing  $(K, +\epsilon)$  and  $(K, -\epsilon)$ . See section 3.4 for examples illustrating this.

### 3.3 LCM-homomorphisms from foldings

In the coming sections, foldings will be crucial for finding embeddings of certain Artin groups into mapping class groups. We devote this section to explaining how foldings induce LCM-homomorphisms, and give a detailed proof of the main result (theorem 3.3.1) pertaining to this.

**Theorem 3.3.1** (Crisp). Suppose  $f : \Gamma' \to \Gamma$  is a folding. Then f induces an LCMhomomorphism  $\phi^f : \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma')$  such that  $\phi^f(s) = \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}$  for  $s \in S$ .

**Lemma 3.3.2.** Let  $\Gamma$  be an irreducible finite type Coxeter graph with vertex set S. Partition S into two sets  $K_s$  and  $K_t$  so that in each set, no pair of vertices are joined by an edge. If  $\Delta_{K_s}$ ,  $\Delta_{K_t}$ , and  $\Delta$  are the respective least common multiples of  $K_s$ ,  $K_t$ , and  $S = K_s \cup K_t$  in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ , then  $\Delta = [\Delta_{K_s}, \Delta_{K_t}]$ . That is,  $\Delta$  is the least common multiple of  $\Delta_{K_s}$  and  $\Delta_{K_t}$ .

Proof. First note that all irreducible Coxeter graphs of finite type are bipartite. Hence, one can always partition S as suggested, and the partition is actually unique up to relabeling  $K_s$ and  $K_t$ . Also note that  $\Delta$  exists because  $\Gamma$  is of finite type, and that the existence of  $\Delta_{K_s}$ ,  $\Delta_{K_t}$  is a consequence of lemma 5.1.1. Since  $\Delta$  is a common multiple of S,  $\Delta$  is a common multiple of  $K_s \subset S$ . Since  $\Delta_{K_s}$  is the least common multiple of  $K_s$ ,  $\Delta_{K_s} | \Delta$ . Similarly,  $\Delta$  is a common multiple of  $K_t$ , and so  $\Delta_{K_t} | \Delta$ . Thus,  $\Delta$  is a common multiple of  $\Delta_{K_s}$  and  $\Delta_{K_t}$ . Now suppose that C is another common multiple of  $\Delta_{K_s}$  and  $\Delta_{K_t}$ . Then,  $C = \Delta_{K_s} W$  and  $C = \Delta_{K_t} W'$  for some  $W, W' \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ . Since  $K_s$  and  $K_t$  consist of pairwise commuting elements and  $S = K_s \cup K_t$ , C is a multiple of every  $s \in S$ . But  $\Delta$  is the least common multiple of S. So,  $\Delta | C$  and therefore  $\Delta = [\Delta_{K_s}, \Delta_{K_t}]$ .

**Lemma 3.3.3** (Brieskorn-Saito). Suppose  $\Gamma$  is an irreducible finite type Coxeter graph with Coxeter number h. Let  $K_s = \{s_1, \dots, s_p\}$  and  $K_t = \{t_1, \dots, t_q\}$  be a partition of S into sets of pairwise commuting generators, and let  $\Delta$  be the least common multiple of S in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ . If

$$P' = \prod_{i=1}^p s_i, \ P'' = \prod_{j=1}^q t_j, \ and \ P = P'P''$$

then

$$\begin{array}{ll} \Delta = P^{\frac{h}{2}} & \text{if } h \text{ is even} \\ \Delta = P^{\frac{h-1}{2}} P' = P'' P^{\frac{h-1}{2}} & \text{if } h \text{ is odd} \\ \Delta^2 = P^h & always \end{array}$$

Proof of theorem 3.3.1. We are going to show that  $\phi^f$  satisfies conditions (1) and (2) of definition 3.2.4. Since f is surjective,  $f^{-1}(s)$  is nonempty for each  $s \in S$ . By definition 3.2.7, it follows that, for each  $s \in S$ ,  $f^{-1}(s)$  is a finite disjoint union of vertices in  $\Gamma'$ . By lemma 5.2.1,  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}$  exists and is equal to the product (in any order) of all the elements of  $f^{-1}(s)$ . This takes care of condition (1) in definition 3.2.4.

For condition (2), consider  $s, t \in S$  with  $s \neq t$ . First assume that s and t are not joined by an edge (ie  $m_{st} = 2$ ). Since f is a simplicial map, there is no edge between any  $s' \in f^{-1}(s)$  and any  $t' \in f^{-1}(t)$ . Hence,  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}$  commutes with  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}$ . To show that  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = [\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ , note that  $f^{-1}(s) \cup f^{-1}(t)$  consists of pairwise commuting generators each of which must divide  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ . This implies that  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}$  divides  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ . On the other hand, it is clear that  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$  divides  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}$ . Therefore,  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = [\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ .

We now prove condition (2) when the  $f_{\epsilon}$  (from definition 3.2.7) is a k-fold trivial folding. Set  $f^{-1}(s) = \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}$  and  $f^{-1}(t) = \{t_1, \dots, t_k\}$ , where s and t are the vertices of  $\epsilon$ . Recall that  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_1 \cdots s_k$  and  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = t_1 \cdots t_k$  (see first paragraph of the proof). Since  $s_i$  commutes with  $s_j$  for all i, j and  $s_i$  commutes with  $t_j$  for all  $j \neq i$ , it follows that

$$prod(\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}; m_{st}) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} prod(s_i, t_i; m_{st})$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^{k} prod(t_i, s_i; m_{st})$$
$$= prod(\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}; m_{st})$$

Note that by definition of a k-fold trivial folding,  $m_{st} = m_{s_it_i}$  for all *i*. It remains to show that  $prod(\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}; m_{st}) = [\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ . Note that for each  $i = 1, \dots, k$ ,  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$  is a common multiple of  $\{s_i, t_i\}$ . So,  $[s_i, t_i]$  divides  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$  for all *i*. Recall that  $[s_i, t_i] = prod(s_i, t_i, m_{st})$  (see section 3.1). So,  $\{prod(s_i, t_i; m_{st})\}_{i=1}^k$  consists of pairwise commuting elements each of which must divide  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ . As such,  $\prod_{i=1}^k prod(t_i, s_i; m_{st})$  divides  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ . On the other hand, it is clear that  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$  divides  $\prod_{i=1}^k prod(t_i, s_i; m_{st})$ . Therefore,  $prod(\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}; m_{st}) =$  $[\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}, \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}]$ .

Now assume that s and t are joined by an edge  $\epsilon$  with label  $m_{st} \geq 3$ , and that the restriction  $f_{\epsilon}$  is a dihedral folding. Since f is simplicial,  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  is the full subgraph of  $\Gamma'$ spanned by its vertex set. That  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  is irreducible follows from definition 3.2.6. Moreover, note that  $\epsilon = I_2(m_{st})$  has Coxeter number  $m_{st}$ . According to definition 3.2.6,  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  must have Coxeter number  $m_{st}$  as well. Denote the full subgraph  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  by K, and write its bipartite partition as  $K_s \cup K_t$ . If  $m_{st}$  is even, then lemma 3.3.3 gives

$$\Delta = P^{\frac{m_{st}}{2}}$$
$$= (\Delta_{K_s} \Delta_{K_t})^{\frac{m_{st}}{2}}$$
$$= prod(\Delta_{K_s}, \Delta_{K_t}; m_{st})$$
$$= prod(\Delta_{K_t}, \Delta_{K_s}; m_{st})$$

where the last positive equivalence is due to the fact that lemma 3.3.3 holds irrespective of the labeling of  $K_s$  and  $K_t$ . If  $m_{st}$  is odd, then lemma 3.3.3 gives  $\Delta = P^{\frac{m_{st}-1}{2}}P' =$  $P''P^{\frac{m_{st}-1}{2}}$ , which implies

$$\Delta = prod(\Delta_{K_s}, \Delta_{K_t}; m_{st}) = prod(\Delta_{K_t}, \Delta_{K_s}; m_{st})$$

By lemma 3.3.2,  $prod(\Delta_{K_s}, \Delta_{K_t}; m_{st}) = prod(\Delta_{K_t}, \Delta_{K_s}; m_{st}) = [\Delta_{K_s}, \Delta_{K_t}].$ 

**Corollary 3.3.4.** Let  $\Gamma(h)$  be the Coxeter graph corresponding to an irreducible finite type Coxeter group with Coxeter number h. Then the dihedral folding of  $\Gamma(h)$  onto  $I_2(h)$  defines an embedding  $\phi^f : \mathcal{A}^+(I_2(h)) \to \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma(h))$  between the Artin monoids. By theorem 3.2.3, there is an embedding between the corresponding Artin groups.

# 3.4 Examples of LCM-homomorphisms induced from foldings

In this section, we illustrate theorem 3.3.1 by giving examples of LCM-homomorphisms between Artin monoids defined by foldings. These monoid homomorphisms induce embeddings between the corresponding Artin groups. In all the examples, notice how the Coxeter numbers match for the Coxeter graphs in the domain and range of the folding. In example 4, we show by direct computations that the map  $\phi^f$  in theorem 3.3.1 is indeed a monoid homomorphism. This will hopefully bring about some appreciation for theorem 3.3.1. We remark that examples 4 and 5 will be used in sections 5.3 and 5.4 respectively.

### 1. The dihedral foldings $(A_3, +\epsilon)$ and $(A_3, -\epsilon)$ of $A_3$ onto $I_2(4)$ .

In this example, h = 4 (*h* is the Coxeter number of  $A_3$ ),  $K = \{s_1, s_2, s_3\}$ ,  $\Gamma' = A_3$ , and  $\Gamma = \epsilon = I_2(4)$ . Partition *K* into disjoint sets,  $K_s$  and  $K_t$ , of pairwise commuting generators. The only way to do that is by writing  $K = \{s_1, s_3\} \cup \{s_2\}$ . Depending on the labeling of  $K_s$  and  $K_t$ , there are two respective foldings  $(A_3, +\epsilon)$  and  $(A_3, -\epsilon)$ , corresponding to:

- (a)  $K_s = \{s_1, s_3\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_2\}$ .
- (b)  $K_s = \{s_2\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_1, s_3\}$ .

$$A_3 = \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} \bullet & \bullet \\ s_1 & s_2 & s_3 \end{array}}_{s_1 & s_2 & s_3 \end{array} \xrightarrow{f} \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \bullet \\ s & t \end{array}} = I_2(4)$$

By theorem 3.3.1, the folding  $(A_3, +\epsilon)$  of  $A_3$  onto  $I_2(4)$ , from the first labeling, induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi_{+}^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(4)) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(A_{3})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_{1}s_{3}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_{2}$$

Whereas the folding  $(A_3, -\epsilon)$  induces an LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi_{-}^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(4)) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(A_{3})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_{2}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_{1}s_{3}$$

Note that  $\phi_{-}^{f} = \phi_{+}^{f} \circ \psi$ , where  $\psi : \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(4)) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(4))$  is the homomorphism defined by  $s \mapsto t$  and  $t \mapsto s$ . Since  $\phi_{\pm}^{f}$  are LCM-homomorphisms, they are injective. By theorem 3.2.3, the induced homomorphisms between the corresponding Artin groups are injective.

### 2. The dihedral folding of $A_4$ onto $I_2(5)$ .

In this example, h = 5,  $K = \{s_1, s_2, s_3, s_4\}$ ,  $\Gamma' = A_4$ , and  $\Gamma = \epsilon = I_2(5)$ . Partition K into disjoint subsets  $K_s$  and  $K_t$  of mutually commuting elements. There is exactly one way to do that, namely  $K = \{s_1, s_3\} \cup \{s_2, s_4\}$ . There are two foldings  $(A_4, +\epsilon)$  and  $(A_4, -\epsilon)$  induced by the following labels:

- (a)  $K_s = \{s_1, s_3\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_2, s_4\}.$
- (b)  $K_s = \{s_2, s_4\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_1, s_3\}$ .

$$A_4 = \underbrace{\bullet}_{s_1 \ s_2 \ s_3 \ s_4} \xrightarrow{f} \underbrace{\bullet}_{s \ t} = I_2(5)$$

In the first case, the  $(A_4, \epsilon)$  folding f induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi_{+}^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(5)) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(A_{4})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_{1}s_{3}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_{2}s_{4}$$

In the second case,  $(A_4, -\epsilon)$  folding f induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi_{-}^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(5)) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(A_{4})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_{2}s_{4}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_{1}s_{3}$$

Notice that  $\phi^f_+$  can be obtained from  $\phi^f_-$  by precomposing with the isomorphism  $\psi$ :  $\mathcal{A}^+(I_2(5)) \to \mathcal{A}^+(I_2(5))$  mapping s to t and t to s. Since  $\phi^f_\pm$  are LCM-homomorphisms, they are injective. By theorem 3.2.3, the induced homomorphisms between the corresponding Artin groups are injective.

#### 3. The dihedral foldings $(B_3, +\epsilon)$ and $(B_3, -\epsilon)$ of $B_3$ onto $I_2(6)$ .

Here, h = 6,  $K = \{s_1, s_2, s_3\}$ ,  $\Gamma' = B_3$ , and  $\epsilon = I_2(6)$ . There are two foldings  $(B_3, +\epsilon)$ and  $(B_3, -\epsilon)$  of  $B_3$  onto  $I_2(6)$  based on the labeling of the partition  $K = \{s_1, s_3\} \cup \{s_2\}$ by  $K_s$  and  $K_t$ .

$$B_3 = \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} 4 \\ s_1 \end{array}}_{s_2 \end{array} \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} f \\ s_2 \end{array}}_{s_3} \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} f \\ \bullet \end{array}}_{s_1 \end{array} \underbrace{\begin{array}{ccc} 6 \\ \bullet \end{array}}_{s_1 \end{array} = I_2(6)$$

Choosing  $K_s = \{s_1, s_3\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_2\}$ , gives the  $(B_3, +\epsilon)$  folding  $f : B_3 \to I_2(6)$  which, by theorem 3.3.1, induces an LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(I_{2}(6)) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(B_{3})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_{1}s_{3}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_{2}$$

This monoid monomorphism induces an embedding of  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(6))$  into  $\mathcal{A}(B_3)$ . The  $(B_3, -\epsilon)$  folding, which induces a different embedding of  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(6))$  into  $\mathcal{A}(B_3)$ , is obtained by swapping  $K_s$  and  $K_t$ .

### 4. The $(A_3, \pm \epsilon)$ foldings of $A_{2n-1}$ and $D_{n+1}$ onto $B_n$ .

Consider the Coxeter graph  $B_n$  and denote by  $\epsilon$  its  $I_2(4)$  subgraph. Also consider the Coxeter graphs  $A_{2n-1}$  and  $D_{n+1}$  shown below



It can be verified that the simplicial map  $f_+: A_{2n-1} \to B_n$  defined by

$$f_{+}(v_{2}) = s_{n}$$

$$f_{+}(v_{i}) = s_{n-1}, \quad i = 1, 3$$

$$f_{+}(v'_{j}) = s_{j}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$

$$f_{+}(v''_{j}) = s_{j}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$

is the  $(A_3, +\epsilon)$  folding of  $A_{2n-1}$  onto  $B_n$ . One can also check that the simplicial map  $f_-: D_{n+1} \to B_n$  defined by

$$f_{-}(x_{2}) = s_{n-1}$$

$$f_{-}(x_{i}) = s_{n}, i = 1, 3$$

$$f_{-}(x'_{j}) = s_{j}, j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$

is the  $(A_3, -\epsilon)$  folding of  $D_{n+1}$  onto  $B_n$ . By theorem 3.3.1,  $(A_3, +\epsilon)$  and  $(A_3, -\epsilon)$ induce the LCM-homomorphisms given by

$$\phi_{+}^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(B_{n}) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(A_{2n-1})$$
$$\phi_{+}^{f}(s) = \Delta_{f_{+}^{-1}(s)}$$

and

$$\phi_{-}^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(B_{n}) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(D_{n+1})$$
$$\phi_{-}^{f}(s) = \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}$$

respectively. By theorem 3.2.3, there are embeddings between the corresponding Artin groups.

We end this example by showing directly why  $\phi_+^f$  is a monoid homomorphism. On one hand, this will shed some light on how this folding works, and on the other hand, it will help us appreciate theorem 3.3.1. From the definition of  $f_+$ , it is easily seen that

$$\phi_{+}^{f}(s_{n-1}) = v_{1}v_{3}$$
  

$$\phi_{+}^{f}(s_{n}) = v_{2}$$
  

$$\phi_{+}^{f}(s_{j}) = v'_{j}v''_{j}, \ j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$

We show that for every relation R in  $\mathcal{A}^+(B_n)$ ,  $\phi^f_+(R)$  is a relation in  $\mathcal{A}^+(A_{2n-1})$ . Recall that edgeless vertices commute and that vertices joined by an unlabeled edge satisfy the braid relation.

(1) Image of  $s_{n-1}s_ns_{n-1}s_n = s_ns_{n-1}s_ns_{n-1}$ 

$$v_1v_3v_2v_1v_3v_2 = v_3v_1v_2v_1v_3v_2$$

$$= v_3v_2v_1v_2v_3v_2$$

$$= v_3v_2v_1v_3v_2v_3$$

$$= v_3v_2v_3v_1v_2v_3$$

$$= v_2v_3v_2v_1v_2v_3$$

$$= v_2v_3v_1v_2v_1v_3$$

$$= v_2v_1v_3v_2v_1v_3$$

(2) Image of  $s_{n-1}s_{n-2}s_{n-1} = s_{n-2}s_{n-1}s_{n-2}$ 

$$v_{1}v_{3}v'_{n-2}v''_{n-2}v_{1}v_{3} = v_{3}v_{1}v'_{n-2}v''_{n-2}v_{1}v_{3}$$

$$= v_{3}v'_{n-2}v_{1}v'_{n-2}v_{1}v''_{n-2}v_{3}$$

$$= v'_{n-2}v_{1}v'_{n-2}v_{3}v''_{n-2}v_{3}$$

$$= v'_{n-2}v_{1}v'_{n-2}v''_{n-2}v_{3}v''_{n-2}$$

$$= v'_{n-2}v''_{n-2}v_{1}v'_{n-2}v_{3}v''_{n-2}$$

$$= v_{n-2}'v_{n-2}''v_1v_3v_{n-2}'v_{n-2}''$$

(3) Image of  $s_n s_j = s_j s_n$  for  $j = 1, \dots, n-2$ 

$$v_2 v'_j v''_j = v'_j v''_j v_2, \ j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$

(4) Image of  $s_{n-1}s_j = s_j s_{n-1}$  for  $j = 1, \dots, n-3$ 

$$v_1 v_3 v'_j v''_j = v'_j v''_j v_1 v_3, \ j = 1, \cdots, n-3$$

- (5) Suppose that  $j, k \in \{1, \cdots, n-2\}$  and  $j \neq k$ .
- (a) If  $m_{jk} = 2$  then  $s_j s_k = s_k s_j$ .

$$v'_j v''_j v'_k v''_k = v'_k v''_k v'_j v''_j$$

(b) If  $m_{jk} = 3$  then  $s_j s_k s_j = s_k s_j s_k$ .

$$\begin{aligned} v'_{j}v''_{j}v'_{k}v''_{k}v'_{j}v''_{j} &= v''_{j}v'_{j}v'_{k}v'_{j}v''_{k}v''_{j} \\ &= v'_{k}v''_{j}v'_{j}v'_{k}v''_{k}v''_{j} \\ &= v'_{k}v'_{j}v'_{k}v''_{j}v''_{k}v''_{j}\end{aligned}$$

$$= v'_{k}v'_{j}v'_{k}v''_{k}v''_{j}v''_{k}$$
$$= v'_{k}v''_{k}v'_{j}v'_{k}v''_{j}v''_{k}$$
$$= v'_{k}v''_{k}v''_{j}v''_{j}v'_{k}v''_{k}$$

### 5. The $(A_4,\epsilon)$ folding of $D_6$ onto $H_3$

Consider the Coxeter graph  $H_3$  and denote by  $\epsilon$  its  $I_2(5)$  subgraph.



The simplicial map  $f: D_6 \to H_3$  defined by:

$$f(a_i) = s, i = 1, 3$$
  

$$f(a_j) = t, j = 2, 4$$
  

$$f(a_k) = u, k = 5, 6$$

gives rise to the  $(A_4, \epsilon)$  folding, since it restricts to the dihedral folding of  $A_4$  over  $\epsilon$ and is trivial everywhere else. By theorem 3.3.1, f induces an LCM-homomorphism defined by

$$\phi^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(H_{3}) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(D_{6})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = a_{1}a_{3}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = a_{2}a_{4}$$
$$u \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(u)} = a_{5}a_{6}$$

By theorem 3.2.3, the induced homomorphism  $\phi_A^f : \mathcal{A}(H_3) \to \mathcal{A}(D_6)$  is an embedding.

# CHAPTER 4

# SURFACES ASSOCIATED WITH COXETER GRAPHS AND EMBEDDED GRAPHS

### 4.1 Chord diagrams, curve graphs, and embedded graphs

In this section, we define a chord diagram and associate a compact orientable surface to it. We also construct graphs corresponding to chord diagrams and relate them to Coxeter graphs. Moreover, we introduce two graphs associated with a finite collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$ of simple closed curves in an orientable surface S. The first is called the curve graph. It is a convenient way of encoding all the geometric intersections numbers  $i(a_j, a_k)$ . The second graph is called the embedded graph. It is simply the union  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ , viewed as an embedded one-dimensional simplicial complex in S.

**Definition 4.1.1.** A chord diagram in a closed disk D is a family  $s_1, \dots, s_n : [0, 1] \rightarrow D$  satisfying:

- $s_i: [0,1] \to D$  is an embedding for all  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ .
- $s_i(0), s_i(1) \in \partial D$  for all  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ .
- $s_i((0,1)) \cap \partial D = \emptyset$  for all  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ .
- For  $i \neq j$ , either  $s_i \cap s_j = \emptyset$  or  $s_i \cap s_j = \{x\}$ , where  $x \in intD$ .
- $s_i \cap s_j \cap s_k = \emptyset$  for distinct i, j, and k.



Figure 4.1: Surface defined by a chord diagram.

To a chord diagram, we associate a graph  $\Lambda$  whose vertices are the chords  $s_i$ , and two vertices are joined by an edge if the corresponding chords intersect. By setting  $m_{ij} = 2$ when  $s_i \cap s_j = \emptyset$  and  $m_{ij} = 3$  when  $s_i \cap s_j \neq \emptyset$ , the graph  $\Lambda$  defines a Coxeter matrix  $M = (m_{ij})$ . So, we can think of  $\Lambda$  as a Coxeter graph whose vertex set consists of the chords  $s_i$ , and whose edges are defined above.

From a chord diagram, one can define a compact orientable surface by attaching bands to D as in Figure 4.1.

**Definition 4.1.2.** Let  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  be a collection of pairwise nonisotopic simple closed curves in an orientable S. Assume that the  $a_i$  intersect efficiently in the sense of definition 1.2.1. To this collection, we associate a graph CG, called the **curve graph** of the  $a_i$ . The vertices of CG are the curves  $a_i$ , and two vertices are joined by an edge whenever  $i(a_i, a_j) > 0$ . When  $i(a_i, a_j) > 1$ , the edge between  $a_i$  and  $a_j$  is labeled  $x_{ij}$  where  $x_{ij} = i(a_i, a_j)$ . When  $i(a_i, a_j) = 1$ , suppress the label.

By setting  $m_{ij} = 2$  when  $i(a_i, a_j) = 0$ ,  $m_{ij} = 3$  when  $i(a_i, a_j) = 1$ , and  $m_{ij} = \infty$  when  $i(a_i, a_j) \ge 2$ , the curve graph CG defines a Coxeter matrix  $M = (m_{ij})$ . So, CG can be viewed as a Coxeter graph whose vertices are the simple closed curves  $a_i$  and whose edge are defined above.

Given a finite collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  of simple closed curves in S, the curve graph of

the  $a_i$  is an efficient tool for encoding the geometric intersections  $i(a_i, a_j)$ .

**Definition 4.1.3.** Let  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  be a collection of simple closed curves in an orientable surface S, and assume that the  $a_i$  intersect efficiently in the sense of definition 1.2.1. The **embedded graph**  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{G}$  associated with the  $a_i$ , is  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$  viewed as a one-dimensional simplicial complex embedded in S. So, the vertex set of  $\mathcal{E}\mathcal{G}$  consists of the intersection points between the  $a_i$ , and the edge set consists of the arcs joining the intersection points.

Given an embedded graph  $\mathcal{EG}$  corresponding to a finite collection  $\{a_1, \cdots, a_n\}$  of simple closed curves in S, we associate to it the compact surface  $N_{\epsilon}$ , which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ . Note that  $N_{\epsilon}$  deformation retracts to  $\mathcal{EG}$ . By the homotopy invariance of the Euler characteristic, it follows that

$$\chi(N_{\epsilon}) = \chi(\mathcal{EG})$$

 $\chi(N_{\epsilon}) = 2 - 2g - b$ , where g represents the genus and b represents the number of boundary components of  $N_{\epsilon}$ . Moreover,  $\chi(\mathcal{EG}) = v - e$ , where v and e represent the respective cardinalities of the vertex and edge sets of  $\mathcal{EG}$ . Hence,

$$g = \frac{e - b - v + 2}{2} \tag{4.1}$$

In subsequent sections, we shall use equation 4.1 to compute the genus of  $N_{\epsilon} = N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3)$  and consequently determine its topological type.

# 4.2 Surfaces determined by chord diagrams corresponding to $A_n$ and $D_n$

In this section, we determine the topological types of the compact surfaces associated with the chord diagrams corresponding to  $A_n$  and  $D_n$ .



Figure 4.2: The cases n = 2, 3.  $|\partial S_{A_2}| = 1$  and  $|\partial S_{A_3}| = 2$ . Distinct boundary components are shown in different colors.

Notation Let  $\Gamma$  be a small type Coxeter graph (ie  $m_{st} \leq 3$  for all s, t) which is a tree. Let S be an arbitrary orientable surface and  $a_1, \dots, a_n$  be simple closed curves in S whose curve graph  $\mathcal{CG}$  is isomorphic to  $\Gamma$ . Let  $N_{\epsilon}$  be a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$  in S. It is very simple to check that the topological type of  $N_{\epsilon}$  is independent of S or  $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^{n}$ , and only depends on  $\Gamma$ . This justifies using the notation  $S_{\Gamma}$  for  $N_{\epsilon}$ . In particular,  $S_{A_n}$ (respectively  $S_{D_n}$ ) shall henceforth denote a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ , where  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  is a collection of simple closed curves in S with curve graph  $A_n$  (respectively  $D_n$ ).

**Theorem 4.2.1.** Let  $n \ge 2$  be an integer. If a collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  of simple closed curves forms an n-chain in S (ie the  $a_i$  have curve graph  $A_n$ ), then

- (i)  $S_{A_n}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n}{2},1}$  when n is even, and
- (ii)  $S_{A_n}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},2}$  when n is odd.

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on n to determine the number of boundary components of  $S_{A_n}$ . The cases n = 2, 3 are shown in figure 4.2. These constitute the base cases for induction when n is even and odd.

Assume that  $|\partial S_{A_n}| = 1$  for some even  $n \ge 4$ . We shall use induction to prove  $|\partial S_{A_{n+1}}| = 2$ . Then, we use  $|\partial S_{A_{n+1}}| = 2$  to show that  $|\partial S_{A_{n+2}}| = 1$ . In order to construct



Figure 4.3: Constructing  $S_{A_{n+1}}$  from  $S_{A_n}$  by attaching a band.

 $S_{A_{n+1}}$  from  $S_{A_n}$ , we first remove the open arcs  $c_1$  and  $d_1$  from  $\partial S_{A_n}$  as shown in figure 4.3(a). What remains from  $\partial S_{A_n}$  are the two disjoint closed red and blue arcs shown in figure 4.3(b). Now attach the  $(n + 1)^{st}$  band to  $\partial S_{A_n} \setminus \{c_1 \cup d_1\}$  as in figure 4.3(c). It can be seen in figure 4.3(c) that two colors suffice to trace the boundary of  $S_{A_{n+1}}$ . Thus,  $|\partial S_{A_{n+1}}| = 2$ .



Figure 4.4: Constructing  $S_{A_{n+2}}$  from  $S_{A_{n+1}}$  by attaching a band.

To construct  $S_{A_{n+2}}$  from  $S_{A_{n+1}}$ , first remove open arcs  $c_2$  and  $d_2$  from  $\partial S_{A_{n+1}}$  as in figure 4.4(a). What remains from  $\partial S_{A_{n+1}}$  are the two disjoint closed arcs in red and blue in

figure 4.4(b). After attaching the  $(n+2)^{nd}$  band, one can see from figure 4.4(c) that only one color suffices to trace the boundary of  $S_{A_{n+2}}$ . Hence,  $|\partial S_{A_{n+2}}| = 1$ .



Figure 4.5:  $S_{A_n}$  deformation retracts onto its embedded graph. As such, their Euler characteristics are equal.

To determine the genus of  $S_{A_n}$ , note that it deformation retracts to the graph of figure 4.5. This graph has n - 1 vertices and 2(n - 1) edges. So its Euler characteristic equals 1 - n. Since the Euler characteristic is homotopy type invariant, it follows that  $\chi(S_{A_n}) = 1 - n$ . When n is even, 2 - 2g - 1 = 1 - n implies  $g = \frac{n}{2}$ . When n is odd, 2 - 2g - 2 = 1 - n implies  $g = \frac{n-1}{2}$ .



Figure 4.6: Constructing  $S_{D_n}$  from  $S_{A_{n-1}}$  by attaching a band.

**Theorem 4.2.2.** Let  $n \ge 4$  be an integer. If a collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  of simple closed curves in S have curve graph  $D_n$ , then

(i)  $S_{D_n}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n-2}{2},3}$  when n is even, and

(ii)  $S_{D_n}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},2}$  when n is odd.

*Proof.* Assume that n is even. By theorem 4.2.1, the subsurface  $S_{A_{n-1}}$  determined by  $a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}$  has two boundary components. To construct  $S_{D_n}$  from  $S_{A_{n-1}}$ , first remove the open arcs  $c_3$  and  $d_3$  shown in figure 4.6(a). What remains from  $\partial S_{A_{n-1}}$  are the two closed arcs in figure 4.6(b). Now attach the  $n^{th}$  band to obtain  $S_{D_n}$ . As shown in figure 4.6(c), three colors are needed to trace the boundary of  $S_{D_n}$ . Hence,  $|\partial S_{D_n}| = 3$ .



Figure 4.7: Constructing  $S_{D_{n+1}}$  from  $S_{D_n}$  by attaching a band.

Using the fact that  $|\partial S_{D_n}| = 3$  when *n* is even, we now show that  $|\partial S_{D_{n+1}}| = 2$ . To do so, remove arcs  $c_4$  and  $d_4$  from  $\partial S_{D_n}$  as shown in figure 4.7(a). What remains remains from  $\partial S_{D_n}$  are the red and blue arcs and yellow simple closed curve shown in figure 4.7(b). Now attach the  $(n+1)^{st}$  band to obtain  $S_{D_{n+1}}$ . Figure 4.7 shows that  $S_{D_{n+1}}$  has two boundary components. Finally, the genus can be found using equation 4.1.

## **4.3** Surface associated with $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$

Consider the affine Coxeter graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$  defined in section 3.1. In this section, we will associate to  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$  a compact orientable surface  $\widetilde{S}$  and determine its topological type.  $\widetilde{S}$ is constructed as follows. For each  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ , associate to the vertex  $s_i$  a compact annulus  $A_{s_i}$ , and define  $\widetilde{S}$  to be the union of the annuli  $A_{s_i}$  modulo the relation  $\approx$  defined as follows.

For each  $j \in \{1, \dots, n\}$  such that  $m_{ij} = 3$ , the relation  $\approx$  identifies a square in  $A_{s_i}$  with a square in  $A_{s_j}$  so that two opposite sides of the identified square lie in  $\partial A_{s_i}$  and the other two opposite sides lie in  $\partial A_{s_j}$  (See Figure 4.8). If more than one j satisfy  $m_{ij} = 3$ , we stipulate that the identified squares are mutually disjoint. Note that each  $s_i$  has two neighboring vertices. More precisely,  $m_{ij} = 3$  for j congruent to i-1, i+1 modulo n. Hence modulo n,  $A_{s_i}$  is glued to both  $A_{s_{i-1}}$  and  $A_{s_{i+1}}$  at disjoint squares. We restrict to gluings so that the above construction yields an orientable surface

$$\widetilde{S} := (\coprod_{i=1}^n A_{s_i}) / \approx$$

Pick an orientation on  $\widetilde{S}$ . For each annulus  $A_{s_i}$ , let  $a_i : S^1 \to \widetilde{S}$  be its core curve. Choose an orientation for each  $a_i$ , and consider the union  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$ . This union can be viewed as an embedded graph in the surface  $\widetilde{S}$ . Denote this graph by  $\mathcal{EG}$ , and note that it has nvertices and 2n edges.

Denote the vertices and edges of  $\mathcal{EG}$  by  $v_1, \dots, v_n$  and  $e_1^+, e_1^-, \dots, e_n^+, e_n^-$  respectively. We label the vertices and edges of  $\mathcal{EG}$  as follows.

- Modulo  $n, a_i = e_i^+ \cup e_i^-$ .
- Modulo n, set  $v_i = a_i \cap a_{i+1}$ .
- Modulo n, set  $e_i^+$  to be the edge of  $a_i$  which starts at  $v_{i-1}$  and ends at  $v_i$ , with respect to the orientation of  $a_i$ .



Figure 4.8: The annuli  $A_{s_{i-1}}$  and  $A_{s_{i+1}}$  are glued to the annulus  $A_{s_i}$  at disjoint squares.

- Modulo n, set  $e_i^-$  to be the edge of  $a_i$  which starts at  $v_i$  and ends at  $v_{i-1}$ , with respect to the orientation of  $a_i$ .
- The orientations of  $e_i^+$  and  $e_i^-$  are induced from  $a_i$ .

For each *i*, consider the annulus  $A_{s_i}$  in  $\tilde{S}$ . Recall that, modulo *n*,  $A_{s_i}$  is glued to the annuli  $A_{s_{i-1}}$  and  $A_{s_{i+1}}$  at two disjoint squares. By removing those squares from  $A_{s_i}$ , the closure of the complement is a disjoint union of two rectangles  $B_i^+$  and  $B_i^-$ . To distinguish them, let  $B_i^+$  be such that  $B_i^+ \cap e_i^+ \neq \emptyset$  and  $B_i^-$  so that  $B_i^- \cap e_i^- \neq \emptyset$ . Now, define  $Re_i^+$  and  $Le_i^+$  to be the segments of  $\partial B_i^+ \cap \partial \tilde{S}$  which are to the right and left of  $e_i^+$  respectively, with respect to the orientations of  $\tilde{S}$  and  $e_i^+$ . Similarly, define  $Re_i^-$  and  $Le_i^-$  to be the respective segments of  $\partial B_i^- \cap \partial \tilde{S}$  which are to the right and left of  $e_i^-$  (see figure 4.9 for illustration). We shall call  $Re_i^+$ ,  $Le_i^+$ ,  $Re_i^-$ , and  $Le_i^-$  boundary segments. Notice that

$$\partial \widetilde{S} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (Re_i^+ \cup Le_i^+ \cup Re_i^- \cup Le_i^-)$$

As such,  $\partial \widetilde{S}$  consists of 4n boundary segments. If we declare that each boundary segment has length 1, then the union of all the boundary segments has length 4n. Since each boundary component of  $\widetilde{S}$  must close up, we shall refer to such components as boundary cycles.



Figure 4.9: This picture illustrates the edges of  $\mathcal{EG}$  around the vertex  $v_i$  when  $v_i$  has index +1 (left) and -1 (right). It also shows how to label the boundary segments around the simple closed curves  $a_i$  and  $a_{i+1}$ . Moreover, the proof of lemma 4.3.2 can be read out from this figure.

**Definition 4.3.1.** A vertex  $v_i$  of  $\mathcal{EG}$  is said to have index +1 if, modulo n,  $a_{i+1}$  crosses  $a_i$  from left to right at  $v_i$ . If  $a_{i+1}$  crosses  $a_i$  from right to left at  $v_i$ , then  $v_i$  is said to have index -1.

If one starts at some boundary segment  $e \in \{Re_i^+, Le_i^+, Re_i^-, Le_i^-\}$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, n$ , and moves along a boundary path (with no backtracking), then the next boundary segment in the path depends on whether the next occurring vertex has index +1 or -1. The following lemma explains this fact.

**Notation** If e and f are two boundary segments in a boundary path of  $\widetilde{S}$ , write  $e \to f$  to mean that f comes directly after e in the path.

**Lemma 4.3.2.** Start at the boundary segment  $e \in \{Re_i^+, Le_i^+, Re_i^-, Le_i^-\}$  for some  $i = 1, \dots, n$  and move towards the vertex  $v_i$  (as opposed to  $v_{i-1}$ ) along a boundary path of  $\widetilde{S}$ . If  $v_i$  has index +1, then

$$\begin{aligned} Re_i^+ &\to Re_{i+1}^+ \\ Le_i^+ &\to Re_{i+1}^- \\ Re_i^- &\to Le_{i+1}^+ \\ Le_i^- &\to Le_{i+1}^- \end{aligned}$$

If  $v_i$  has index -1, then

$$\begin{aligned} Re_i^+ &\to Le_{i+1}^- \\ Le_i^+ &\to Le_{i+1}^+ \\ Re_i^- &\to Re_{i+1}^- \\ Le_i^- &\to Re_{i+1}^+ \end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* The proof can be read out directly from Figure 4.9.

Note that if one starts at the edge e (from lemma 4.3.2) and heads towards  $v_i$ , then the following boundary segment will track an edge of  $a_{i+1}$ . In this manner, the index of the tracked segments always increases by one modulo n.

Consider the surface  $\widetilde{S} := (\coprod_{i=1}^{n} A_{s_i}) / \approx$  along with the core simple closed curves  $a_i$  in  $A_{s_i}$ . Recall that  $v_i = a_i \cap a_{i+1}$  modulo n. First, pick an orientation on  $a_1$ . Next, orient  $a_2$  so that  $v_1$  has index +1. Then, orient  $a_3$  so that  $v_2$  has index +1. Repeat this process for all  $j = 4, \dots, n-1$ . That is, orient  $a_{j+1}$  such that  $v_j$  has index +1. It remains to determine the index  $v_n = a_n \cap a_1$ . Since the orientation on  $a_n$  was already chosen, we are not free to choose the index of  $v_n$ . This index is either +1 or -1 depending on how  $a_n$  intersects  $a_1$ . Based on this, there are two cases. In the first case, all the  $v_i$  have index +1. In the second case,  $v_1, \dots, v_{n-1}$  all have index +1, whereas  $v_n$  has index -1.

**Definition 4.3.3.** Let  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  be a collection of simple closed curves in an orientable surface S. Assume that the curve graph of the  $a_i$  is  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$  and set  $v_i = a_i \cap a_{i+1}$  modulo n,  $i = 1, \dots, n$ . We say that that the collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  is of **type I** if every  $v_i$  has index +1, and of **type II** if  $v_1, \dots, v_{n-1}$  all have index +1 and  $v_n$  has index -1.

Let  $N_a$  denote a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ . We say that  $N_a$  is of **type I** if  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  is of type I and  $N_a$  is of **type II** if  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  is of type II.

**Theorem 4.3.4.** Denote by b the number of boundary components of  $\widetilde{S}$ . If n is odd, then  $\widetilde{S}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},3}$ . If n is even and  $\widetilde{S}$  is of type I, then  $\widetilde{S}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n-2}{2},4}$ . If n is even and  $\widetilde{S}$  is of type II, then  $\widetilde{S}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$ .



Figure 4.10: Collections of Type I and Type II.

*Proof.* It is easy to see that  $\widetilde{S}$  deformation retracts to the graph  $\mathcal{EG}$ . So,  $\chi(\widetilde{S}) = \chi(\mathcal{EG})$ .

$$\chi(\widetilde{S}) = 2 - 2g - b$$
$$\chi(\mathcal{EG}) = n - 2n = -n$$

Hence, g = (n - b + 2)/2. It remains to find b. Doing that involves two cases each of which includes two sub cases. The two cases consider whether n (which is the number of vertices  $v_i$ ) is odd or even. In turn, each sub case considers whether  $\tilde{S}$  is of type I or II.

Case A. 
$$n$$
 is odd.

**Case A1.**  $\widetilde{S}$  is of type I.

Start at  $Re_1^-$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. Lemma 4.3.2 gives the following cycle  $C_1$  of length 2n.



Start  $Re_1^+$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. Lemma 4.3.2 gives the following cycle  $C_2$  of length n.



Finally, start  $Le_1^-$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we have the following cycle  $C_3$  of length n.



It is easy to see that  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are distinct cycles. Since  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ , and  $C_3$  are boundary cycles whose lengths add up to 4n, they are all the boundary cycles of  $\tilde{S}$ . So, b = 3. **Case A2.**  $\tilde{S}$  is of type II.

Start at  $Re_1^+$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. Lemma 4.3.2 gives the following cycle  $C_1$  of length 2n.



Start at  $Re_1^-$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we have the following cycle  $C_2$  of length n.



Start at  $Le_1^+$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we have the following cycle  $C_3$  of length n.



Clearly, the cycles  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are distinct. Since the  $C_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 are boundary cycles whose lengths add up to 4n, they must be all the boundary cycles of  $\tilde{S}$ . Therefore, b = 3in this case as well. This concludes the case when n is odd.

So the are always three boundary components when n is odd. However, in Case A1, the cycle containing  $Re_i^-$  has length 2n and the other two cycles have length n. In Case A2, the cycle containing  $Re_i^+$  has length 2n.

Case B. n is even.

**Case B1.**  $\widetilde{S}$  is of type I.

Start at  $Re_1^+$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. Lemma 4.3.2 gives the following cycle  $C_1$  of length n.



Start at  $Le_1^+$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we have the following cycle  $C_2$  of length n.



Start at  $Re_1^-$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we have the following cycle  $C_3$  of length n.



Start at  $Le_1^-$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we have the following cycle  $C_4$  of length n.



This produces four distinct boundary cycles  $C_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4 each with length n. Since the lengths of the  $C_i$  add up to 4n, the  $c_i$  must be all the boundary cycles of  $\tilde{S}$ . As such, the number of boundary components b = 4.

Case B. n is even.

**Case B2.**  $\widetilde{S}$  is of type II.

Start at  $Re_1^+$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. Lemma 4.3.2 gives the following cycle  $C_1$  of length 2n.



Start at  $Re_1^-$ , move towards  $v_1$ , and then follow the boundary cycle. By lemma 4.3.2, we

have the following cycle  $C_2$  of length 2n.



It is easy to check that  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are distinct boundary cycles. Since the lengths of  $C_1$ and  $C_2$  add up to 4n, they are all the boundary cycles of  $\tilde{S}$ . Therefore, b = 2.

Finally, putting in the appropriate value of b in g = (n - b + 2)/2 gives the genus of  $\widetilde{S}$  in each case.

In the proof of theorem 4.3.4, it was proved that  $\partial \tilde{S}$  has three connected components (or cycles) when n is odd. Moreover, the proof shows that one of the cycles is distinguished in the sense that it has length 2n, whereas each of the other two cycles has length n. Based on this observation, we make the following definition. This definition will be used in section 7.7.

**Definition 4.3.5.** Let  $n \ge 3$  be an odd integer and consider the surface  $\widetilde{S}$  associated with the Coxeter graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . By theorem 4.3.4,  $\widetilde{S}$  has three boundary components (or cycles) of length n, n, and 2n. We say that a boundary component of  $\widetilde{S}$  is distinguished if it has length 2n.

**Corollary 4.3.6.** For all *i*,  $Re_i^+$  and  $Le_i^+$  belong to different boundary cycles, and  $Re_i^-$  and  $Le_i^-$  belong to different boundary cycles.

*Proof.* It suffices to show the corollary for i = 1. From theorem 4.3.4, we can see that in Case A1,  $Re_1^-, Le_1^+ \in C_1, Re_1^+ \in C_2$ , and  $Le_1^- \in C_3$ . In Case A2,  $Re_1^+, Le_1^- \in C_1, Re_1^- \in C_2$ , and  $Le_1^+ \in C_3$ . In Case B1  $Re_1^+ \in C_1, Le_1^+ \in C_2, Re_1^- \in C_3$ , and  $Le_1^- \in C_4$ . Finally, in Case B2,  $Re_1^+, Le_1^- \in C_1$  and  $Re_1^-, Le_1^+ \in C_2$ .

**Corollary 4.3.7.**  $\widetilde{S}$  is not homeomorphic to the surface F determined by the chord diagram of  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ .

*Proof.* It is obvious that F deformation retracts to a wedge of n circles. As such,

$$\chi(F) = 1 - n \neq -n = \chi(\widetilde{S})$$

## CHAPTER 5

# EMBEDDING ARTIN GROUPS INTO MOD(S)

### 5.1 Geometric homomorphisms

In this section, we discuss a natural homomorphism which relates Artin groups to mapping class groups. It is a very useful tool in the sense that it acts as a bridge between the two types of groups. It allows us to transfer interesting properties of Artin groups to Mod(S).

Let  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$  be an Artin group of small type. That is,  $m_{ij} \leq 3$  for all i, j. Let  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$ be a collection of simple closed curves in S with curve graph  $\Gamma$ . Since  $\Gamma$  is of small type, no two curves in the collection intersect more than once. There is a natural homomorphism  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \to Mod(S)$  mapping the standard generator  $\sigma_i$  of  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$  to the (left) Dehn twist  $T_i$ along  $a_i$ . That this map is a homomorphism follows immediately from facts 1.3.7 and 1.3.8 and the definitions of a Coxeter graph and a curve graph.

In fact, it is easy to produce geometric homomorphisms from other Artin groups (not necessarily of finite type) to Mod(S). Indeed, consider an arbitrary collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$ of simple closed curves in S with curve graph  $\mathcal{CG}$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be the graph obtained from  $\mathcal{CG}$  by replacing every edge label  $x_{ij} \geq 2$  with  $\infty$ . It is easy to check that the map  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \to Mod(S)$ sending the standard generators  $\sigma_i$  to the Dehn twists  $T_i$  along  $a_i$  is a homomorphism. While producing homomorphisms is straightforward, the question of whether such homomorphisms are injective is quite hard. **Definition 5.1.1.** A homomorphism  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \to Mod(S)$  is said to be geometric if it maps the standard generators of  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$  to Dehn twists in Mod(S). Otherwise, the homomorphism is non-geometric.

Building on the work of Birman and Hilden [2], Perron and Vannier established the following useful result in [24]

**Theorem 5.1.2** (Perron-Vannier). Let  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  be a collection of simple closed curves in S and denote by  $T_i$  the (left) Dehn twist along  $a_i$ . Suppose that the curve graph  $C\mathcal{G}$  of the  $a_i$  is of type  $\Gamma = A_n$  or  $D_n$ . If  $s_i$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, n$  represent the standard generators of  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$ , then the geometric homomorphism  $g : \mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \to Mod(S_{\Gamma})$  defined by  $s_i \mapsto T_i$  is injective.

### 5.2 Least common multiple lemma

Before finding explicit embeddings of Artin groups into Mod(S), we prove a crucial lemma. This lemma determines the least common multiple of a finite set of mutually commuting (standard) generators in a finite type Artin monoid.

**Lemma 5.2.1.** Let (W, S) be a finite type Coxeter system with Coxeter graph  $\Gamma$ . If  $T = \{t_1, \dots, t_k\}$  is a subset of S consisting of pairwise commuting generators, then the least common multiple  $\Delta_T$ , of T in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  exists and is given by  $t_{\sigma(1)}t_{\sigma(2)}\cdots t_{\sigma(k)}$ ,  $\sigma \in \Sigma_k$ 

Proof. Set  $\alpha = t_1 t_2 \cdots t_k$ . Since the  $t_i$  pairwise commute,  $\alpha$  is a common multiple of T. Suppose that  $\beta$  is another common multiple of T. Then for each  $i = 1, \cdots, k, \exists x_i \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  such that  $\beta = t_i x_i$ . In particular,  $t_1 x_1 = t_{j_1} x_{j_1}$  for all  $j_1 \in \{2, \cdots, k\}$ . By lemma 3.1.2 (reduction lemma),  $\exists W_{1j_1} \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  such that  $x_1 = t_{j_1} W_{1j_1}$  for all  $j_1$  (note that we used the assumption  $m_{t_1t_{j_1}} = 2$ ). In particular,  $t_2 W_{12} = t_{j_2} W_{1j_2}$  for all  $j_2 \in \{3, \cdots, k\}$ . By the reduction lemma,  $\exists W_{12j_2} \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  such that  $W_{12} = t_{j_2} W_{12j_2}$  for all  $j_2$ . In particular,  $t_3 W_{123} = t_{j_3} W_{12j_3}$  for all  $j_3 \in \{4, \cdots, k\}$ . By the reduction lemma,  $\exists W_{123j_3} \in \mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$  such that  $W_{123} = t_{j_3} W_{123j_3}$  for all  $j_3$ . Repeating the same process, one gets  $W_{12\cdots r} = t_{j_r} W_{12\cdots j_r}$  for all  $j_r \in \{r+1, \cdots, k\}$ , where  $r \in \{4, \cdots, k\}$ . In particular, when  $j_1 = 2$ ,  $j_2 = 3$ ,  $j_3 = 4$  and  $j_r = r + 1$  for all  $r \in \{4, \dots, k\}$ , the following equalities hold in  $\mathcal{A}^+(\Gamma)$ :

$$x_1 = t_2 W_{12}$$
$$W_{12} = t_3 W_{123}$$
$$W_{123} = t_4 W_{1234}$$
$$\vdots$$
$$W_{12\cdots k-1} = t_k W_{12\cdots k}$$

Hence,  $\beta = t_1 x_1 = t_1 t_2 W_{12} = t_1 t_2 t_3 W_{123} = \cdots = t_1 t_2 \cdots t_k W_{12 \cdots k} = \alpha W_{12 \cdots k}$ . Therefore,  $\alpha | \beta$  and  $\Delta_T = \alpha$ .

## **5.3 Embedding** $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$ into Mod(S)

We use the LCM-homomorphisms induced by foldings and the geometric homomorphism to give two non-geometric embeddings of  $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$  into the mapping class groups  $Mod(S_{A_{2n-1}})$ and  $Mod(S_{D_{n+1}})$ .

**Theorem 5.3.1.** Let  $n \ge 3$  be an integer. Suppose that curves  $v'_1, v'_2, \dots, v'_{n-2}, v_1, v_2, v_3, v''_{n-2}$ ,  $v''_2, \dots, v''_1$  form a (2n-1)-chain in  $S_{A_{2n-1}}$  (recall that  $S_{A_{2n-1}}$  is a closed regular neighborhood of the union of these curves). Then the curve graph is

If  $T_i$ ,  $T'_i$ , and  $T''_i$  denote the respective (left) Dehn twists along  $v_i$ ,  $v'_i$ , and  $v''_i$ , then the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{A_{2n-1}})$  generated by the set  $\{T'_jT''_j, T_1T_3, T_2 \mid j = 1, \dots, n-2\}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$ . More precisely, if we set  $\sigma_j = T'_jT''_j$  for  $j = 1, \dots, n-2$ ,  $\sigma_{n-1} = T_1T_3$ , and  $\sigma_n = T_2$ , then

$$G = \langle \sigma_1, \cdots, \sigma_n | \sigma_j \sigma_{j+1} \sigma_j = \sigma_{j+1} \sigma_j \sigma_{j+1} \text{ for } j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$
  
$$\sigma_j \sigma_k = \sigma_k \sigma_j \text{ for } |j-k| \ge 2, \ \sigma_{n-1} \sigma_n \sigma_{n-1} \sigma_n = \sigma_n \sigma_{n-1} \sigma_n \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$$



Figure 5.1: This picture illustrates theorem 5.3.1 when n = 4. By theorem 4.2.1,  $S_{A_7}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{3,2}$ . The subgroup of  $Mod(S_{3,2})$  generated by  $T'_1T''_1$ ,  $T'_2T''_2$ ,  $T_1T_3$  and  $T_2$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(B_4)$ .

*Proof.* As shown in example 4 of section 3.4, the  $(A_3, +\epsilon)$  folding of  $A_{2n-1}$  onto  $B_n$  induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(B_{n}) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(A_{2n-1})$$
$$s_{j} \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{j})}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$
$$s_{n-1} \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{n-1})}$$
$$s_{n} \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{n})}$$

By Lemma 5.2.1,  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s_n)} = v_2$ ,  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{n-1})} = v_1v_3$ , and  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s_j)} = v'_jv''_j$ . By Theorem 3.2.3,  $\phi^f$  induces an embedding  $\phi : \mathcal{A}(B_n) \to \mathcal{A}(A_{2n-1})$ . Theorem 5.1.2 implies that the geometric homomorphism  $g : \mathcal{A}(A_{2n-1}) \to Mod(S_{A_{2n-1}})$  is injective. Hence,  $g \circ \phi$  is an isomorphism of  $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$  onto its image. This image is the subgroup of  $Mod(S_{A_{2n-1}})$ generated by  $\{T_2, T_1T_3, T'_jT''_j \mid j = 1, \cdots, n-2\}$ .

**Theorem 5.3.2.** Let  $n \ge 3$  be an integer. Suppose that curves  $x'_1, x'_2, \dots, x'_{n-2}, x_1, x_2, x_3$ have curve graph





Figure 5.2: This picture illustrates theorem 5.3.2 when n = 4. By theorem 4.2.2,  $S_{D_5}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{2,2}$ . The subgroup of  $Mod(S_{2,2})$  generated by  $T'_1$ ,  $T'_2$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_1T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(B_4)$ .

If  $T_i$  and  $T'_i$  represent the respective (left) Dehn twists along  $x_i$  and  $x'_i$ , then the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{D_{n+1}})$  generated by the set  $\{T'_j, T_2, T_1T_3 \mid j = 1, \dots, n-2\}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(B_n)$ . Specifically, if we set  $\sigma_j = T'_j$  for  $j = 1, \dots, n-2$ ,  $\sigma_{n-1} = T_2$ , and  $\sigma_n = T_1T_3$ , then

$$G = \langle \sigma_1, \cdots, \sigma_n | \sigma_j \sigma_{j+1} \sigma_j = \sigma_{j+1} \sigma_j \sigma_{j+1} \text{ for } j = 1, \cdots, n-2$$
  
$$\sigma_j \sigma_k = \sigma_k \sigma_j \text{ for } |j-k| \ge 2, \ \sigma_{n-1} \sigma_n \sigma_{n-1} \sigma_n = \sigma_n \sigma_{n-1} \sigma_n \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$$

*Proof.* It follows from example 4 of section 3.4 that the  $(A_3, -\epsilon)$  folding of  $D_{n+1}$  onto  $B_n$  induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(B_{n}) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(D_{n+1})$$

$$s_{n} \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{n})} = x_{1}x_{3}$$

$$s_{n-1} \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{n-1})} = x_{2}$$

$$s_{j} \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s_{j})} = x'_{j}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n - 1$$

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

 $\phi^f$  induces a monomorphism  $\phi$  between the corresponding Artin groups. Since the geometric homomorphism  $g: \mathcal{A}(D_{n+1}) \to Mod(S_{D_{n+1}})$  is injective,  $g \circ \phi : \mathcal{A}(B_n) \to G$  is a geometric isomorphism. As such, G has the desired presentation.  $\Box$
### **5.4 Embedding** $\mathcal{A}(H_3)$ into Mod(S)

**Theorem 5.4.1.** Suppose that curves  $a_1, \dots, a_6$  in  $S_{D_6} = S_{2,3}$  have curve graph



Then the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{2,3})$  generated by  $T_1T_3$ ,  $T_2T_4$ , and  $T_5T_6$  is isomorphic to the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(H_3)$ . More precisely, if we set  $\sigma_1 = T_1T_3$ ,  $\sigma_2 = T_2T_4$ , and  $\sigma_3 = T_5T_6$ , then

 $G = \langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3 | \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_1 = \sigma_2 \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_1 \sigma_2 , \sigma_1 \sigma_3 = \sigma_3 \sigma_1 , \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_2 = \sigma_3 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \rangle$ 



Figure 5.3: This picture illustrates theorem 5.4.1. By theorem 4.2.2,  $S_{D_6}$  has topological type  $S_{2,3}$ . The subgroup of  $Mod(S_{2,3})$  generated by  $T_1T_3$ ,  $T_2T_4$ , and  $T_5T_6$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(H_3)$ .

*Proof.* As seen in example 5 section 3.4, the  $(A_4, \epsilon)$  folding of  $D_6$  onto  $H_3$  induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi^{f} : \mathcal{A}^{+}(H_{3}) \to \mathcal{A}^{+}(D_{6})$$
$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = a_{1}a_{3}$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = a_{2}a_{4}$$
$$u \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(u)} = a_{5}a_{6}$$

The composition  $g \circ \phi$  of the induced Artin group homomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A}(H_3) \to \mathcal{A}(D_6)$  and the geometric homomorphism  $g : \mathcal{A}(D_6) \to Mod(S_{2,3})$  gives the desired isomorphism.  $\Box$ 

# 5.5 $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ as a subgroup of Mod(S)

In this section, we study isomorphic images of the affine Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{A}_{n-1})$  in Mod(S). First, we find a geometric embedding of  $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{A}_{n-1})$  into  $Mod(S_{A_n})$ . From this, we obtain a geometric embedding of  $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{A}_{n-1})$  into  $Mod(\tilde{S})$ , where  $\tilde{S}$  is the surface defined in section 4.3. Next, we prove a fundamental lemma (lemma 5.5.3) which states that given two collections  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  and  $\{a'_1, \dots, a'_n\}$  of simple closed curves with curve graphs  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$ , the subgroups G of  $Mod(N_a)$  and G' of  $Mod(N'_a)$  generated by  $\{T_i\}$  and  $\{T'_i\}$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, n$  respectively, are isomorphic provided that the closed regular neighborhoods  $N_a$  of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$  and  $N'_a$  of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a'_i$  are homeomorphic. We illustrate the fundamental lemma with the specific example when n = 3. Finally, we prove that a subgroup of  $Mod(\tilde{S})$  generated by Dehn twists along simple closed curves with curve graph  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{A}_{n-1})$ , whenever n is odd or n is even and  $\tilde{S}$  is of type II.

**Theorem 5.5.1.** Consider a chain  $b_1, \dots, b_n$  of simple closed curves in an orientable surface S and denote by  $N_b$  a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n b_i$ . Let  $T_i$  be the (left) Dehn twist along  $b_i$  and set  $\alpha = T_1^2 T_2 \cdots T_{n-1}(b_n)$ . If  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  has standard generators  $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_n$ , then the homomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1}) \to Mod(N_b)$  defined by

$$\sigma_j \mapsto T_{j+1}, \ j = 1, \cdots, n-1$$
  
 $\sigma_n \mapsto T_{\alpha}$ 

is a geometric embedding. Moreover, the collection  $\{b_2, \dots, b_n, \alpha\}$  has curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ .

*Proof.* The classical braid group  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$  on n+1 strands is isomorphic to the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(A_n)$ . The isomorphism  $\mathcal{A}(A_n) \cong \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$  is given by mapping the standard generator  $\gamma_i$  to the braid where the  $i^{th}$  strand crosses over the  $(i+1)^{st}$ . For simplicity, we shall denote this braid (ie the image of  $\gamma_i$ ) by  $\gamma_i$  as well.

$$\mathcal{A}(A_n) = \langle \gamma_1, \cdots, \gamma_n \mid \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i = \gamma_{i+1} \gamma_i \gamma_{i+1}, \gamma_i \gamma_j = \gamma_j \gamma_i \ if \ |i-j| \ge 2 \rangle$$



Figure 5.4:  $a_j$  is a generator of  $D_{n+1}$ . In terms of the standard generators of  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ ,  $a_j = \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1} \cdots \gamma_{j-2}^{-1} \gamma_{j-1}^2 \cdots \gamma_2 \gamma_1$ .

Since  $D_{n+1}$  is a subgroup of  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ , the generators of  $D_{n+1}$  can be expressed in terms of the standard generators  $\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n$  of  $\mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ .  $D_{n+1}$  is generated by  $\gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_n$  and  $a_2, \dots, a_{n+1}$  (see section 2.3). The inclusion monomorphism  $i_2 : D_{n+1} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$  is given by

$$\gamma_i = \gamma_i \text{ for } i = 2, \cdots, n$$
  
 $a_2 = \gamma_1^2$   
 $a_j = (\gamma_{j-2} \cdots \gamma_2 \gamma_1)^{-1} \gamma_{j-1}^2 (\gamma_{j-2} \cdots \gamma_2 \gamma_1) \text{ for } j = 3, \cdots, n+1$ 

The inverse  $\Phi^{-1}: CB_n \to D_{n+1}$  of the isomorphism  $\Phi$  is given by:

$$\sigma_{n-i} \mapsto \gamma_i \text{ for } i = 2, \cdots, n$$

$$\sigma_{n-1} \mapsto (a_2 \gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_n) \gamma_n (a_2 \gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_n)^{-1}$$

$$\tau \mapsto (a_2 \gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_n)^{-1}$$

$$(\sigma_{n-2} \cdots \sigma_0 \tau)^{-1} \mapsto a_2$$

$$(\sigma_{(n+1)-j} \cdots \sigma_{n-2}) (\sigma_{n-2} \sigma_{n-3} \cdots \sigma_0 \tau)^{-1} (\sigma_{(n+1)-j} \cdots \sigma_{n-2})^{-1} \mapsto a_j$$
for  $j = 3, \cdots, n+1$ 

Note that the  $b_i$  have curve graph  $A_n$ . Hence,  $N_b$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{A_n}$ , which by theorem 4.2.1 has topological type  $S_{\frac{n}{2},1}$  when n is even and  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},2}$  when n is odd. By theorem 5.1.2 (Perron-Vannier), the homomorphism  $g : \mathcal{A}(A_n) \to Mod(N_b)$  given by  $\gamma_i \mapsto T_i$  is injective. As such, the following composition of monomorphisms gives an explicit geometric embedding of  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  into  $Mod(N_b)$ . Recall that N is the normal subgroup of  $CB_n$  generated by  $\sigma_0, \dots, \sigma_{n-1}$  (see section 2.3). It was shown in section 2.3 that N and  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  are isomorphic.

$$N \stackrel{i_1}{\hookrightarrow} CB_n \stackrel{\Phi^{-1}}{\to} D_{n+1} \stackrel{i_2}{\hookrightarrow} \mathcal{B}_{n+1} \stackrel{g}{\hookrightarrow} Mod(N_b)$$

$$\sigma_{n-i} = \sigma_{n-i} \mapsto \gamma_i = \gamma_i \mapsto T_i, \ i = 2, \cdots, n$$

$$\sigma_{n-1} = \sigma_{n-1} \to (a_2\gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_n)\gamma_n (a_2\gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_n)^{-1} \mapsto \gamma_1^2\gamma_2 \cdots \gamma_{n-1}\gamma_n\gamma_{n-1}^{-1} \cdots \gamma_2^{-1}\gamma_1^{-2} \mapsto$$

$$T_1^2T_2 \cdots T_{n-1}T_nT_{n-1}^{-1} \cdots T_2^{-1}T_1^{-2} = T_{T_1^2T_2 \cdots T_{n-1}(b_n)}$$

Set  $\phi := g \circ i_2 \circ \Phi^{-1} \circ i_1$ . The map  $\phi$  is a geometric embedding, and so  $\phi(N)$  is a subgroup of  $Mod(N_b)$  which is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ . This subgroup is generated by the (left) Dehn twists along the curves  $b_2, \dots, b_n$ , and  $\alpha = T_1^2 T_2 \cdots T_{n-1}(b_n)$ .

It remains to show that  $\{b_2, \dots, b_n, \alpha\}$  has curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . Since  $\phi$  is a geometric homomorphism, it follows that

$$T_n T_\alpha T_n = T_\alpha T_n T_\alpha$$
$$T_2 T_\alpha T_2 = T_\alpha T_2 T_\alpha$$
$$T_i T_{i+1} T_i = T_{i+1} T_i T_{i+1} \text{ for } i = 2, \cdots, n-1$$
$$T_i T_j = T_j T_i \text{ for } |i-j| \ge 2$$
$$T_\alpha T_k = T_k T_\alpha \text{ for } k = 3, \cdots, n-1$$

By facts 1.3.7 and 1.3.8, the curve graph associated with the curves  $b_2, \dots, b_n$  and  $\alpha$  is isomorphic to  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ .

Denote by S' a closed regular neighborhood of  $(\bigcup_{j=2}^{n} b_j) \cup \alpha$ . Hence, S' is a subsurface of  $N_b$  which is homeomorphic to  $\widetilde{S}$ . In proposition 5.5.2, we show that the subgroup of Mod(S') generated by  $\{T_2, \dots, T_n, T_\alpha\}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ . **Proposition 5.5.2.** Let G be the subgroup of Mod(S') generated by  $T_2, \dots, T_n$  and  $T_\alpha$ . Then  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .

Proof. The inclusion of S' as a subsurface of  $N_b$  induces the natural homomorphism  $i_*$ :  $Mod(S') \to Mod(N_b)$  defined by extending by the identity of the compliment. It is immediate from the definition of  $i_*$  that  $i_*(G)$  is the subgroup of  $Mod(N_b)$  generated by  $T_1, \dots, T_n$ . By theorem 5.5.1  $i_*(G) \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .

Denote the restriction of  $i_*$  to G by  $i_*$  as well. This restriction yields an epimorphism  $i_*: G \to i_*(G)$ . Define  $h: i_*(G) \to G$  by  $h(T_i) = T_i$ . Since the images of all the defining relations in  $i_*(G)$  are satisfied in G, h is well-defined map which is clearly a homomorphism. Since the  $T_i$  generate G, h is surjective. Since  $h \circ i_* = 1_G$  and  $i_* \circ h = 1_{i_*(G)}$ ,  $h = (i_*)^{-1}$ . Therefore,  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .

Proposition 5.5.2 provides a collection  $C = \{b_2, \dots, b_n, \alpha\}$  of simple closed curves in  $\tilde{S}$  such that C has curve graph  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}$ , and the subgroup of  $Mod(\tilde{S})$  generated by the (left) Dehn twists  $T_2, \dots, T_n$ , and  $T_{\alpha}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\tilde{A}_{n-1})$ .

**Lemma 5.5.3.** Let S be an orientable surface, and consider two collections  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$ and  $\{a'_1, \dots, a'_n\}$  of simple closed curves in S with curve graphs  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . Modulo n, set  $v_i = a_i \cap a_{i+1}, i = 1, \dots, n$  (respectively  $v'_i = a'_i \cap a'_{i+1}$ ), and let  $T_i$  (respectively  $T'_i$ ) represent the (left) Dehn twist along  $a_i$  (respectively  $a'_i$ ). Denote by  $N_a$  and  $N'_a$  closed regular neighborhoods of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$  and  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a'_i$  respectively. Denote by G and G' the respective subgroups of  $Mod(N_a)$  and  $Mod(N'_a)$  that are generated by  $T_1, \dots, T_n$  and  $T'_1, \dots, T'_n$ .

(i) If  $N_a$  is homeomorphic to  $N'_a$  and they have the same type (see definition 4.3.3), then there exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism  $\tilde{f}: N_a \to N'_a$  such that  $\tilde{f}(a_i) = a'_i$ .

(ii) If  $N_a$  is homeomorphic to  $N'_a$  and they have distinct types, then there exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism  $\tilde{f}: N_a \to N'_a$  such that  $\tilde{f}(a_i) = a'_i$  when *i* is even and  $\tilde{f}(a_i) = (a'_i)^{-1}$  when *i* is odd.

In both cases,  $\tilde{f}$  induces an isomorphism  $G \cong G'$  given by  $T_i \mapsto T'_i$ .

*Proof.* First assume that n is odd. There are three cases to consider:

- 1.  $N_a$  and  $N'_a$  are both of type I.
- 2.  $N_a$  and  $N'_a$  are both of type II.
- 3.  $N_a$  is of type I and  $N'_a$  is of type II.

By theorem 4.3.4,  $N_a$  and  $N'_a$  are homeomorphic in all three cases. We must find an orientation preserving homeomorphism  $\tilde{f}: N_a \to N'_a$  satisfying  $\tilde{f}(a_i) = a'_i$ . To do that, we first define a homeomorphism  $f: \partial N_a \to \partial N'_a$ , then extend it to obtain  $\tilde{f}$ .

In the first two cases, let  $f: \partial N_a \to \partial N'_a$  be a homeomorphism which maps each segment in  $\partial N_a$  to its analogous segment in  $\partial N'_a$ . That is,  $Re_i^{\pm} \mapsto R(e_i^{\pm})'$  and  $Le_i^{\pm} \mapsto L(e_i^{\pm})'$  for all  $i = 1, \dots, n$ . Note that the boundary segments match in the sense that  $f(Re_i^{\pm})$  and  $f(Le_i^{\pm})$  always track the edge  $(e_i^{\pm})'$  in  $\mathcal{EG}' = \bigcup_{i=1}^n a'_i$ . This allows us to extend f to the rectangles  $B_i^+$  and  $B_i^-$  defined in section 4.3. Also notice that whenever two boundary segments in  $\partial N_a$  intersect at one point, their images under f intersect at one point as well. This together with the sides matching allow us to extend f to a homeomorphism on a regular neighborhood of  $\partial N_a$ . To see this, consider any eight boundary segments  $\beta_i, \beta'_i$ ,



Figure 5.5: The homeomorphism  $f: \partial N_a \to \partial N'_a$  maps matching segments to matching segments and intersecting segments to intersecting segments. This allows us to extend f to a homeomorphism  $\tilde{f}$  on a regular neighborhood of  $\partial N_a$ .

i = 1, 2, 3, 4, around an identified square in  $N_a$  so that, for each i,  $\beta_i$  and  $\beta'_i$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG} = \bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$ , and for each pair  $\{\beta_1, \beta_2\}, \{\beta'_2, \beta_3\}, \{\beta'_3, \beta_4\}, \{\beta'_4, \beta'_1\}$  the two segments intersect at one point (see figure 5.5). Since  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta'_1$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}$ ,  $f(\beta_1)$  and  $f(\beta'_1)$ track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}'$ . Since  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  intersect at one point, so must  $f(\beta_1)$  and  $f(\beta_2)$ . Since  $\beta_2$  and  $\beta'_2$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}$ ,  $f(\beta_2)$  and  $f(\beta'_2)$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}'$ . Since  $\beta'_2$  and  $\beta_3$ intersect at one point, so must  $f(\beta'_2)$  and  $f(\beta_3)$ . Since  $\beta_3$  and  $\beta'_3$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}$ ,  $f(\beta_3)$ and  $f(\beta'_3)$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}'$ . Since  $\beta'_2$  and  $\beta_4$  intersect at one point, so must  $f(\beta'_3)$  and  $f(\beta_4)$ . Since  $\beta_4$  and  $\beta'_4$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}$ ,  $f(\beta_4)$  and  $f(\beta'_4)$  track an edge in  $\mathcal{EG}'$ . Finally,  $f(\beta'_4)$  and  $f(\beta_1)$  intersect at one point since  $\beta'_4$  and  $\beta_1$  do. As such, one can extend f to a regular neighborhood of  $\cup_{i=1}^4 (\beta_i \cup \beta'_i)$ .

So far, we have extended  $f : \partial N_a \to N'_a$  to all the rectangles  $B_i^{\pm}$  and to a regular neighborhood of  $\partial N_a$ . What remains is a disjoint union of disks. Extend f uniquely on those disks, and therefore on all of  $N_a$ . Now that we have a homeomorphism  $\tilde{f} : N_a \to N'_a$ , orient  $N'_a$  so that  $\tilde{f}$  is orientation preserving. To assure that this happens, simply pick the appropriate orientation on  $N'_a$ .

 $\widetilde{f}$  induces a homeomorphism  $\mathcal{EG} \to \mathcal{EG}'$  between the embedded graphs. This homeomorphism is given by:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G} \ni e_i^+ \mapsto (e_i^+)' \in \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G}' \\ \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G} \ni e_i^- \mapsto (e_i^-)' \in \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G}' \end{split}$$

Since  $a_i = e_i^+ \cup e_i^-$  and  $a'_i = (e_i^+)' \cup (e_i^-)'$ ,  $\widetilde{f}(a_i) = a'_i$  for each  $i = 1, \dots, n$ .

The third case is much more interesting. We would like to map  $\partial N_a$  to  $\partial N'_a$  so that the images of matching boundary segments in  $\partial N_a$  match in  $\partial N'_a$ . Moreover, whenever two boundary segments intersect at one point in  $\partial N_a$ , we want the corresponding image segments to do the same.

Consider the distinguished boundary cycle  $C_1$  of  $\partial N_a$  and the distinguished boundary cycle  $C'_1$  of  $\partial N'_a$ . Each of those cycles has length 2n. As seen in the proof of theorem 4.3.4,  $C_1$  starts with  $Re_1^-$  while  $C'_1$  begins with  $R(e_1^+)'$ . Map  $Re_1^-$  in  $C_1$  to  $R(e_1^+)'$  in  $C'_1$ . One must then map  $Le_1^-$  (in  $C_3$ ) (see proof of theorem 4.3.4) to  $L(e_1^+)'$  (in  $C'_3$ ) so that the boundary segments in the image match. Now map the second segment  $Le_2^+$  in  $C_1$  to the second segment  $R(e_2^+)'$  in  $C_1'$ . Then,  $Re_2^+$  (in  $C_2$ ) must map to  $L(e_2^+)'$  (in  $C_2'$ ). Continue this process while following all the segments of  $C_1$ . This gives a homeomorphism  $f : \partial N_a \to \partial N_a'$  defined by

$$\begin{aligned} Re_i^- &\mapsto \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} R(e_i^+)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \\ L(e_i^-)' & \text{when } i \text{ is even} \end{array} \right. \\ Le_i^+ &\mapsto \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} L(e_i^-)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \\ R(e_i^+)' & \text{when } i \text{ is even} \end{array} \right. \\ Re_i^+ &\mapsto \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} R(e_i^-)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \\ L(e_i^+)' & \text{when } i \text{ is even} \end{array} \right. \\ Le_i^- &\mapsto \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} L(e_i^+)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \\ R(e_i^-)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \end{array} \right. \\ \end{aligned}$$

It can be easily checked that the boundary segments match and whenever two boundary segments intersect at one point, their corresponding images under f intersect at one point as well. So, f extends to a homeomorphism  $\tilde{f}: N_a \to N'_a$ . Pick the appropriate orientation on  $N'_a$  so that  $\tilde{f}$  is orientation preserving.  $\tilde{f}$  induces a homeomorphism  $\mathcal{EG} \to \mathcal{EG}'$  between the embedded graphs  $\mathcal{EG} = \bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$  and  $\mathcal{EG}' = \bigcup_{i=1}^n a'_i$ . This induced homeomorphism is

$$e_i^- \mapsto \begin{cases} (e_i^+)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \\ (e_i^-)' & \text{when } i \text{ is even} \end{cases}$$

$$e_i^+ \mapsto \begin{cases} (e_i^-)' & \text{when } i \text{ is odd} \\ (e_i^+)' & \text{when } i \text{ is even} \end{cases}$$

In particular,  $\tilde{f}(a_i) = a'_i$  when *i* is even and  $\tilde{f}(a_i) = (a'_i)^{-1}$  when *i* is odd.

Now assume that n is even. By theorem 4.3.4,  $N_a$  (and  $N'_a$ ) is homeomorphic to either  $S_{\frac{n-2}{2},4}$  or  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$ . Assuming that  $N_a$  and  $N'_a$  have the same topological type, define  $f: \partial N_a \to \partial N'_a$  by

$$\partial N_a \ni Re_i^{\pm} \mapsto R(e_i^{\pm})' \in \partial N_a'$$
$$\partial N_a \ni Le_i^{\pm} \mapsto L(e_i^{\pm})' \in \partial N_a'$$

Since the boundary segments match and the intersection between the boundary segments are preserved, f extends to a homeomorphism  $\tilde{f} : N_a \to N'_a$ . Choose the suitable orientation on  $N'_a$  so that  $\tilde{f}$  is an orientation preserving.  $\tilde{f}$  induces a homeomorphism  $\mathcal{EG} \to \mathcal{EG}'$  between the graphs  $\mathcal{EG} = \bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$  and  $\mathcal{EG}' = \bigcup_{i=1}^n a'_i$ , given by:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G} \ni e_i^+ &\mapsto (e_i^+)' \in \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G}' \\ \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G} \ni e_i^- &\mapsto (e_i^-)' \in \mathcal{E}\mathcal{G}' \end{split}$$

In particular,  $f(a_i) = a'_i$  for each  $i = 1, \dots, n$ .

**Example.** We illustrate theorem 5.5.3 when n = 3,  $N_c$  is of type I, and  $N'_c$  is of type II. By theorem 4.3.4,  $N_c$  has three boundary cycles  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  of lengths 6, 3, and 3.  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ , and  $C_3$  are given by



respectively. Figure 5.6 shows  $C_1$  (in blue),  $C_2$  (in red), and  $C_3$  (in yellow).  $N'_c$  has three boundary cycles  $C'_1$ ,  $C'_2$ ,  $C'_3$  of lengths 6, 3, and 3 as well. These cycles have respective



Figure 5.6:  $N_a$  is of type I.

colors blue, red, and yellow in figure 5.7. Moreover,  $C_1'$ ,  $C_2'$ , and  $C_3'$  are given by



The homeomorphism  $f: \partial N_a \to \partial N_a'$  defined by

$$\partial N_a \ni Re_1^- \mapsto R(e_1^+)' \in \partial N_a'$$
$$\partial N_a \ni Le_2^+ \mapsto R(e_2^+)' \in \partial N_a'$$
$$\partial N_a \ni Re_3^- \mapsto R(e_3^+)' \in \partial N_a'$$



Figure 5.7:  $N'_a$  is of type II.

 $\begin{array}{l} \partial N_a \ni Le_1^+ \mapsto L(e_1^-)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Re_2^- \mapsto L(e_2^-)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Le_3^+ \mapsto L(e_3^-)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Le_1^- \mapsto L(e_1^+)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Re_2^+ \mapsto L(e_2^+)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Le_3^- \mapsto L(e_3^+)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Re_1^+ \mapsto R(e_1^-)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Le_2^- \mapsto R(e_2^-)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \partial N_a \ni Re_3^+ \mapsto R(e_3^-)' \in \partial N_a'\\ \end{array}$ 

extends to a homeomorphism  $\tilde{f} : N_a \to N'_a$  such that  $f(a_i) = a'_i$  (with no orientation). Therefore,  $\tilde{f}$  induces an isomorphism  $G \cong G'$  between the subgroup  $G < Mod(N_a)$  generated by the Dehn twists  $T_i$  along  $a_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and the subgroup  $G' < Mod(N'_a)$  generated by the Dehn twists  $T'_i$ .

**Theorem 5.5.4.** Consider a collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  of simple closed curves in some orientable surface S, and assume that the  $a_i$  have curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . Let  $N_a$  be a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} a_i$ . Then,  $N_a$  is homeomorphic to the surface  $\widetilde{S}$  constructed in section 4.3. By theorem 4.3.4,  $\widetilde{S}$  has topological type  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},3}$  when n is odd, and either  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$ or  $S_{\frac{n-2}{2},4}$  when n is even. Assume that  $N_a$  is homeomorphic only to  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},3}$  or  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$ . If  $T_i$ represents the left Dehn twist along  $a_i$  and G denotes the subgroup of  $Mod(N_a)$  generated by  $T_1, \dots, T_n$ , then

$$G = \langle T_1, \cdots, T_n | T_i T_{i+1} T_i = T_{i+1} T_i T_{i+1} \mod(n) \text{ for } i = 1, \cdots, n$$
$$T_i T_j = T_j T_i \text{ for } |i - j| \neq 1, n - 1 \rangle$$

In particular,  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1}) \cong G$  via the geometric homomorphism which maps the standard generator  $\sigma_i$  of  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  to  $T_i$ .

*Proof.* When n is odd,  $N_a$  is a well-defined surface, which is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n-1}{2},3}$ , by theorem 4.3.4. Let  $\{c_1, \dots, c_n\}$  and  $\{c'_1, \dots, c'_n\}$  be arbitrary collections of simple closed curves in S, with curve graphs  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . A closed regular neighborhood  $N_c$  of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n c_i$  is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood  $N'_c$  of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n c'_i$ . By lemma 5.5.3, there is an orientationpreserving homeomorphism  $f: N_c \to N'_c$  such that  $f(c_i) = c'_i$ . If  $\tau_1, \cdots, \tau_n$  represent the left Dehn twists along  $c_1, \dots, c_n$  and  $\tau'_1, \dots, \tau'_n$  represent the left Dehn twists along  $c'_1, \dots, c'_n$ , then f induces an isomorphism between the subgroup of  $Mod(N_c)$  generated by the  $\tau_i$  and that of  $Mod(N'_c)$  generated by the  $\tau'_i$ . As such, for any configuration of  $c_1, \dots, c_n$  with curve graph  $A_{n-1}$ , the subgroup of  $Mod(N_c)$  generated by the Dehn twists  $\tau_1, \dots, \tau_n$  is unique up to isomorphism. Due to this uniqueness, we may assume choose the closed curves  $a_1, \dots, a_n$ (in the hypothesis) as follows. Pick an arbitrary n-chain  $b_1, \dots, b_n$  of simple closed curves in S, then set  $a_j = b_{j+1}$  for  $j = 1, \dots, n-1$  and  $a_n = T_{b_1}^2 T_{b_2} \cdots T_{b_{n-1}}(b_n)$ , where  $T_{b_i}$  is the left Dehn twist along  $b_i$ . The curves  $a_i$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, n$  are illustrated in Figure 5.8. Note that since  $a_j = b_{j+1}$ , fact 1.3.2 implies  $T_j = T_{b_{j+1}}$  (recall  $T_j$  is the left Dehn twist along  $a_j$ ). Let  $T_n$  be the left Dehn twist along  $a_n$ . By theorem 5.5.1, the  $a_i$  have curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . Moreover, proposition 5.5.2 gives  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1}) \cong G$  via the geometric homomorphism  $\sigma_i \mapsto T_i$ .

When n is even,  $N_a$  is either homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$  or  $S_{\frac{n-2}{2},4}$ . By hypothesis, we



Figure 5.8: The collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  (*n* odd) has curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . The  $a_i$  are shown in the surface  $N_a$  which is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$ . According to theorem 5.5.4, the subgroup G of  $Mod(N_a)$  generated by the Dehn twists  $T_i$ along  $a_i$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .

only consider the case when  $N_a$  has topological type  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$ . Consider an arbitrary collection  $\{c_1, \dots, c_n\}$  of simple closed curves in S with curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . If a closed regular neighborhood  $N_c$  of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n c_i$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}^n$ , it follows from lemma 5.5.3 that the subgroup of  $Mod(N_c)$  generated by the left Dehn twists  $\tau_1, \dots, \tau_n$  along  $c_1, \dots, c_n$  is unique up to isomorphism. Hence, without loss of generality, the collection  $a_1, \dots, a_n$  in the hypothesis may be chosen by picking an arbitrary n-chain  $b_1, \dots, b_n$  of simple closed curves in S, then setting  $a_j = b_{j+1}$  for  $j = 1, \dots, n-1$  and  $a_n = T_{b_1}^2 T_{b_2} \cdots T_{b_{n-1}}(b_n)$ , where  $T_{b_i}$  denotes the left Dehn twist along  $b_i$ . The curves  $a_i, i = 1, \dots, n$  are illustrated in figure 5.9. Let  $T_n$  be the left Dehn twist along  $a_n$ , and recall that  $N_a$  denotes a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$ . By theorem 5.5.1, the  $a_i$  have curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . Moreover, it is easy to check that the embedded graph  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{\frac{n}{2},2}$ . By proposition 5.5.2, the subgroup G of  $Mod(N_a)$  generated by  $T_1, \dots, T_n$  has the desired presentation and is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  via the geometric homomorphism  $\sigma_i \mapsto T_i$ .

We remark that when  $\widetilde{S}$  is a subsurface of S such that no component of the closure of  $S \setminus \widetilde{S}$ is an exterior cylinder or a disk with less than two punctures, it follows from corollary 1.5.3 that  $i_* : Mod(\widetilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$  in injective. Hence,  $T_1, \dots, T_n$  generate  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  in Mod(S).

Finally, note that the case when n is even and  $\tilde{S}$  is of type I is excluded from theorem 5.5.4. This is simply because we are not able to find a geometric embedding from  $CB_n$ 



Figure 5.9: The collection  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  (*n* even) has curve graph  $\widetilde{A}_{n-1}$ . The  $a_i$  are shown in the surface which is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n a_i$ . By theorem 5.5.4,  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$ .

into Mod(S) so that  $N_a$  has type I. Nevertheless, we do make the following conjecture:

**Conjecture 5.5.5.** Theorem 5.5.4 holds when n is even and  $\widetilde{S}$  is of type I.

## CHAPTER 6

# ARTIN RELATIONS IN MOD(S)

In this chapter, we first define the Artin relation of length l. Then, we find elements in Mod(S) satisfying such a relation for every positive integer l. In certain cases, the elements we find generate an Artin group of type  $I_2(l)$ . These cases provide embeddings of  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(l))$  into Mod(S).

In section 6.1, we find elements x and y in Mod(S) satisfying Artin relations of every even length  $l \ge 8$  (see theorem 6.1.1). In section 6.2, we find Artin relations of every odd length  $l \ge 3$  in Mod(S) (see theorem 6.2.1). Finally, in section 6.3, we use foldings to produce more Artin relations in Mod(S). Theorem 6.3.1 produces Artin relations of every length  $l \ge 3$ , and theorem 6.3.2 produces Artin relations of every even length  $l \ge 6$ . In theorems 6.3.1 and 6.3.2, x and y generate the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(l))$  in Mod(S).

**Definition 6.0.6.** If  $l \ge 2$  is an integer, we say that elements a and b in a group G satisfy the Artin relation of length l (or the l-Artin relation) if prod(a,b;l) = prod(b,a;l), where

$$prod(a,b;l) = \underbrace{aba \cdots}_{l}$$

#### 6.1 Artin relations of even length

In this section we find Artin relations of even lengths. If n is a positive integer multiple of 2k + 4,  $k \ge 2$ , we find elements x and y in the mapping class group of some appropriate



Figure 6.1: The curves  $a_0, \dots, a_k$  form a chain of length k+1. If  $x = T_0$  and  $y = T_1 \cdots T_k$ , then prod(x, y; 2k+4) = prod(y, x; 2k+4).

orientable surface, so that prod(x, y; n) = prod(y, x; n). By appropriate orientable surface, we mean one with large enough genus to accommodate a chain of k + 1 curves.

**Theorem 6.1.1.** Let  $k \ge 2$  be an integer. Suppose  $a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k$  form a chain of simple closed curves in an orientable surface S. If  $x = T_0$  and  $y = T_1 \cdots T_k$ , then  $prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l) \Leftrightarrow l \equiv 0 (mod(2k + 4)).$ 

*Proof.* In the proof, we shall only cancel on the left. Right cancellations are intentionally ignored. This simplifies the proof, as it allows us to start a new computation by using the result from the previous one. Throughout the proof, we shall use facts 1.3.7 and 1.3.8.

$$xy = yx \Leftrightarrow T_0T_1\cdots T_k = T_1T_2\cdots T_kT_0$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_0T_1\cdots T_k = T_1T_0T_2\cdots T_k$$

Since  $i(a_0, a_1) = 1$ ,  $T_0T_1 \neq T_1T_0$ . As such, the last equality on the right hand side (RHS) does not hold.

We now describe a method that will be used later without further explicit mention. The equation xy = yx above does not hold. However, the algebraic manipulations for the equivalence of xy = yx with the last equation above do hold. Next, we multiply these equations by x and y on the right accordingly. The computations above imply:

$$\begin{split} xyx &= yxy \Leftrightarrow (T_0T_1\cdots T_k)T_0 &= T_1T_0T_2\cdots T_k(T_1\cdots T_k) \\ \Leftrightarrow (T_0T_1T_0)T_2\cdots T_k &= T_1T_0T_2T_1T_3T_2T_4T_3\cdots T_iT_{i-1}T_{i+1}T_i\cdots \\ T_{k-1}T_{k-2}(T_kT_{k-1}T_k) \\ \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0T_1T_2\cdots T_k &= T_1T_0T_2T_1T_3T_2T_4T_3\cdots T_iT_{i-1}T_{i+1}T_i\cdots \\ (T_{k-1}T_{k-2}T_{k-1})T_kT_{k-1} \\ \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0T_1T_2\cdots T_k &= T_1T_0T_1T_2T_1T_3T_2T_4T_3\cdots T_iT_{i-1}T_{i+1}T_i\cdots \\ T_{k-3}T_{k-1}T_{k-2}T_kT_{k-1} \\ \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0T_1T_2\cdots T_k &= T_1T_0T_1T_2T_3T_4\cdots T_kT_1T_2T_3\cdots T_{k-2}T_{k-1} \\ \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0T_1T_2\cdots T_k &= T_1T_0T_1T_2T_3T_4\cdots T_kT_1T_2T_3\cdots T_{k-2}T_{k-1} \\ \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0T_1T_2\cdots T_k &= T_1T_0T_1T_2T_3T_4\cdots T_kT_1T_2T_3\cdots T_{k-2}T_{k-1} \\ \end{split}$$

Since  $T_1 \cdots T_{k-1}(a_2) = a_3$  or  $T_1(a_2)$ , the last equation of RHS does not hold.

Using the above equivalences of xyx = yxy, and only left cancellation, we do the following for  $(xy)^2 = (yx)^2$ .

$$(xy)^2 = (yx)^2 \Leftrightarrow T_1 \cdots T_{k-1}T_k = T_1 \cdots T_{k-1}T_0$$
  
 $\Leftrightarrow T_k = T_0$ 

Since  $k \ge 2$  by assumption, the last equality of RHS is obviously not true.

$$(xy)^{2}x = (yx)^{2}y \Leftrightarrow T_{k}T_{0} = T_{0}T_{1}\cdots T_{k}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{0}T_{k} = T_{0}T_{1}\cdots T_{k}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k} = T_{1}\cdots T_{k}$$

Since  $1 \neq T_1 \cdots T_{k-1}$  (see above), the last equality of RHS does not hold.

$$(xy)^3 = (yx)^3 \Leftrightarrow T_k T_1 \cdots T_{k-2} T_{k-1} T_k = T_1 \cdots T_k T_0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow T_1 \cdots T_{k-2} (T_k T_{k-1} T_k) = T_1 \cdots T_k T_0$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_1 \cdots T_{k-2} T_{k-1} T_k T_{k-1} = T_1 \cdots T_k T_0$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-1} = T_0$$

Since  $k \ge 2$  by assumption,  $T_{k-1} \ne T_0$ .

$$(xy)^3 x = (yx)^3 y \Leftrightarrow T_{k-1}T_0 = T_0T_1\cdots T_k$$

If k = 2, then  $(xy)^3 x = (yx)^3 y \Leftrightarrow T_1 T_0 = T_0 T_1 T_2$ . Otherwise,  $k \ge 3$ . In this case,

$$(xy)^{3}x = (yx)^{3}y \Leftrightarrow T_{k-1}T_{0} = T_{0}T_{1}\cdots T_{k}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{0}T_{k-1} = T_{0}T_{1}\cdots T_{k}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-1} = T_{1}\cdots T_{k}$$

Since  $i(a_{k-1}, a_k) = 1$ ,  $T_{k-1}T_k(a_{k-1}) = a_k$ . Hence,  $T_1 \cdots T_k(a_{k-1}) = a_k \neq a_{k-1}$  implies that  $T_{k-1} \neq T_1 \cdots T_k$  when k > 2. Moreover,  $T_1T_0(a_1) = a_0 \neq a_2 = T_0T_1T_2(a_1)$  implies  $T_1T_0 \neq T_0T_1T_2$ .

When k = 2, it follows from the previous equivalence that  $(xy)^4 = (yx)^4 \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0T_1T_2 = T_0T_1T_2T_0 \Leftrightarrow T_0T_1T_0T_2 = T_0T_1T_0T_2$ , which is obviously true. This shows that prod(x, y; 2k + 4) = prod(y, x; 2k + 4) for k = 2 (in this case  $x = T_0$  and  $y = T_1T_2$ ). When k > 2, we have:

$$(xy)^{4} = (yx)^{4} \Leftrightarrow T_{k-1}T_{1}\cdots T_{k-2}T_{k-1}T_{k} = T_{1}\cdots T_{k}T_{0}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{1}\cdots T_{k-3}(T_{k-1}T_{k-2}T_{k-1})T_{k} = T_{1}\cdots T_{k}T_{0}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{1}\cdots T_{k-3}T_{k-2}T_{k-1}T_{k-2}T_{k} = T_{1}\cdots T_{k}T_{0}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{1}\cdots T_{k-3}T_{k-2}T_{k-1}T_{k}T_{k-2} = T_{1}\cdots T_{k}T_{0}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-2} = T_{0}$$

which is obviously false because k > 2.

To prove the theorem in general, we make the following claims :

Claim 6.1.2. Let k and i be positive integers such that  $k \ge 2$  and  $3 \le i \le k+1$ . Then, for all i,  $prod(x, y; 2i - 1) = prod(y, x; 2i - 1) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+3} = T_1 \cdots T_k$ .

Claim 6.1.3. Let k and i be positive integers such that  $k \ge 2$  and  $3 \le i \le k+1$ . Then, for all i,  $prod(x, y; 2i) = prod(y, x; 2i) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2} = T_0$ .

To prove claim 6.1.2, we proceed by induction on i. The base case, i = 3, has been proven above. Assume, by induction, that claim 6.1.2 holds for some  $i \in \{3, \dots, k\}$ . We would like to show claim 6.1.2 holds for i + 1. That is, we need to prove:

$$prod(x, y; 2i + 1) = prod(y, x; 2i + 1) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-(i+1)+3} = T_1 \cdots T_k$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2} = T_1 \cdots T_k$$

Assuming claim 6.1.2 for *i* implies that prod(x, y; 2i) = prod(y, x; 2i)

$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+3}T_1 \cdots T_{k-i+2}T_{k-i+3} \cdots T_k = T_1 \cdots T_{k-i+2} \cdots T_k T_0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow T_1 \cdots (T_{k-i+3}T_{k-i+2}T_{k-i+3}) \cdots T_k = T_1 \cdots T_{k-i+2} \cdots T_k T_0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2}T_{k-i+3}T_{k-i+2}T_{k-i+4} \cdots T_k = T_{k-i+2} \cdots T_k T_0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2} \cdots T_k T_{k-i+2} = T_{k-i+2} \cdots T_k T_0$$

$$T_{k-i+2} = T_0$$

To justify the above calculation, note that the *i* under consideration belongs to  $\{3, \dots, k\}$ . Since  $k \ge 2$ , it follows that  $k - i + 3 \in \{3, \dots, k\}$ . As such,  $[T_{k-i+3}, T_1] = 1$ . In particular, this shows that claim 6.1.2 for some positive integer *i*,  $3 \le i \le k + 1$  and  $k \ge 2$ , implies claim 6.1.3 for that *i*. Given the equivalence  $prod(x, y; 2i) = prod(y, x; 2i) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2} = T_0$ , then

$$prod(x, y; 2i + 1) = prod(y, x; 2i + 1) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2}T_0 = T_0T_1\cdots T_k$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_0T_{k-i+2} = T_0T_1\cdots T_k$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_{k-i+2} = T_1\cdots T_k$$

The above calculation is justified because  $k - i + 2 \in \{2, \dots, k - 1\}$ , and so  $[T_{k-i+2}, T_0] = 1$ . This concludes the proof of claim 6.1.2.

By the above remark, the proof of claim 6.1.3 follows immediately from claim 6.1.2 and its proof.

Now we prove theorem 6.1.1. Assume  $l \equiv 0(mod(2k+4))$ . As  $prod(x, y; 2k+4) = prod(y, x; 2k+4) \Rightarrow prod(x, y; q(2k+4)) = prod(y, x; q(2k+4))$  for all positive integers q, it suffices to show prod(x, y; 2k+4) = prod(y, x; 2k+4). By claim 6.1.3, we have:

$$prod(x, y; 2k + 2) = prod(y, x; 2k + 2) \Leftrightarrow$$
$$T_{k-(k+1)+2} = T_0 \Leftrightarrow$$
$$T_1 = T_0$$

which is not true. Given this, then

$$prod(x, y; 2k+3) = prod(y, x; 2k+3) \Leftrightarrow T_1T_0 = T_0T_1\cdots T_k$$

Since  $T_1T_0(a_1) = a_0 \neq a_2 = T_0T_1 \cdots T_k(a_1), \ T_1T_0 \neq T_0T_1 \cdots T_k$ . Finally,

$$prod(x, y; 2k + 4) = prod(y, x; 2k + 4) \Leftrightarrow (T_1 T_0 T_1) \cdots T_k = T_0 T_1 \cdots T_k T_0$$
$$\Leftrightarrow T_0 T_1 T_0 \cdots T_k = T_0 T_1 T_0 \cdots T_k$$

which is true.

Conversely, assume l is not a multiple of 2k+4. Then, prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l) if and only if prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) for some  $r \in \{1, \dots, 2k+3\}$ , where  $l \equiv r(mod(2k+4))$ .

If r = 2k + 3, it was shown above that  $prod(x, y; r) \neq prod(y, x; r)$ . If r < 2k + 3 is odd; say r = 2s - 1 for some positive integer s, then  $prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-s+3} = T_1 \cdots T_k$  by claim 6.1.2. But then  $T_{k-s+3}(a_{k-s+3}) = a_{k-s+3}$  while

$$T_1 \cdots T_k(a_{k-s+3}) = T_1 \cdots T_{k-s+2} T_{k-s+3} T_{k-s+4}(a_{k-s+3})$$
$$= T_1 \cdots T_{k-s+2}(a_{k-s+4})$$
$$= a_{k-s+4} \neq a_{k-s+3}$$

If r is even; say r = 2s, then by claim 6.1.3,  $prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) \Leftrightarrow T_{k-s+2} = T_0 \Leftrightarrow k-s+2 = 0 \Leftrightarrow l = 2k+4$ .

**Conjecture 6.1.4.** Let  $a_0, a_1, \dots, a_k$  and  $T_i$ ,  $i \in \{0, \dots, k\}$  be as in theorem 6.1.1. Let  $x = T_0$  and  $y = T_{\sigma(1)}T_{\sigma(2)}\cdots T_{\sigma(k)}$ , where  $\sigma \in \Sigma_k$ . Then  $prod(x, y; n) = prod(y, x; n) \Leftrightarrow n \equiv 0 (mod(2k + 4)).$ 

The conjecture holds when k = 2, 3, and 4. This has been proven by brute force calculations. For k = 4, the are six permutations (including the one of theorem 6.1.1), and 2k + 4 = 10.

#### 6.2 Artin relations of odd length

In this section, we find Artin relations of every odd length in the mapping class group. More precisely, given an odd positive integer n, we find elements in the mapping class group of some appropriate orientable surface satisfying the Artin relation of length n. In a way, the relations we discover are generalizations of the famous braid relation in proposition 1.3.8, to all odd lengths.

**Notation.** In theorem 6.2.1 below, we shall change the notation of a Dehn twist in order



Figure 6.2: The curves  $a_1, \dots, a_k, b_1, \dots, b_k$  form a chain of length  $2k, k \ge 1$ . If  $x = A_1 \cdots A_k$  and  $y = B_1 \cdots B_k$ , then prod(x, y; 2k + 1) = prod(y, x; 2k + 1).

to make it easier for the reader to follow the proof. Instead of  $T_i$ , we shall denote Dehn twists by  $A_i$  and  $B_i$ .  $A_i$  and  $B_i$  represent Dehn twists along curves  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  respectively.

**Theorem 6.2.1.** Let  $k \ge 1$  be an integer, and suppose that the simple closed curves  $a_1, \dots, a_k, b_1, \dots, b_k$  form a 2k-chain in an orientable surface S. If  $x = A_1 \dots A_k$  and  $y = B_1 \dots B_k$ , then  $prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l) \Leftrightarrow l \equiv 0 (mod(2k + 1)).$ 

*Proof.* In this proof, we again cancel only from the left. This allows us to pick up where we left when studying the next Artin relation. Right cancellations are intentionally ignored. When k = 1, there are two curves  $a_1$  and  $b_1$  with  $i(a_1, b_1) = 1$ . Hence,  $x = A_1$  and  $y = B_1$ , and by fact 1.3.8, xyx = yxy. Consequently, prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l) for all positive integers l that are multiples of 3. Conversely, suppose  $l \neq 0 \pmod{3}$ . If prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l), then prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) for some  $r \in \{1, 2\}$ . Since  $i(a_1, b_1) = 1$ ,  $x \neq y$ . Moreover, if xy = yx, it follows from xyx = yxy that x = y, which is a contradiction. This proves the theorem for k = 1. So, we henceforth assume that  $k \geq 2$ .

We remark that when  $B_{k-2}$  or  $B_{k-3}$  are included in any of the computations below, it should be assumed that k > 3. The inclusion of such terms in the rather complicated calculations is intended to help the reader follow the proof. Although not included, the calculations for  $k \in \{2,3\}$  follow along the same lines of the ones shown (for k > 3). In fact, the cases  $k \in \{2,3\}$  are much easier because there are less terms involved.

$$xy = yx \Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_{k-1}A_kB_1 \cdots B_k = B_1 \cdots B_kA_1 \cdots A_{k-1}A_k$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_{k-1} A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_1 \cdots A_{k-1} B_1 \cdots B_k A_k$$
$$\Leftrightarrow A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = B_1 A_k B_2 \cdots B_k$$

Since  $[A_k, B_1] \neq 1$ , the last equality of RHS does not hold.

$$(xy)x = (yx)y \Leftrightarrow A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_1 \cdots A_k = B_1 A_k B_2 \cdots B_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-1} B_k$$

Set  $\delta_1 = A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_1 \cdots A_k$ . Then

$$\begin{split} (xy)x &= (yx)y \Leftrightarrow \delta_1 &= B_1A_kB_2 \cdots B_{k-1}B_1 \cdots B_{k-2}B_kB_{k-1}B_k \\ &= B_1A_kB_2 \cdots B_{k-2}B_1 \cdots B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_kB_{k-1}B_k \\ \vdots \\ &= B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2 \cdots B_iB_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_i \cdots \\ &B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}(B_kB_{k-1}B_k) \\ &= B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2 \cdots B_iB_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_i \cdots \\ &B_{k-2}B_{k-3}(B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k-1})B_kB_{k-1} \\ &= B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2 \cdots B_iB_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_i \cdots \\ & (B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-2})B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_kB_{k-1} \\ &\vdots \\ &= (B_1A_kB_1)B_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3 \cdots B_iB_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_i \cdots \\ &B_{k-3}B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_kB_{k-1} \\ &= A_kB_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3 \cdots B_iB_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_i \cdots \\ &B_{k-3}B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_kB_{k-1} \\ &= A_kB_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3 \cdots B_iB_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_i \cdots \\ &B_{k-3}B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_kB_{k-1} \\ &\vdots \\ &= A_kB_1B_2B_3 \cdots B_kA_kB_1B_2B_3 \cdots B_{k-1} \end{split}$$

In order to get the last expression above, we shifted the second  $A_k$  to the right as much

as possible, and the  $B_i$ 's to the left as much as possible. Similar shifts occur in future computations.

$$(xy)x = (yx)y \Leftrightarrow A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_1 \cdots A_k = A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-1}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_k = A_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-1}$$

Acting with the products  $A_1 \cdots A_k$  and  $A_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-1}$  on  $a_1$  yields distinct curves. Consequently, the two products are distinct.

$$(xy)^{2} = (yx)^{2} \Leftrightarrow A_{1} \cdots A_{k}B_{1} \cdots B_{k} = A_{k}B_{1} \cdots B_{k-1}A_{1} \cdots A_{k-2}A_{k-1}A_{k}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow A_{1} \cdots A_{k-2}A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1} \cdots B_{k} = A_{1} \cdots A_{k-2}A_{k}B_{1} \cdots B_{k-1}A_{k-1}A_{k}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1} \cdots B_{k} = A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2} \cdots B_{k-1}$$

Since  $A_{k-1}A_kB_1\cdots B_k(a_{k-1}) = a_k \neq b_1 = A_kA_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2\cdots B_{k-1}(a_{k-1})$ , the two expressions are distinct.

$$(xy)^2 x = (yx)^2 y \Leftrightarrow$$
$$A_{k-1}A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_1 \cdots A_k = A_k A_{k-1} B_1 A_k B_2 \cdots B_{k-1} B_1 \cdots B_k$$

Set  $\delta_2 = A_{k-1}A_kB_1\cdots B_kA_1\cdots A_k$ . Then  $(xy)^2x = (yx)^2y \Leftrightarrow$ 

$$\delta_{2} = A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}\cdots B_{k-2}B_{1}\cdots B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k-1}B_{k}$$

$$= A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}\cdots B_{k-3}B_{1}\cdots B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k-1}B_{k}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$= A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}\cdots B_{i}B_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_{i}\cdots$$

$$B_{k-2}B_{k-3}(B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k-1})B_{k}$$

$$= A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}\cdots B_{i}B_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_{i}\cdots$$

$$(B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-2})B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k}$$

$$= A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}\cdots B_{i}B_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_{i}\cdots$$

$$B_{k-3}B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$= (A_{k}A_{k-1}A_{k})B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}\cdots B_{i}B_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_{i}\cdots$$

$$B_{k-3}B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k}$$

$$= A_{k-1}A_{k}A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}\cdots B_{i}B_{i-1}B_{i+1}B_{i}\cdots$$

$$B_{k-3}B_{k-2}B_{k-3}B_{k-1}B_{k-2}B_{k}$$

$$= A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1}\cdots B_{k}A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1}\cdots B_{k-2}$$

$$(xy)^{2}x = (yx)^{2}y$$
  

$$\Leftrightarrow A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1}\cdots B_{k}A_{1}\cdots A_{k} = A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1}\cdots B_{k}A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1}\cdots B_{k-2}$$
  

$$\Leftrightarrow A_{1}\cdots A_{k} = A_{k-1}A_{k}B_{1}\cdots B_{k-2}$$

Since  $A_1 \cdots A_k(a_1) = a_2 \neq a_1 = A_{k-1}A_kB_1 \cdots B_{k-2}(a_1)$ , the two expressions are different. By continuing in the same fashion, one can see that there are seemingly visible patterns governing Artin equalities. We make the following claims:

**Claim 6.2.2.** Let k and m be a positive integers such that  $k \ge 2$  and m < k. Then, for all  $m, (xy)^m = (yx)^m \Leftrightarrow$ 

$$A_{k-m+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k \stackrel{(1)}{=} A_{k-m+2} A_{k-m+1} A_{k-m+3} A_{k-m+2} A_{k-m+4} A_{k-m+3} A_{k-m+4} A_{k-m+4$$

Claim 6.2.3. Let k and m be a positive integers such that  $k \ge 2$  and  $m \le k$ . Then, for all  $m, (xy)^m x = (yx)^m y \Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_k \stackrel{(2)}{=} A_{k-m+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-m}$ 

In the claims above, k represents the number of  $A_i$ 's in x (k is also equal to the number of  $B_i$ 's in y). If l represents the lengths of the Artin relations considered in claims 6.2.2 and 6.2.3, then

$$m = \begin{cases} l/2 & \text{when } l \text{ is even} \\ \frac{l-1}{2} & \text{when } l \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

**Proof of claims 6.2.2 and 6.2.3** - We proceed by induction on m. Suppose  $(xy)^m = (yx)^m \Leftrightarrow (1)$  holds. First, we prove  $(xy)^m x = (yx)^m y \Leftrightarrow (2)$  is true, then we show  $(xy)^{m+1} = (yx)^{m+1} \Leftrightarrow (1)$  with m replaced with m + 1. Fix an arbitrary m with  $1 \le m \le k-2$ , and assume claim 6.2.2 is true for that m.

$$(xy)^m x = (yx)^m y \Leftrightarrow$$

$$A_{k-m+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_1 \cdots A_k = A_{k-m+2} A_{k-m+1} A_{k-m+3} A_{k-m+2} A_{k-m+4}$$

$$A_{k-m+3} A_{k-m+5} A_{k-m+4} \cdots A_{k-1} B_1 A_k B_2$$

$$\cdots B_{k-m+1} B_1 \cdots B_k$$

Set  $\delta_3 = A_{k-m+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k A_1 \cdots A_k$ . Also, set s = k - m, and note that s > 0 since m < k. Then  $(xy)^m x = (yx)^m y \Leftrightarrow$ 

$$\begin{split} \delta_{3} &= A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}\cdots A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}\cdots \\ &B_{s}B_{1}\cdots B_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_{s}B_{s+1}\cdots B_{k} \\ &= A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}\cdots A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}\cdots \\ &B_{s-1}B_{1}\cdots B_{s-2}B_{s}B_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_{s}B_{s+1}\cdots B_{k} \\ &\vdots \\ &= A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}\cdots A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}B_{4}B_{3} \\ &B_{5}B_{4}\cdots B_{s}B_{s-1}(B_{s+1}B_{s}B_{s+1})B_{s+2}B_{s+3}\cdots B_{k} \\ &= A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}\cdots A_{k-1}B_{1}A_{k}B_{2}B_{1}B_{3}B_{2}B_{4}B_{3} \\ &B_{5}B_{4}\cdots (B_{s}B_{s-1}B_{s})B_{s+1}B_{s}B_{s+2}B_{s+3}\cdots B_{k} \end{split}$$

$$= A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4} \cdots A_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3 \\ B_5B_4 \cdots (B_{s-1}B_{s-2}B_{s-1})B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ \vdots \\ = A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4} \cdots A_{k-1}B_1A_k(B_2B_1B_2)B_3B_2 \\ B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4} \cdots A_{k-1}(B_1A_kB_1)B_2B_1B_3B_2 \\ B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4} \cdots A_{k-1}(A_{k-2}(A_kA_{k-1}A_k)) \\ B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ \vdots \\ = (A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+2})A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}A_{s+6}A_{s+5} \cdots A_{k-1}A_{k-2} \\ A_kA_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}A_{s+6}A_{s+5} \cdots A_{k-1}A_{k-2} \\ A_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}A_{s+6}A_{s+5} \cdots A_{k-1}A_{k-2}A_k \\ A_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+1}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}A_{s+6}A_{s+5} \cdots A_{k-1}A_{k-2}A_k \\ A_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+3}A_{s+2}A_{s+4}A_{s+3}A_{s+5}A_{s+4}A_{s+6}A_{s+5} \cdots A_{k-1}A_{k-2}A_k \\ A_{k-1}B_1A_kB_2B_1B_3B_2B_4B_3B_5B_4 \cdots B_sB_{s-1}B_{s+1}B_sB_{s+2}B_{s+3} \cdots B_k \\ = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+3} \cdots A_kB_1 \cdots B_kA_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+3} \cdots A_kB_1 \cdots B_s$$

Thus,  $(xy)^m x = (yx)^m y \Leftrightarrow$ 

$$A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+3}\cdots A_k B_1\cdots B_k A_1\cdots A_k = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+3}\cdots A_k B_1\cdots B_k$$
$$\Leftrightarrow A_1\cdots A_k = A_{s+1}A_{s+2}A_{s+3}\cdots A_k B_1\cdots B_s$$
$$\Leftrightarrow A_1\cdots A_k = A_{k-m+1}A_{k-m+2}A_{k-m+3}\cdots A_k$$
$$\cdots B_1\cdots B_{k-m}$$

Note that this is claim 6.2.3 for m. We now show that claim 6.2.3 for m implies claim 6.2.2

for m + 1. Again, we set s = k - m.

$$(xy)^{m+1} = (yx)^{m+1}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_{s+1} A_{s+2} A_{s+3} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_s A_1 \cdots A_k$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_{s-1} A_s \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_1 \cdots A_{s-1} A_{s+1} A_{s+2} A_{s+3} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots$$

$$B_s A_s A_{s+1} A_{s+2} \cdots A_k$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_s \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_{s+1} A_{s+2} A_{s+3} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_s A_s A_{s+1}$$

$$A_{s+2} \cdots A_k$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_s \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_{s+1} A_s A_{s+2} A_{s+1} A_{s+3} A_{s+2} A_{s+4} A_{s+3} A_{s+5}$$

$$A_{s+4} \cdots A_{k-1} A_{k-2} A_k A_{k-1}$$

$$B_1 A_k B_2 \cdots B_s$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_{k-m} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_{k-m+1} A_s A_{k-m+2} A_{s+1} A_{k-m+3} A_{k-m+2}$$

$$A_{k-m+4} A_{k-m+3} A_{k-m+5} A_{k-m+4} \cdots A_{k-1}$$

$$A_{k-2} A_k A_{k-1} B_1 A_k B_2 \cdots B_{k-m}$$

Therefore, claims 6.2.2 and 6.2.3 hold for all m < k, by induction. It remains to show that claim 6.2.3 is true when m = k. But this is obvious since, in this case,  $(xy)^m x = (yx)^m y \Leftrightarrow$  $A_1 \cdots A_k = A_1 \cdots A_k$ .

Now we prove theorem 6.2.1, which is an easy consequence of the two claims. For the sufficient condition, suppose  $n = t(2k + 1), t \in \mathbb{N}$ . It suffices to show  $l = 2k + 1 \Rightarrow prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l)$ . Clearly, m = k when l = 2k + 1. Therefore, it follows by, claim 6.2.3, that

$$prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l) \Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_k = A_{k-k+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-k}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_k = A_1 \cdots A_k$$

For the necessary condition, assume that  $2k + 1 \nmid l$ . Then, prod(x, y; l) = prod(y, x; l) if and only if prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) for some  $r \in \{1, 2, \dots, 2k\}$ , where  $l \equiv r(mod(2k + 1))$ .

If r is even, then by claim 6.2.2,  $prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) \Leftrightarrow$ 

$$A_{k-q+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_k = A_{k-q+2} A_{k-q+1} A_{k-q+3} A_{k-q+2} A_{k-q+4} A_{k-q+3} A_{k-q+5}$$
$$A_{k-q+4} \cdots A_{k-1} B_1 A_k B_2 \cdots B_{k-q+1}$$

where  $q = \frac{r}{2}$ . Note that since  $r \leq 2k$ , this equation holds for  $q \leq k, k \geq 2$ .

$$LHS(a_{k-q+1}) = A_{k-q+1}A_{k-q+2}(a_{k-q+1})$$
  
=  $a_{k-q+2}$ 

$$RHS(a_{k-q+1}) = A_{k-q+2}A_{k-q+1}A_{k-q+3}A_{k-q+2}(a_{k-q+1})$$
  
=  $A_{k-q+2}A_{k-q+3}A_{k-q+1}A_{k-q+2}(a_{k-q+1})$   
=  $A_{k-q+2}A_{k-q+3}(a_{k-q+2})$   
=  $a_{k-q+3}$   
 $\neq a_{k-q+2}$ 

Hence, LHS  $\neq$  RHS.

If r is odd, then  $prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r) \Leftrightarrow A_1 \cdots A_k = A_{k-p+1} \cdots A_k B_1 \cdots B_{k-p}$ , where  $p = \frac{r-1}{2}$ . But then, provided that k - p + 1 > 1, we have  $LHS(a_1) = A_1A_2(a_1) = a_2$ , while  $RHS(a_1) = a_1 \neq a_2$ . Hence, LHS  $\neq$  RHS.

It remains to show that k - p + 1 > 1. Indeed,  $p \ge k \Rightarrow \frac{r-1}{2} \ge k \Rightarrow r \ge 2k + 1$ , contradicting  $r \in \{1, \dots, 2k\}$ .

#### 6.3 Artin relations from foldings

In this section, we use the theory of Artin groups to find Artin relations in the mapping class group. Even more, we give explicit elements x and y in Mod(S) that generate Artin groups of types  $I_2(k)$   $(k \ge 3)$  and  $I_2(2k - 2)$   $(k \ge 4)$ . To do that, we invoke LCMhomomorphisms (described in section 3.2) induced by the dihedral foldings  $A_{k-1} \rightarrow I_2(k)$ and  $D_k \rightarrow I_2(2k - 2)$ . The induced embeddings between the corresponding Artin groups provide k and 2k - 2 Artin relations in  $\mathcal{A}(A_{k-1})$  and  $\mathcal{A}(D_k)$  respectively. Since the Artin groups of types  $A_{k-1}$  and  $D_k$  inject into the corresponding mapping class groups via the geometric homomorphism, we obtain Artin relations of length k and 2k - 2 in  $Mod(S_{\Gamma})$ ,  $\Gamma = A_{k-1}, D_k$ .

**Theorem 6.3.1.** Let  $k \ge 3$  be an integer. Suppose that  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{k-1}$  form a (k-1)-chain in  $S_{A_{k-1}}$ . Let

$$x = \begin{cases} T_1 T_3 \cdots T_{k-3} T_{k-1} & \text{when } k \text{ is even} \\ T_1 T_3 \cdots T_{k-4} T_{k-2} & \text{when } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$
$$y = \begin{cases} T_2 T_4 \cdots T_{k-4} T_{k-2} & \text{when } k \text{ is even} \\ T_2 T_4 \cdots T_{k-3} T_{k-1} & \text{when } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

Then x and y generate the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(k))$  in  $Mod(S_{A_{k-1}})$ . Moreover, prod(x, y; n) = prod(y, x; n) if and only if  $n \equiv 0 \mod(k)$ .

*Proof.* We only prove the case when k is even. The odd case is proved similarly. Assume k is an even integer greater than 3. Consider the Coxeter graphs  $A_{k-1}$  and  $I_2(k)$ , and label their vertices by the sets  $P = \{s_1, s_2, \dots, s_{k-1}\}$  and  $Q = \{s, t\}$  respectively. Partition P into  $K_s = \{s_1, s_3, \dots, s_{k-3}, s_{k-1}\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_2, s_4, \dots, s_{k-4}, s_{k-2}\}$ . By corollary 3.3.4, the dihedral folding  $f : A_{k-1} \to I_2(k)$  such that  $f(K_s) = s$  and  $f(K_t) = t$  induces the LCM-homomorphism

$$\phi^f: \mathcal{A}^+(I_2(k)) \to \mathcal{A}^+(A_{k-1})$$

$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)}$$
  
 $t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)}$ 

By Lemma 5.2.1,  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_1 s_3 \cdots s_{k-3} s_{k-1}$  and  $\Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_2 s_4 \cdots s_{k-4} s_{k-2}$ . Corollary 3.3.4 implies that  $\phi^f$  is injective. By theorem 3.2.3,  $\phi^f$  induces an injective homomorphism  $\phi$  between the corresponding Artin groups. The curve graph associated to the  $a_i$ is isomorphic to  $A_{k-1}$ . Consequently, the geometric homomorphism

$$g: \mathcal{A}(A_{k-1}) \to Mod(S_{A_{k-1}})$$
  
 $s_i \mapsto T_i$ 

is injective by theorem 5.1.2. As such, the composition  $g \circ \phi$  gives a monomorphism of  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(k))$  into  $Mod(S_{A_{k-1}})$ .

Since x and y generate  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(k))$ , prod(x, y; k) = prod(y, x; k). From this equality, it follows immediately that prod(x, y; pk) = prod(y, x; pk) for all positive integers p. This proves the sufficient condition of the last statement in theorem 6.3.1. For the necessary condition, assume  $k \nmid n$  and prod(x, y; n) = prod(y, x; n). Then prod(x, y; r) = prod(y, x; r)for some  $r \in \{1, \dots, k-1\}$ . But since  $g \circ \phi$  is injective, this would mean that prod(s, t; r) =prod(t, s; r) in  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(k))$ , which is a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 6.3.2.** Let  $k \ge 4$  be an integer, and suppose that curves  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_k$  have curve graph  $D_k$  in  $S_{D_k}$ . Let

$$x = \begin{cases} T_1 T_3 \cdots T_{k-3} T_{k-1} T_k & \text{when } k \text{ is even} \\ T_1 T_3 \cdots T_{k-2} & \text{when } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

$$y = \begin{cases} T_2 T_4 \cdots T_{k-2} & \text{when } k \text{ is even} \\ T_2 T_4 \cdots T_{k-3} T_{k-1} T_k & \text{when } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

Then x and y generate the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(2k-2))$  in  $Mod(S_{D_k})$ . Moreover, prod(x, y; n) = prod(y, x; n) if and only if  $n \equiv 0 \mod(2k-2)$ .



Figure 6.3: If  $x = T_1T_3T_4$  and  $y = T_2$ , it follows from theorem 6.3.2 that  $(xy)^3 = (yx)^3$  in  $Mod(S_{1,3})$ . By capping off the two boundary components, one gets the relation  $(T_1^3T_2)^3 = (T_2T_1^3)^3$  in  $Mod(S_{1,1})$ .

Proof. Again, we only prove the even case. The odd one is proved the same way. Label the vertices of  $D_k$  and  $I_2(2k-2)$  by  $P = \{s_1, s_2, \cdots, s_k\}$  and  $Q = \{s, t\}$  respectively. Partition P into  $K_s = \{s_1, s_3, \cdots, s_{k-1}, s_k\}$  and  $K_t = \{s_2, s_4, \cdots, s_{k-2}\}$ . Both  $K_s$  and  $K_t$  consist of pairwise commuting generators of  $\mathcal{A}^+(D_k)$ . By Lemma 5.2.1, the least common multiple of each of these sets is the product of its elements (in any order). The dihedral folding  $f: D_k \to I_2(2k-2)$  induces the LCM-homomorphism  $\phi^f: \mathcal{A}^+(I_2(2k-2)) \to \mathcal{A}^+(D_k)$ , which maps

$$s \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(s)} = s_1 s_3 \cdots s_{k-1} s_k$$
$$t \mapsto \Delta_{f^{-1}(t)} = s_2 s_4 \cdots s_{k-2}$$

Since  $\phi^f$  is injective, the induced map,  $\phi$ , on the corresponding Artin group is injective as well. By post-composing with the geometric homomorphism  $g: \mathcal{A}(D_k) \to Mod(S_{D_k})$ , one gets an embedding of  $I_2(2k-2)$  into  $Mod(S_{D_k})$ . This produces a subgroup of  $Mod(S_{D_k})$ which is isomorphic to the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(I_2(2k-2))$ , and is generated by x and y. Since prod(s,t;2k-2) = prod(t,s;2k-2), it follows that prod(x,y;2k-2) = prod(y,x;2k-2). The rest of the proof follows as in theorem 6.3.1. **Corollary 6.3.3** (Corollary to theorem 6.3.2). Let  $a_1$  and  $a_2$  be isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S. If  $i(a_1, a_2) = 1$ , then  $T_1^3$  and  $T_2$  satisfy an Artin relation of length 6 in Mod(S).

*Proof.* Let F be a regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2$  so that F is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,1}$ . In F, consider three parallel copies of  $a_1$  denoted by  $a_1$ ,  $a_3$ , and  $a_4$ . Now remove two open disks from F to obtain  $S_{1,3}$  and curves  $a_1, a_2, a_3$ , and  $a_4$  as in Figure 6.3.

When k = 4, theorem 6.3.2 implies that  $x = T_1T_3T_4$  and  $y = T_2$  satisfy xyxyxy = yxyxyx in  $Mod(S_{D_4}) = Mod(S_{1,3})$ . By theorem 5.1.2, the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{1,3})$  generated by  $T_1, T_2, T_3$ , and  $T_4$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(D_4)$ . Now, reverse the process and cap off the two boundary components to recover  $F \approx S_{1,1}$ . There is a homomorphism  $G \to Mod(S_{1,1})$  defined by  $T_2 \mapsto T_2$  and  $T_j \mapsto T_1$  for j = 1, 3, 4. The image of xyxyxy = yxyxyx under this homomorphism is  $(T_1^3T_2)^3 = (T_2T_1^3)^3$  in  $Mod(S_{1,1})$ . Of course, the same relation is true in Mod(S).

## CHAPTER 7

# SUBGROUPS OF MOD(S) GENERATED BY THREE DEHN TWISTS

#### 7.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we are going to study subgroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists. Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  are essential, pairwise nonisotopic simple closed curves in S. As alluded in chapter 1, we shall not distinguish between a simple closed curve and its isotopy class notationally.

Consider the isotopy classes  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$ , and assume that all the geometric intersections  $i(a_j, a_k) \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ . This assumption will keep the combinatorics manageable to a certain extent. Denote by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$  the respective (left) Dehn twists along  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  and  $a_3$ . If G denotes the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ , we find presentations for G corresponding to different configurations of the simple closed curves  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$ . We remark that the question of determining subgroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists is considerably harder than the case of two Dehn twists. It is a nontrivial task to show that a non-obvious defining relation exists between the  $T_i$  in G. It is also very hard to prove that no such defining relations exist.

The structure of G could depend on the surface in which the simple closed curves  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ and  $a_3$  are viewed. For instance, let S be a compact orientable surface containing  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$ , and denote by  $N_{\epsilon}$  a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . If S is obtained from  $N_{\epsilon}$ by capping off some boundary component of  $N_{\epsilon}$  with a disk, this could possibly add more defining relations between the  $T_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, in Mod(S). As such, G viewed as a subgroup of  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$  and G viewed as a subgroup of Mod(S) are not necessarily isomorphic. Hence, it is important to specify the ambient group Mod(S) when studying G.

In almost all the subsequent sections, we shall carry out our analysis as follows. First, we study the structure of G viewed as a subgroup of  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$ , where  $N_{\epsilon}$  is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . Then, we use theorem 1.5.2 to determine G as a subgroup of Mod(S), where S contains  $N_{\epsilon}$  as a subsurface. Since  $N_{\epsilon}$  is the smallest compact surface containing  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$ , this covers all possible compact (with possibly empty boundary) surfaces containing the  $a_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3. As a result, we obtain all the possible structures of G corresponding to a given configuration of  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$ .

Our program for understanding subgroups of Mod(S) generated by three Dehn twists depends on the geometric intersections  $i(a_j, a_k)$ , j < k and  $j, k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ . Clearly, there are three such geometric intersections. Following Dickinson's notation in [8], we encapsulate these three geometric intersections in an ordered triple as follows. Given  $i(a_1, a_2) = x_{12}$ ,  $i(a_1, a_3) = x_{13}$ , and  $i(a_2, a_3) = x_{23}$ , we use the ordered triple  $(x_{12}, x_{13}, x_{23})$ . This ordered triple shall henceforth encode the geometric intersections  $i(a_j, a_k)$  with the above defined order.

In section 7.8, we shall amend the triple notation slightly to account for isotopy classes  $a_1, a_2$ , and  $a_3$  whose intersection triple is (2, 1, 0), but whose corresponding closed regular neighborhoods  $N_{\epsilon} = N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3)$  are non-homeomorphic. The reason we do this is because the structure of G might not be the same in each case. We shall see in subsections 7.8.1 and 7.8.2 that there are two non-homeomorphic surfaces  $N_{\epsilon}$  associated with the intersection triple (2, 1, 0). These surfaces can be distinguished by examining the algebraic intersection number  $\hat{i}(a_1, a_2)$  (see section 1.1).

Recall that when  $i(a_j, a_k) = 1$ ,  $\hat{i}(a_j, a_k) = \pm 1$ . In this case, a closed regular neighbor-

hood of  $a_j \cup a_k$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,1}$ . On the other hand, when  $i(a_j, a_k) = 2$ , either  $\hat{i}(a_j, a_k) = \pm 2$  or 0. When  $\hat{i}(a_j, a_k) = 0$ , a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_j \cup a_k$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{0,4}$ , whereas  $\hat{i}(a_j, a_k) = \pm 2$  implies that a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_j \cup a_k$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,2}$ . In particular, depending on whether  $\hat{i}(a_1, a_2) = 0$  or  $\pm 2$ , the intersection triple (2, 1, 0) gives rise to two closed regular neighborhoods  $N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3)$  given by  $S_{2,1}$  and  $S_{1,3}$  respectively (see subsections 7.8.1 and 7.8.2). Thus, we amend the notation (2, 1, 0) and write  $(2\gamma, 1, 0)$  where  $\gamma = \hat{i}(a_1, a_2)$ .

It is easy to see that there is a one to one correspondence between the set  $\{(x_{12}, x_{13}, x_{23})\}$ of intersection triples and the set of (non-isomorphic) curve graphs of  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$ . Since we are assuming  $i(a_j, a_k) \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ , there are ten distinct intersection triples corresponding to (0, 0, 0), (1, 0, 0), (2, 0, 0), (1, 0, 1), (1, 1, 1), (2, 1, 0), (2, 2, 0), (2, 1, 1), (2, 2, 1), and (2, 2, 2). As such, there are ten non-isomorphic curve graphs corresponding to these triples. These graphs are shown in Table 7.1.

In the subsequent sections, we shall find explicit presentations for G (viewed as a subgroup of Mod(S) for all possible S) for the first five intersection triples. For the triple (2, 1, 0), we study G corresponding to  $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$  and  $(2_0, 1, 0)$ . In these cases, we are not able to find an explicit presentation for G. However, we show (with the help of the computer algebra software Magma) that G is finitely presented and is isomorphic to an infinite index subgroup of some Artin group. For the remaining four triples, we have obtained some partial results similar to those of section 7.8, but we do not include them in the dissertation.

#### 7.2 Subgroups of Mod(S) generated by two Dehn twists

Before delving into our study of subgroups generated by three Dehn twists, we recall the subgroups of Mod(S) generated by two Dehn twists. Consider two simple closed curves a and b in S. The subgroups of Mod(S) generated by the Dehn twists  $T_a$  and  $T_b$  are classified according to the geometric intersection number i(a, b). Precisely,

**Theorem 7.2.1.** If i(a,b) = 0, then  $\langle T_a, T_b \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ .
$\begin{bmatrix} a_3 \\ \bullet \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{array}{c} a_3 \\ \bullet \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} a_3 \\ \bullet \\ 2 \\ \bullet \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array}$	
	$\begin{array}{c} a_3 \\ \bullet \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} a_3 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array}$	
$\begin{array}{c} a_3 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} a_3 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array}$		

Table 7.1: This table shows the ten (non-isomorphic) curve graphs determined by  $\{(x_{12}, x_{13}, x_{23}) | x_{jk} \in \{0, 1, 2\}\}.$ 

**Theorem 7.2.2.** If i(a,b) = 1, then  $\langle T_a, T_b \rangle \cong SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  when  $S = S_{1,0}$ , and  $\langle T_a, T_b \rangle \cong \mathcal{B}_3$  otherwise.

**Theorem 7.2.3.** If  $i(a,b) \geq 2$ , then  $\langle T_a, T_b \rangle \cong \mathbb{F}_2$ .

Theorem 7.2.1 follows immediately from proposition 1.3.7 and fact 1.3.6. It is also a special case of theorem 7.3.3. When  $S \neq S_{1,0}$  and i(a,b) = 1,  $\langle T_a, T_b \rangle \cong \mathcal{B}_3$  follows easily from theorem 5.1.2 and corollary 1.5.3. When  $S = S_{1,0}$ ,  $\langle T_a, T_b \rangle$  has the additional relation  $(T_a T_b)^6 = 1$ , which makes it isomorphic to  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Finally, note that theorem 7.2.3 is theorem 1.3.11, due to Ishida [15].

**7.3** The case (0, 0, 0)

A more general result of this case is well known. More precisely, if  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  is a collection of essential, pairwise nonisotopic, and pairwise disjoint simple closed curves in S, then the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by the  $T_j, i = 1, \dots, n$  is isomorphic to the free abelian group of rank n. A nice proof, which we include here for completeness, can be found in [23]. The proof makes use of the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 7.3.1** (Rolfsen-Paris). Suppose that F is an essential subsurface of S, and let a, b be essential simple closed curves in F. Assume that a is not isotopic in F to a boundary component of an exterior cylinder (see definition 1.5.1). Then a and b are isotopic in F if and only if they are isotopic in S.

**Lemma 7.3.2** (Rolfsen-Paris). Suppose  $a_1, \dots, a_p$  are essential simple closed curves in S such that:

- $a_j \cap a_k = \emptyset$ , if  $j \neq k$ ,
- $a_j$  is not isotopic to  $a_k$ , if  $j \neq k$ ,
- none of the  $a_i$  is peripheral (ie isotopic to a boundary component) in S.

Then for each  $j, 1 \leq j \leq p$ , there exists an isotopy class of simple closed curves b such that  $i(a_k, b) = 0$  if  $j \neq k$ , and  $i(a_j, b) > 0$ .

**Theorem 7.3.3.** Suppose that  $\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}$  is a collection of essential, pairwise disjoint simple closed curves in S. Assume that, for all  $j \neq k$ ,  $a_j$  is not isotopic to  $a_k$ . Then the subgroup G of Mod(S) generated by the Dehn twists  $T_1, \dots, T_n$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ .

*Proof.* Let  $w \in G$ . Since all the  $T_j$  commute with one another, we may write  $w = T_1^{m_1}T_2^{m_2}\cdots T_n^{m_n}, m_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Define the map  $\tau : \mathbb{Z}^n \to Mod(S)$  by

$$\tau(m_1, m_2, \cdots, m_n) = T_1^{m_1} T_2^{m_2} \cdots T_n^{m_n}$$

Since the  $T_j$  are pairwise commutative,  $\tau$  is a homomorphism. To prove injectivity, suppose  $w = T_1^{m_1}T_2^{m_2}\cdots T_n^{m_n}$  is equal to the identity in Mod(S). Let  $\hat{S}$  be the closed surface obtained from S by gluing  $S_{1,1}$  to each boundary component of S. The  $a_j$  are still essential in  $\hat{S}$ , and lemma 7.3.1 implies that  $a_j$  is not isotopic to  $a_k$  in  $\hat{S}$ , for  $j \neq k$ . Fix an arbitrary  $j \in \{1, 2, \cdots, n\}$ . By lemma 7.3.2, there is a simple closed curve b such that  $i(a_j, b) > 0$  and  $i(a_k, b) = 0$  for all  $k \neq j$ . This implies that  $[T_k, T_b] = 1$  for all  $k \neq j$ . Consequently,  $b = w(b) = T_1^{m_1}T_2^{m_2}\cdots T_n^{m_n}(b) = T_j^{m_j}(b)$ . By fact 1.3.5, we have

$$0 = i(b,b) = i(T_j^{m_j}(b),b) = |m_j|(a_j,b)^2$$

Since  $i(a_j, b) > 0$ ,  $m_j = 0$ . And since j was arbitrary,  $m_j = 0$  for all j. Now we have

$$\mathbb{Z}^n \xrightarrow{\tau} Mod(S) \xrightarrow{\imath_*} Mod(\hat{S})$$

where  $i_* \circ \tau$  is injective. Therefore,  $\tau$  is injective.

## **7.4** The case (1, 0, 0)

let  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  be distinct isotopy classes of essential simple closed curves in  $S = S_{g,b}$ , satisfying the triple (1,0,0). For this to happen, it must be the case that  $(g,b) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}_{\geq 0} \setminus \{(1,0)\}$ . Since  $i(a_1, a_2) = 1$  and  $S_{1,0}$  is excluded, theorem 7.2.2 implies that  $\langle T_1, T_2 \rangle \cong \mathcal{B}_3$  in Mod(S). The following lemma, due to Margalit [22], characterizes the 2-chain relation in Mod(S).

**Lemma 7.4.1** (Margalit). Suppose  $M = (T_x T_y)^k$ , where M is a multitwist word (ie product of Dehn twists along pairwise disjoint curves) and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , is a nontrivial relation in Mod(S), and  $[M, T_x] = 1$ . Then the given relation is the 2-chain relation. This means that  $M = T_c^j$ , where  $c = \partial N_{\epsilon}(x \cup y)$ , and k = 6j.

**Theorem 7.4.2.** Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  are distinct isotopy classes of essential simple closed curves in S, satisfying the triple (1,0,0). Let G be the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ . Then

- $G \cong \mathcal{B}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}$  if  $a_3 \neq \partial N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2)$
- $G \cong \mathcal{B}_3$  if  $a_3 = \partial N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2)$

*Proof.* Assume that  $a_3 \neq \partial N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2)$ . Define the map

$$\tau : \langle T_1, T_2 \rangle \times \mathbb{Z} \to G = \langle T_1, T_2, T_3 \rangle$$
$$(f, n) \mapsto fT_3^n$$

We show that  $\tau$  is an isomorphism. Clearly,  $\tau$  is well-defined. It is also obvious that  $\tau$  is surjective.

$$\tau ((f_1, n_1)(f_2, n_2)) = \tau (f_1.f_2, n_1 + n_2)$$
  
=  $f_1.f_2T_3^{n_1+n_2}$   
=  $(f_1T_3^{n_1})(f_2T_3^{n_2})$   
=  $\tau (f_1, n_1) \tau (f_2, n_2)$ 

The third equality is due to the fact that  $T_3$  commutes with both  $T_1$  and  $T_2$ . It remains to show the injectivity of  $\tau$ . If  $fT_3^k = gT_3^n$ , where  $f,g \in \langle T_1, T_2 \rangle$  and  $k, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then  $g^{-1}f = T_3^{n-k}$ .  $g^{-1}f$  is an element of  $\langle T_1, T_2 \rangle \cong \mathcal{B}_3$ . Set  $w = g^{-1}f$ . Since  $[w, T_i] = 1$  for i = 1, 2, w is in the center of  $\langle T_1, T_2 \rangle$ . By theorem 2.2.1, the center of  $\langle T_1, T_2 \rangle$  is generated by  $(T_1T_2)^3$ . As such,  $w = (T_1T_2)^{3p}$  for some  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Now,  $(T_1T_2)^{3p} = T_3^{n-k}$  is a Dehn twist relation where  $T_3^{n-k}$  is a multitwist, and  $[T_3^{n-k}, T_1] = 1$ . By lemma 7.4.1, this relation is either the 2-chain relation or a trivial relation. The first case implies  $a_3 = \partial N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2)$ , which contradicts the hypothesis. Hence,  $g^{-1}f = T_3^{n-k}$  must be trivial Mod(S). This gives n = k and f = g.

Now suppose that  $a_3 = \partial N_{\epsilon}(a_1 \cup a_2)$ . By the chain relation,  $T_3 = (T_1T_2)^6$ . Hence,  $G = \langle T_1, T_2, T_3 \rangle$  reduces to  $\langle T_1, T_2 \rangle \cong \mathcal{B}_3$ , the classical braid group on three strands.  $\Box$ 

# **7.5** The case (2, 0, 0)

**Theorem 7.5.1.** Suppose  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  are distinct isotopy classes of essential simple closed curves satisfying the triple (2,0,0) in S. If G is the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by the Dehn twists  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ , the  $G \cong \mathbb{F}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* Define the map

$$\tau : \langle T_1, T_2 \rangle \times \mathbb{Z} \to G = \langle T_1, T_2, T_3 \rangle$$
$$(f, n) \mapsto fT_3^n$$

 $\tau$  is clearly well-defined. That  $\tau$  is surjective follows from the fact that every element of G may be written in the form  $fT_3^n$ , where  $f \in \langle T_1, T_2 \rangle$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This is because  $T_3$  commutes with both  $T_1$  and  $T_2$ .

$$\tau ((f_1, n_1)(f_2, n_2)) = \tau (f_1 \cdot f_2, n_1 + n_2)$$
  
=  $f_1 \cdot f_2 T_3^{n_1 + n_2}$   
=  $(f_1 T_3^{n_1}) (f_2 T_3^{n_2})$   
=  $\tau (f_1, n_1) \tau (f_2, n_2)$ 

For injectivity, suppose that  $fT_3^p = gT_3^q$  for some  $f, g \in \langle T_1, T_2 \rangle$  and  $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This equality holds if and only if  $g^{-1}f = T_3^{q-p}$ . Set  $w = g^{-1}f$  and l = q - p. We will show that  $w = T_3^l$  implies l = 0. Consequently, p = q and f = g.

Since  $i(a_1, a_2) \ge 2$ ,  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  generate a free group according to theorem 7.2.3. Assume  $w = T_3^l$ . Since  $i(a_1, a_3) = 0$ ,  $[w, T_1] = 1$ . But,  $w \in \langle T_1, T_2 \rangle \cong \mathbb{F}_2$ . So,  $w = T_1^r$  for some  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This implies that  $T_1^r = T_3^l$ . Since  $a_1 \neq a_3$ , corollary 1.3.10 implies that l = r = 0.  $\Box$ 

We remark that the proof of theorem 7.5.1 establishes the following stronger result.

**Theorem 7.5.2.** For every integer  $m \ge 2$ , if  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  and  $a_3$  satisfy the triple (m, 0, 0) in S, then the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by the Dehn twists  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{F}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}$ .

## **7.6** The case (1, 0, 1)

Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  and  $a_3$  are distinct isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S, satisfying the intersection triple (1, 0, 1). As illustrated in Table 7.1, the curve graph induced by the  $a_i$  is the Coxeter graph  $A_3$ . By part (ii) of theorem 4.2.1, the surface  $S_{A_3}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,2}$ . Recall that  $S_{A_3}$  represents a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . Let G denote the subgroup of  $Mod(S_{1,2})$  generated by  $T_1, T_2$ , and  $T_3$ . By theorem 5.1.2, Gis isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ .  $S_{1,2}$  is a subsurface of  $S_{g,b}$  for all  $(g, b) \in \mathcal{X}$ , where



Figure 7.1: Capping off  $\partial S_{1,2}$  with disks or with an exterior cylinder.

$$\mathcal{X} = \{ (p,q) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z} : p \ge 1, q \ge 0 \}$$

By corollary 1.5.3, the homomorphism  $i_* : Mod(S_{1,2}) \to Mod(S_{g,b})$  is injective for all  $(g,b) \in \mathcal{X} \setminus \{(1,0), (1,1), (2,0)\}$ . In other words,  $i_*$  is injective except when  $S = S_{1,1}, S_{1,0}$ , or  $S_{2,0}$ . The surface  $S_{1,1}$  is obtained from  $S_{A_3} \approx S_{1,2}$  when either boundary component is capped off with a disk (figure 7.1 (a)&(b)).  $S_{1,0}$  is obtained from  $S_{A_3}$  by capping off both boundary components with disks, as in figure 7.1 (c). Finally,  $S_{2,0}$  is obtained from  $S_{A_3}$  by attaching an exterior cylinder as in figure 7.1 (d).

In the cases (a), (b), and (c) corresponding to  $S_{1,1}$  and  $S_{1,0}$ ,  $a_1 = a_3$ , violating the assumption that they must be distinct isotopy classes. So, in these cases, the triple (1, 0, 1)is not satisfied to start with. In case (d), we know that  $i_* : Mod(S_{1,2}) \to Mod(S_{2,0})$  is not injective. We shall prove, however, that  $i_*|_G$  is injective.

By theorem 1.5.2,  $ker(i_*)$  is normally generated by  $T_4T_5^{-1}$ , where  $a_4$  and  $a_5$  are the peripheral (ie boundary parallel) curves in  $S_{1,2}$ . Since  $T_4$  and  $T_5$  are both central in  $Mod(S_{1,2})$ , so is  $T_4T_5^{-1}$ . Consequently,  $ker(i_*)$  is generated by  $T_4T_5^{-1}$ .

G injects into  $Mod(S_{2,0})$  if  $G \cap ker(i_*) = \{1\}$ . In other words, there does not exist a nontrivial element  $W \in G$  and  $n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $W = (T_4 T_5^{-1})^n$ . We will now prove that this is indeed the case. Suppose that  $W = (T_4 T_5^{-1})^n$  in  $Mod(S_{1,2})$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ . As  $T_4$  and  $T_5$  commute with all the  $T_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, W is in the center, Z(G), of G. Since G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ , it follows that Z(G) is infinite cyclic, generated by  $(T_1T_2T_3)^4$  according to theorem 2.2.1. Hence,  $W = (T_1T_2T_3)^{4k}$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . On the other hand, the chain relation gives  $T_4T_5 = (T_1T_2T_3)^4$ , and so  $(T_4T_5)^k = (T_1T_2T_3)^{4k}$ . Noting that  $[T_4, T_5] = 1$ , we have

$$\begin{array}{rcl} T_4^nT_5^{-n} &=& T_4^kT_5^k \Leftrightarrow \\ T_4^{n-k} &=& T_5^{n+k} \end{array}$$

Since  $a_4 \neq a_5$  in  $S_{1,2}$ , it follows from corollary 1.3.10 that n = k = 0, a contradiction. We have proved the following theorem:

**Theorem 7.6.1.** Let  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  be distinct isotopy classes of simple closed curves satisfying the triple (1,0,1) in S. If G < Mod(S) is generated by the Dehn twists  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ , then G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ . More explicitly, G has presentation

$$\langle T_1, T_2, T_3 | T_1T_2T_1 = T_2T_1T_2, T_1T_3 = T_3T_1, T_2T_3T_2 = T_3T_2T_3 \rangle$$

#### **7.7** The case (1, 1, 1)

Consider three distinct isotopy classes  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  of simple closed curves in S satisfying the triple (1, 1, 1). Let  $T_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 represent the (left) Dehn twist along  $a_i$ , and denote by G the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ ,  $T_3$ . In this section, we study the structure of G, viewed as a subgroup of Mod(S) for all possible S. We shall make use of the following theorem by Charney and Peifer [5].

**Theorem 7.7.1** (Charney-Peifer). The center  $Z\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  of  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_{n-1})$  is trivial.

**Theorem 7.7.2.** Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  are distinct isotopy classes of simple closed curves in S, satisfying the triple (1,1,1). Let  $\widetilde{S}$  represent a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . By theorem 4.3.4,  $\widetilde{S}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,3}$  and one of the boundary components is distinguished in the sense of definition 4.3.5. Denote by  $T_i$  the (left) Dehn twist along  $a_i$  and by G the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ . Then the structure of G is given as follows:

(1) If  $S = \widetilde{S}$  (ie  $S = S_{1,3}$ ), then  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ .

(2) If S contains  $\widetilde{S}$  as a subsurface and no component of no component of  $\overline{S \setminus \widetilde{S}}$  is a cylinder exterior to  $\widetilde{S}$  or a disk with less than two punctures, then  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ .

(3) If S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off one boundary component  $c_i$  with a disk (ie  $S = S_{1,2}$ ), then  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$  when  $c_i$  is distinguished, and  $G \cong \mathcal{B}_4$  otherwise.

(4) If S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off two boundary components with disks (ie  $S = S_{1,1}$ ), then  $G \cong \mathcal{B}_3$ .

(5) If S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off three boundary components with disks (ie  $S = S_{1,0}$ ), then  $G \cong SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

(6) If S is obtained from S̃ by attaching an exterior cylinder (ie S = S<sub>2,1</sub>), then G ≅ A(Ã<sub>2</sub>).
(7) If S is obtained from S̃ by attaching an exterior cylinder and capping off the remaining boundary component c<sub>i</sub> with a disk (ie S = S<sub>2,0</sub>), then G ≅ A(Ã<sub>2</sub>) when c<sub>i</sub> is distinguished, and G ≅ B<sub>4</sub> otherwise.

*Proof.* Assume that the isotopy classes  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  satisfy the triple (1, 1, 1) in S, and consider the subsurface  $\widetilde{S}$ , which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . By theorem 5.5.4,  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$  is isomorphic to G via the geometric homomorphism sending the  $i^{th}$ standard generator  $\gamma_i$  of  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$  to  $T_i$ . This implies that G has presentation

$$G = \langle T_1, T_2, T_3 \mid T_i T_{i+1} T_i = T_{i+1} T_i T_{i+1} \mod(3), \ i = 1, 2, 3 \rangle$$

We shall now consider G as a subgroup of Mod(S) as opposed to a subgroup of  $Mod(\tilde{S})$ . There are a few cases to consider.

If S is an orientable surface containing  $\widetilde{S}$  as a subsurface, and no component of  $\overline{S} \setminus \widetilde{S}$  is a cylinder exterior to  $\widetilde{S}$  or a disk with less than two punctures, then by corollary 1.5.3,



Figure 7.2: The simple closed curves  $a_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 satisfy the intersection triple (1, 1, 1) in  $\tilde{S}$ . The surface  $\tilde{S}$ , which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,3}$ . Note that we numbered the boundary components to keep track of which one we cap off when studying the homomorphism  $i_* : Mod(\tilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$ . It is easy to check that 3 is the distinguished boundary.

 $i_*: Mod(\widetilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$  is injective. As such, the subgroup G of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$  and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$  via the geometric homomorphism mapping  $\gamma_i$  to  $T_i$ .

We shall now examine the cases when  $i_* : Mod(\widetilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$  is not injective. First note that by theorem 4.3.4,  $\widetilde{S}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,3}$ . Moreover, it follows from theorem 5.5.4 that  $a_1, a_2$ , and  $a_3$  may be chosen as in Figure 7.2.

The homomorphism  $i_*: Mod(\widetilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$  is injective except when S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by

- Capping off one boundary component with a disk.
- Capping off two boundary components with disks.
- Capping off three boundary components with disks.
- Attaching an cylinder exterior to  $\widetilde{S}$ .
- Attaching an exterior cylinder and capping off the remaining boundary with a disk.



Figure 7.3: The surfaces obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by capping off one, two and three boundary components with disks. The red curves in (a), (b), and (c) are denoted by  $a_4$ . They are introduced in each case to determine the structure of G.

First, we study the cases where S is obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by capping off one boundary component with a disk. See figure 7.3 (a),(b), and (c) for illustration.

Suppose S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off  $\partial_1$  with a disk. Introduce the simple closed curve  $a_4$  shown in red in figure 7.3 (a) and note that  $a_4 = T_2^{-1}(a_3)$ . Then  $T_4 = T_2^{-1}T_3T_2$ . This implies that  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$  and  $T_4$  generate G. Since  $a_2$ ,  $a_1$  and  $a_4$  form a chain in S and since S is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_2 \cup a_1 \cup a_4$ , it follows by theorem 5.1.2 that G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ .

Suppose S is obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by capping off  $\partial_2$  with a disk. Introduce the simple closed curve  $a_4$  shown in figure 7.3 (b) and note that  $a_4 = T_1(a_3)$ . As such,  $T_4 = T_1T_3T_1^{-1}$  and so G is generated by  $T_2$ ,  $T_1$  and  $T_4$ . Since  $a_2$ ,  $a_1$ , and  $a_4$  form a chain in S, and S is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_2 \cup a_1 \cup a_4$ , it follows from theorem 1.5.2 that G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ .

Finally, suppose that S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off  $\partial_3$  with a disk. Introduce the

simple closed curve as in figure 7.3 (c) and note that S is homeomorphic to a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_4 \cup a_1 \cup a_2$ . Also note that  $a_3 = T_4^2 T_1(a_2)$ . This is the same construction as in theorem 5.5.1. By this theorem,  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ .

We now study the surfaces S obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by capping off two boundary components with disks. Refer to figure 7.3 (d), (e), and (f).

Let S be the surface obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off  $\partial_1$  and  $\partial_2$  with disks. It is easy to check  $a_3 = T_2(a_1)$  so that  $T_3 = T_2T_1T_2^{-1}$ . As such, G is generated by  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  in Mod(S). Since  $i(a_1, a_2) = 1$ , it follows by theorem 7.2.2 that G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_3$ .

If S is the surface obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off  $\partial_1$  and  $\partial_3$  with disks, note that  $a_3 = T_2(a_1)$ . Then  $T_3 = T_2T_1T_2^{-1}$  and as in the preceding paragraph, G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_3$ .

Finally, suppose that S is obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off  $\partial_2$  and  $\partial_3$  with disks. In this case, it is still true that  $a_3 = T_2(a_1)$ . As such, G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_3$ .

If S be the surface obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by capping off all three boundary components with disks (figure 7.3 (g)), then  $a_3 = T_2(a_1)$  is true. So G is generated by  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  in Mod(S). Since  $i(a_1, a_2) = 1$  and S is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,0}$ , it follows by theorem 7.2.2 that G is isomorphic to  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

We now study the surfaces S obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by attaching an exterior cylinder  $c_{ij}$ ,  $(i, j) \in \{(1, 2), (1, 3), (2, 3)\}.$ 

Let S be the surface obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by attaching the exterior cylinder  $c_{ij}$ ,  $(i, j) \in \{(1, 2), (1, 3), (2, 3)\}$ . By theorem 1.5.2, the kernel of the homomorphism  $i_* : Mod(\widetilde{S}) \to Mod(S)$  is generated by  $T_{\partial_i}T_{\partial_j}^{-1}$ , which is central in  $Mod(\widetilde{S})$  by theorem 1.6.1. If  $w \in G$  is such that  $i_*(w) = 1$ , then  $w \in Ker(i_*)$ . As such,  $w = (T_{\partial_i}T_{\partial_j}^{-1})^p$  for some integer p. So, w is central in  $Mod(\widetilde{S})$  and consequently  $w \in Z(G)$ . But  $G \cong \mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ , and so the center Z(G) is trivial by theorem 7.7.1. Therefore, w = 1. This shows that  $i_*|_G$  is injective and thus the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$  and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ .

Finally, we study the surfaces S obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by attaching an exterior cylinder and capping off the remaining boundary with a disk.

Let S be the surface obtained from  $\widetilde{S}$  by attaching the exterior cylinder  $c_{12}$  and capping off  $\partial_3$  with a disk. We saw that after capping off  $\partial_3$  with a disk, the subgroup of  $Mod(S_{1,2})$ generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ . Now attach the cylinder  $c_{12}$  to  $S_{1,2}$ to obtain  $S_{2,0}$ . The kernel of  $i_* : Mod(S_{1,2}) \to Mod(S_{2,0})$  is generated by  $T_{\partial_1}T_{\partial_2^{-1}}$ . Since the center of  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$  is trivial, a similar argument as before shows that the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{2,0})$  generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(\widetilde{A}_2)$ .

Let S be the surface obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by attaching the exterior cylinder  $c_{13}$  and capping off  $\partial_2$  with a disk. We saw that after capping off  $\partial_2$  with a disk, the subgroup of  $Mod(S_{1,2})$ generated by  $T_1, T_2$ , and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ . Now attach the cylinder  $c_{13}$  to  $S_{1,2}$  to get  $S_{2,0}$ . The kernel of  $i_* : Mod(S_{1,2}) \to Mod(S_{2,0})$  is generated by  $T_{\partial_1}T_{\partial_3^{-1}}$ , which is central in  $Mod(S_{1,2})$  by theorem 1.6.1. If  $i_*(w) = 1$  for some  $w \in G < Mod(S_{1,2})$ , then  $w \in Ker(i_*)$ . Thus,  $w \stackrel{(1)}{=} (T_{\partial_1}T_{\partial_3}^{-1})^p$  for some integer p. So w lies in the center of  $Mod(S_{1,2})$ , and in particular, w is in the center of  $G \cong \mathcal{B}_4$ . By theorem 2.2.1 and theorem 5.1.2, the center of G is infinite cyclic generated by  $(T_4T_1T_2)^4$ . Moreover,  $(T_4T_1T_2)^4 = T_{\partial_1}T_{\partial_3}$  by the chain relation. So  $w \stackrel{(2)}{=} (T_{\partial_1}T_{\partial_3})^q$  for some integer q. By (1) and (2), and the fact that  $[T_{\partial_1}, T_{\partial_3}] = 1$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} T^p_{\partial_1}T^{-p}_{\partial_3} &= T^q_{\partial_1}T^q_{\partial_3} \Leftrightarrow \\ T^{p-q}_{\partial_1} &= T^{p+q}_{\partial_3} \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\partial_1 \neq \partial_3$ , corollary 1.3.10 implies p - q = p + q = 0. This implies that p = q = 0. As such, w = 1 and so  $i_*|_G$  is injective. Therefore, the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{2,0})$  generated by  $T_1, T_2$ , and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ .

Finally, let S be the surface obtained from  $\tilde{S}$  by attaching the exterior cylinder  $c_{23}$  and capping off  $\partial_1$  with a disk. We saw that after capping off  $\partial_1$  with a disk, the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{1,2})$  generated by  $T_1, T_2$ , and  $T_3$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ . Now attach the cylinder  $c_{13}$  to  $S_{1,2}$  to get  $S_{2,0}$ . A similar argument to the one in the preceding case shows that G is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ .

#### **7.8** The case (2, 1, 0)

Assume that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  satisfy the triple (2, 1, 0) in S. There are two cases to investigate, depending on whether the algebraic intersection number  $\hat{i}(a_1, a_2)$  is  $\pm 2$  or 0. In the following subsections, we study the subgroups of Mod(S) generated by Dehn twists along curves satisfying the configurations  $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$  and  $(2_0, 1, 0)$ .

#### **7.8.1** $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$

Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  satisfy the triple  $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$  in S, and consider the subsurface  $N_{\epsilon} \subset S$ , which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ .  $N_{\epsilon}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{2,1}$ . This can be seen as follows. By tracing  $\partial F$  (see figure 7.4), it is clear that  $N_{\epsilon}$  has one boundary component. Moreover,  $N_{\epsilon}$  deformation retracts to the graph  $\Gamma$  consisting of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . Since the Euler characteristic is homotopy type invariant, it follows that  $\chi(N_{\epsilon}) = \chi(\Gamma)$ . Hence,  $\chi(N_{\epsilon}) = 2 - 2g - 1 = -3 = v - e = \chi(\Gamma)$  implies  $g_{N_{\epsilon}} = 2$ . So,  $N_{\epsilon}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{2,1}$ .

**Proposition 7.8.1.** Let  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  be isotopy classes of simple closed curves satisfying the triple  $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$  in S, and denote by G be the subgroup of Mod(S) generated by the Dehn twists  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ . Consider the five strand braid group  $\mathcal{B}_5$  whose presentation is encoded in the Coxeter graph



Assume that  $S \neq S_{2,0}$ . Then G is isomorphic to the subgroup of  $\mathcal{B}_5$  generated by  $\sigma_2^2 \sigma_3 \sigma_2^{-2}$ ,  $\sigma_1$ , and  $\sigma_4$ . Moreover, G is finitely presented and is isomorphic to an infinite index subgroup of  $\mathcal{B}_5$ .



Figure 7.4: The surface  $N_{\epsilon}$  formed by a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ , where the  $a_i$  satisfy  $(2_{\pm 2}, 1, 0)$ .

*Proof.* Consider the subsurface  $N_{\epsilon}$  of S which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . As shown above  $N_{\epsilon}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{2,1}$ , and the positions of the  $a_i$  in F can be seen in figure 7.5. Introduce the curves  $a_4$  and  $a_5$  as in figure 7.6, and denote by  $G_1$  the subgroup of  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$  generated by  $T_2$ ,  $T_3$ ,  $T_4$ , and  $T_5$ . By theorem 5.1.2,  $G_1$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_5$ . That is,  $G_1$  has generators  $T_2, T_3, T_4$  and  $T_5$ , and defining relations

$T_2T_3$	=	$T_3T_2$	(1)
$T_2T_4T_2$	=	$T_4 T_2 T_4$	(2)
$T_2T_5$	=	$T_5T_2$	(3)
$T_3T_4$	=	$T_4T_3$	(4)
$T_{3}T_{5}T_{3}$	=	$T_5T_3T_5$	(5)
$T_4 T_5 T_4$	=	$T_5T_4T_5$	(6)

It is not hard to see that  $a_1 = T_4^2(a_5)$ . By fact 1.3.3,  $T_1 = T_4^2 T_5 T_4^{-2}$ . This implies that G



Figure 7.5: The positions of  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  in  $N_{\epsilon}$ .

is a subgroup of  $G_1$ . It is precisely the subgroup of  $G_1$  generated by  $T_4^2 T_5 T_4^{-2}$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$ . The restriction of the following homomorphism to G establishes the desired isomorphism

$$\phi: G_1 \to \mathcal{B}_5$$
$$T_2 \mapsto \sigma_1$$
$$T_4 \mapsto \sigma_2$$
$$T_5 \mapsto \sigma_3$$
$$T_3 \mapsto \sigma_4$$

Finally, the following Magma code establishes that G is finitely presented and is isomorphic to a subgroup of infinite index in  $\mathcal{B}_5$ .

```
F<a,b,c,d> := Group<a, b, c, d | a*b*a = b*a*b, a*c = c*a, a*d = d*a,
b*c*b = c*b*c, b*d = d*b, c*d*c = d*c*d >;
G<A,B,C> := sub<F | a, d, b^2*c*b^-2 >;
Index(F, sub<F | a, d, b^2*c*b^-2 >: CosetLimit:=10^8,Hard:=true,
Mendelsohn:=true);
G;
```

O Finitely presented group G on 3 generators Generators as words in group F



Figure 7.6: The curves  $a_2, a_3, a_4$ , and  $a_5$  form a chain in  $N_{\epsilon}$ .

A = a B = d $C = b^{2} * c * b^{-2}$ 

In the above code, a, b, c, and d represent  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3$ , and  $\sigma_4$  respectively. As shown in the output, G is a finitely presented group. Moreover, the number 0 in the output means  $[F:G] = \infty$ .

We remark that the reason for omitting  $S = S_{2,0}$  in proposition 7.8.1 is because  $i_*$ :  $Mod(S_{2,1}) \rightarrow Mod(S_{2,0})$  is not injective. Consequently, the restriction of  $i_*$  to the subgroup G of  $Mod(S_{2,1})$  might not be injective as well. Now, although  $Ker(i_*)$  can be computed, it is relatively complicated. This makes determining  $Ker(i_*|_G)$  (which equals  $Ker(i_*) \cap G$ ) a nontrivial task.

#### **7.8.2** $(2_0, 1, 0)$

Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  satisfy the intersection triple  $(2_0, 1, 0)$  in S, and consider the subsurface  $N_{\epsilon} \subset S$  which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ .  $N_{\epsilon}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,3}$ . To see that, note that  $N_{\epsilon}$  has three boundary components. This can be checked by tracing the boundary in Figure 7.7 (left). Since  $N_{\epsilon}$  deformation retracts to the graph  $\Gamma$  which is  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ . Clearly,  $\Gamma$  has v = 3 vertices and e = 6 edges. Since



Figure 7.7:  $N_{\epsilon}$  is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ , where the  $a_i$  satisfy  $(2_0, 1, 0)$ .

the Euler characteristic is invariant under homotopy equivalence, it follows that

$$\chi(N_{\epsilon}) = 2 - 2g - 3 = 3 - 6 = v - e = \chi(\Gamma)$$

As such,  $N_{\epsilon}$  is homeomorphic to  $S_{1,3}$  (see figure 7.7).

**Proposition 7.8.2.** Suppose that  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  and  $a_3$  satisfy the triple  $(2_0, 1, 0)$  and denote by G the subgroup of  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$  generated by  $T_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3. Consider the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(D_4)$  whose presentation is encoded in the Coxeter graph



Set  $\langle \sigma_5 \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}$ . Then G is isomorphic to the subgroup of  $\mathcal{A}(D_4) \times \mathbb{Z}$  generated by  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_5(\sigma_4\sigma_2\sigma_3)^4$  and  $\sigma_2$ . Moreover, this subgroup is finitely presented and has infinite index in  $\mathcal{A}(D_4) \times \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* Introduce the curves  $a_4$ ,  $a_5$  and  $a_6$  as in figure 7.8. It follows from the chain relation that  $T_2 = T_6^{-1} (T_5 T_3 T_4)^4$ . Denote by  $G_1$  the subgroup of  $Mod(N_\epsilon)$  generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_3$ ,  $T_4$ ,



Figure 7.8: This picture depicts the surface  $N_{\epsilon}$  which is a closed regular neighborhood of  $a_1 \cup a_2 \cup a_3$ .

 $T_5$  and  $T_6$ . By theorem 5.1.2, the subgroup of  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$  generated by  $T_1, T_3, T_4$ , and  $T_5$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(D_4)$ . Since  $T_6$  is central in  $Mod(N_{\epsilon})$ , it follows that  $G_1 \cong \mathcal{A}(D_4) \times \mathbb{Z}$ . Now it is easy to check that the following homomorphism restricted to G is in fact the desired isomorphism

$$\phi: G_1 \to \mathcal{A}(D_4) \times \mathbb{Z}$$
$$T_1 \mapsto \sigma_1$$
$$T_3 \mapsto \sigma_2$$
$$T_4 \mapsto \sigma_3$$
$$T_5 \mapsto \sigma_4$$
$$T_6 \mapsto \sigma_5$$

That G is finitely presented and is isomorphic to an infinite index subgroup of  $\mathcal{A}(D_4) \times \mathbb{Z}$ is revealed in the following Magma code.

F<a,b,c,d,e> := Group<a, b, c, d, e | a\*b\*a = b\*a\*b, a\*c = c\*a, a\*d = d\*a, a\*e = e\*a, b\*c\*b = c\*b\*c, b\*d\*b = d\*b\*d, b\*e = e\*b, c\*d\*c = d\*c\*d, c\*e = e\*c, d\*e = e\*d >;

```
G<A,B,C> := sub<F | a, e^-1*(c*b*d)^4, c >;
Index(F, sub<F | a, e^-1*(c*b*d)^4, c >:
CosetLimit:=2*10^6,Hard:=true,Mendelsohn:=true);
G;
0
Finitely presented group G on 3 generators
Generators as words in group F
A = a
B = e^-1 * c * b * d * c * b * d * c * b * d * c * b * d
C = c
```

In the above code, a, b, c, d, and e represent  $\sigma_i$  for i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 respectively.

**Proposition 7.8.3.** Let  $\hat{N}_{\epsilon}$  be the surface obtained from  $N_{\epsilon}$  (from proposition 7.8.2) by capping off the boundary component parallel to  $a_6$  with a disk. Consider  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$ , and  $a_3$  in  $\hat{N}_{\epsilon}$  and let G be the subgroup of  $Mod(\hat{N}_{\epsilon})$  generated by  $T_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3. Consider the four strand braid group  $\mathcal{B}_4$  whose presentation is encoded in the Coxeter group

$$A_3 = \begin{array}{c} \bullet \\ \sigma_1 \\ \sigma_2 \\ \sigma_3 \end{array}$$

Then G is isomorphic to the subgroup of  $\mathcal{B}_4$  generated by  $\sigma_3$ ,  $(\sigma_1\sigma_2)^6$ , and  $\sigma_2$ . Moreover, this subgroup is finitely presented and has infinite index in  $\mathcal{B}_4$ . Further, consider the Artin group  $\mathcal{A}(B_3)$ , whose presentation is encoded in the Coxeter graph

$$B_3 = \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 4 \\ \gamma_1 \end{array}}_{\gamma_1 \end{array} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \gamma_2 \end{array}}_{\gamma_2 \end{array}} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 4 \\ \gamma_3 \end{array}}_{\gamma_3}$$

Then G is isomorphic to the subgroup of  $\mathcal{A}(B_3)$  generated by  $\gamma_2$ ,  $\gamma_3^2$ , and  $\gamma_1$ . Moreover, this subgroup has infinite index in  $\mathcal{A}(B_3)$ .

Proof. After capping off the boundary parallel to  $a_6$  with a disk,  $a_4$  becomes isotopic to  $a_5$ . It follows from theorem 5.1.2 that the subgroup  $G_1$  of  $Mod(\hat{N}_{\epsilon})$  generated by  $T_1$ ,  $T_3$  and  $T_4$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}_4$ . By the chain relation implies  $T_2 = (T_3T_4)^6$ . As such, G is a subgroup of  $G_1$ . Precisely,  $G \leq G_1$  is generated by  $T_1$ ,  $(T_3T_4)^6$ , and  $T_3$ . The following Magma code shows that G is finitely presented and  $[\mathcal{B}_4:G] = \infty$ .

```
F<a,b,c> := Group<a,b,c | a*b*a = b*a*b, a*c = c*a, b*c*b = c*b*c >;
G<A,B,C> := sub<F | c, (a*b)^6, b >;
Index(F, sub<F | c, (a*b)^6, b >: CosetLimit:=2*10^6,Hard:=true,
Mendelsohn:=true);
G;
```

O Finitely presented group G on 3 generators Generators as words in group F

```
A = cB = (a * b)^{6}C = b
```

Let  $G_2$  be the group generated by  $T_1$ ,  $(T_3T_4)^3$ , and  $T_3$ . Then G is a subgroup of  $G_2$ . The following Magma code reveals that  $G_2$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{A}(B_3)$  and that  $[\mathcal{B}_4 : \mathcal{A}(B_3)] = 8$ .

```
F<a,b,c> := Group<a,b,c | a*b*a = b*a*b, a*c = c*a, b*c*b = c*b*c >;
G<x,y,z> := sub<F | b, (a*b)^3, c >;
Index(F,G);
Rewrite(F,~G);
G;
```

8 Finitely presented group G on 3 generators Index in group F is 8 = 2^3
Generators as words in group F
 x = b
 y = (a \* b)^3
 z = c
Relations
 (x^-1, y) = Id(G)
 z \* x \* z^-1 \* x^-1 \* z^-1 \* x = Id(G)

$$y^{-1} * z * y * z * y * z^{-1} * y^{-1} * z^{-1} = Id(G)$$

In the above code, a, b, and c represent  $T_4, T_3$ , and  $T_1$  respectively. Set  $\gamma_1 = T_3, \gamma_2 = T_1$ , and  $\gamma_3 = (T_4T_3)^3$ . As seen above,  $G_2 \cong \mathcal{A}(B_3)$  and its presentation is encoded in the Coxeter graph

$$B_3 = \begin{array}{c} 4 \\ \gamma_1 \\ \gamma_2 \\ \gamma_3 \end{array}$$

*G* is the subgroup of  $G_2$  generated by  $\gamma_2$ ,  $\gamma_3^2$  and  $\gamma_1$ . The following Magma code shows that  $[\mathcal{A}(B_3):G] = \infty$ .

F<a,b,c> := Group<a,b,c | a\*b\*a = b\*a\*b, a\*c = c\*a, b\*c\*b\*c = c\*b\*c\*b >; G<A,B,C> := sub<F | b, c^2, a >; Index(F, sub<F | b, c^2, a >: CosetLimit:=2\*10^6,Hard:=true, Mendelsohn:=true); G;

O Finitely presented group G on 3 generators Generators as words in group F

A = b

 $B = c^2$ C = a

In the above code, a, b, and c represent  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2$ , and  $\gamma_3$  respectively.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Birman, J. Braids, links and mapping class groups, Annals of Mathematics Studies, 82, Princeton University Press, 1974.
- [2] Birman, J. and Hilden, H. On isotopies of homeomorphisms of Riemann surfaces, Annals of Math., 97, 3, 1973, p. 424-439.
- [3] Bosma, W., Cannon, J., and Playoust, C. The Magma algebra system. I. The user language, J. Symbolic Comput., 24 (1997), 235265.
- [4] Brieskorn, E. and Saito, K. Artin-Gruppen und Coxeter-Gruppen, Invent. Math 17 (1972), 245-271.
- [5] Charney, R. and Peifer, D. The  $K(\pi, 1)$  conjecture for the affine braid groups, Commentari Math. Helv. 78 (2003) 584-600.
- [6] Chow, W.-L. On the Algebraical Braid Group, Ann. Math. 49(3) (1948), 654 658.
- [7] Crisp, J. Injective maps between Artin groups, Geom. Group Theory Down Under (Canberra 1996) 119137.
- [8] Dickinson, D. Subgroups of mapping class groups generated by three dehn twists, http://www.math.uchicago.edu/ may/VIGRE/VIGRE2006/PAPERS/Dickinson.pdf
- [9] Farb, B. Problems on mapping class groups and related topics, Published by AMS Bookstore, 2006
- [10] Farb and Margalit. A Primer on Mapping Class Groups. Available at http://www.math.utah.edu/margalit/primer/
- [11] Hamidi-Tehrani, H. Groups generated by postitive multi-twists and the fake lantern problem, preprint, arXiv:math/0206131v2 [math.GT]
- [12] Harju, T. Graph Theory, http://users.utu.fi/harju/graphtheory/graphtheory.pdf
- [13] Holt, D., Eick, B., and O'Brien, E. Handbook of computational group theory, Chapman & Hall/CRC
- [14] Humphreys, J. Reflection Groups and Coxeter Groups, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.

- [15] Ishida, A. The structure of subgroup of mapping class group generated by two Dehn twists, Proc. Japan Acad. 72 (1996), 240-241.
- [16] Ivanov, N. Mapping class groups, Handbook of geometric topology, Noth-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002, 523-633.
- [17] Johnson, D. L. Homeomorphisms of a surface which act trivially on homology, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 75(1) 1979, 119-125.
- [18] Kassel, C. and Turaev, V. Braid Groups, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 247, Springer, New York, 2008
- [19] Kent IV, R. and Peifer, D. A geometric and algebraic description of annular braid groups, Int. J. Alg. Comp. 12 (2002), 8597.
- [20] Korkmaz, M. Low-dimensional homology groups of mapping class groups: a survey, preprint, arXiv:math/0307111v1 [math.GT]
- [21] Labruere, C. Generalized braid groups and mapping class groups, J. Knot Theory Ramifications 6 (1997), 715 - 726.
- [22] Margalit, D. A Lantern Lemma, preprint, arXiv:math/0206120v2 [math.GT]
- [23] Paris, L. and Rolfsen, D. Geometric subgroups of mapping class groups, preprint, arXiv:math/9906122v1 [math.GT]
- [24] Perron, F. and Vannier, J.P. Groupe de monodromie geometrique de singularite simples, CRAS Paris 315 (1992), 1067-1070.
- [25] Wajnryb, B. Artin groups and geometric monodromy, Inventiones Mathematicae 138 (1999), 563-571.
- [26] Wajnryb, B. Relations in the mapping class group, in Problems on Mapping Class Groups and Related Topics, Volume 74 of Proceedings of symposia in pure mathematics, AMS Bookstore, (2006), 122-128.

# **BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH**

- Ph.D. in Mathematics, Florida State University, 2005 2011
- M.S. in Mathematics, Florida State University, 2005 2007
- B.S. in Mathematics, The University of Arizona, 1999 2003
- Minor in Electrical Engineering, The University of Arizona, 1999 2003